## CROSSLINKED POLYMER GEL SYSTEMS DEVELOPMENT FOR WATER SHUT-OFF JOBS IN HYDROCARBON RESERVOIRS



## THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfilment for the Award of Degree of

# Doctor of Philosophy

by

## REENA

## DEPARTMENT OF BASIC SCIENCES & HUMANITIES RAJIV GANDHI INSTITUTE OF PETROLEUM TECHNOLOGY JAIS, AMETHI – 229304

**Enrolment No.: PC15-001** 

2020



Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology (An Institution of National Importance)

## CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the work contained in the thesis titled "Crosslinked Polymer Gel Systems Development for Water Shut-off Jobs in Hydrocarbon Reservoirs" by REENA has been carried out under my supervision and that this work has not been submitted elsewhere for a degree.

It is further certified that the student has fulfilled all the requirements of Comprehensive, Candidacy and SOTA.

Dr. Abhay Kumar Choubey Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology Jais, Amethi – 229304



Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology (An Institution of National Importance)

## **DECLARATION BY THE CANDIDATE**

I, REENA, certify that the work embodied in this thesis is my own bonafide work and carried out by me under the supervision of Dr. Abhay Kumar Choubey from August 2015 to July 2020 at the Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities, Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology, Jais, Amethi. The matter embodied in this thesis has not been submitted for the award of any other degree. I declare that I have faithfully acknowledged and given credits to the research workers wherever their works have been cited in my work in this thesis. I further declare that I have not wilfully copied any other's work, paragraphs, text, data, results, etc. reported in journals, books, magazines, reports, dissertations, theses, etc. or available at websites and have not included them in this thesis and have not cited as my own work.

Date: Place: REENA



Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology (An Institution of National Importance)

## **CERTIFICATE BY THE SUPERVISOR**

It is certified that the declaration made by the student is correct to the best of my knowledge.

**Dr. Abhay Kumar Choubey** Associate Professor & Supervisor Dr. Amritanshu Shukla Head of Department

#### **COPYRIGHT TRANSFER CERTIFICATE**

Title of the Thesis: Crosslinked Polymer Gel Systems Development for Water Shut-off Jobs in Hydrocarbon Reservoirs

Name of the Student: REENA

#### **COPYRIGHT TRANSFER**

The undersigned hereby assigns to the Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology Jais, Amethi, all rights under copyright that may exist in and for the above thesis submitted for the award of the "*Doctor of Philosophy*".

Date: Place:

## REENA

**Note:** However, the author may reproduce or authorize others to reproduce material extracted verbatim from the thesis or derivative of the thesis for author's personal use provided that the source and the Institute's copyright notice are indicated.



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to my research advisor Dr. Abhay Kumar Choubey, Associate Professor, Department of Basic Sciences & Humanities for his continuous guidance, rigorous supervision and effective suggestions. His experience and idea have proven to be invaluable.

I am highly indebted to Prof. A.S.K. Sinha, Director, Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology for providing me the opportunity to carry out my research in this institute.

I would also like to express my heartfelt thanks to Professor Vikas Mahto, Department of Petroleum Engineering, IIT (ISM, Dhanbad) and Dr. Amit Ranjan, Associate Professor, Department of Chemical Engineering, Rajiv Gandhi Institute of Petroleum Technology for their continuous support and co-operation.

I would also like to thank to my colleagues, Arijit Patra, Vartika Srivastava, Mukarram Mirza, Somendra Singh Chauhan, Praveen Maurya, Shruti Jha, Mrityunjay Jha, Dr. A.K. Bajpeyi, Dr. Tripti Rai, Dr. Shama Perween & Komal Shukla for making my stressful journey smooth and unforgettable one.

Most importantly, my special gratitude goes to my parents, my in-laws, my husband (Saurabh) and my other family members for their love, blessing and encouragement, which made everything easier to achieve. I cannot forget the hard work and sacrifices made by them.

Above all, I thank the Lord Almighty for everything.

REENA

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ackno	wledger	nent i			
List of	<sup>°</sup> Conten	t ii-vi			
List of	Tables.	vii			
List of	Figure	sviii-xi			
Symbo	ls				
Prefac	e				
СНАН	PTER 1	: INTRODUCTION			
1.1	Types	of Water Production			
	1.1.1	Good Water			
	1.1.2	Bad Water5			
	1.1.3	Sweep Water			
1.2	Proble	ms Related to Water Control7			
	1.2.1	Problems Related to Near Wellbore7			
	1.2.2	Reservoir Related Problems			
1.3	Proble	ms Based on Treatment Difficulty14			
1.4	Produced Water Control Techniques15				
	1.4.1	Mechanical Methods15			
	1.4.2	Chemical Methods			
1.5	Factor	s Affecting In-situ Gelation17			
	1.5.1	Effect of Polymer Concentration17			
	1.5.2	Effect of the Crosslinker Concentration17			
	1.5.3	Effect of Temperature on Gelation and Gel Strength18			
	1.5.4	Effect of Salinity			
	1.5.5	Effect of pH on Gel Strength and Gelation Time19			
	1.5.6	Effect of Pressure			
1.6	In-situ	Polymer Gels for Improving Sweep Efficiency and Water Control			
	Treatm	nents21			
1.7	Objectives				

CHA	PTER 2	2: LITERATURE REVIEW	23-47					
2.1	Introd	uction	23					
2.2	Enhan	Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR)						
2.3	Polym	Polymer Gel Technology for Controlling of Excessive Water Production31						
2.4	Classi	fication of In-situ Crosslinked Polymer Gels for Water Shut-off	33					
	2.4.1	Gelation of PAM Polymers (Using Inorganic and C	Organic					
		Crosslinker)	33					
	2.4.2	Other Synthetic Polymeric Gels	37					
	2.4.3	Gelation of Natural Polymers	37					
2.5	Nanot	echnology	37					
2.6	Proper	rties of Nanoparticles						
	2.6.1	Structural Properties						
	2.6.2	Chemical Properties	40					
	2.6.3	Mechanical Properties	40					
2.7	Nanoc	composite Polymeric Hydrogels or Nanohybrids Preparation	41					
2.8	Effect	of Nanoparticles on EOR	42					
	2.8.1	Effect of Nanoparticles on Reservoir Properties	42					
	2.8.2	Effect of Nanoparticles on Viscoelasticity and Rheological Pro	operties					
		of Polymer Gels	43					
2.9	Concl	usions	46					
CHA	PTER 3	<b>3: EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES AND TECHNIQUES</b>	USED					
FOR	CHAR	ACTERIZATION	48-62					
3.1	Introd	luction	48					
3.2	Exper	imental Procedure	53					
	3.2.1	Materials	53					
	3.2.2	Methods of Gel Preparation	53					
3.3	Techn	iques Used for Characterization of Synthesized Gel Systems	59					
	3.3.1	Bulk Gelation Study	59					
	3.3.2	FTIR Measurements	59					
	3.3.3	FESEM Analysis	59					
	3.3.4	UV-Vis and XRD Analysis of Nanoparticles	60					

	3.3.5	Thermogravimetric Analysis60
	3.3.6	DSC Analysis
	3.3.7	Rheological Characterization61
	3.3.8	In-situ Gelation Study61
3.4	Concl	usions62
СНА	PTER 4	: BULK GELATION STUDY 63-77
4.1	Introd	uction
4.2	Exper	imental Procedure64
	4.2.1	Determination of Gelation Time and Gel Strength64
4.3	Resul	ts and Discussion
	4.3.1	Bulk Gelation Study of PVP:RF, PVA:RF and PVP/PVA:RF Gels66
	4.3.2	Bulk Gelation Study of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gel Systems69
	4.3.3	Gelation Time and Gel Strength Measurement of PVA:RF Gel
		Systems75
4.4	Concl	usions76
СНА	PTER	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM
CHA ANA	PTER :	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM
CHA ANA 5.1	PTER LYSIS.	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS. Introd Techn	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2 5.3	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
<b>CHA</b> <b>ANA</b> 5.1 5.2	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
<b>CHA</b> <b>ANA</b> 5.1 5.2	PTER : LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
CHA ANA 5.1 5.2 5.3	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1 5.3.2 Result	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
<ul> <li>CHA</li> <li>ANA</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> </ul>	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1 5.3.2 Result 5.4.1	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
<ul> <li>CHA</li> <li>ANA</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> </ul>	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1 5.3.2 Result 5.4.1 5.4.2	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction
<ul> <li>CHA</li> <li>ANA</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> </ul>	PTER LYSIS Introd Techn 5.2.1 5.2.2 Hydro 5.3.1 5.3.2 Result 5.4.1 5.4.2 5.4.3	5: HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM 78-95 uction

CHAF	PTER 6	: THERMAL AND RHEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS96-114					
6.1	Introdu	uction					
6.2	Metho	hods					
	6.2.1	Thermogravimetric Analysis97					
	6.2.2	DSC Analysis					
	6.2.3	Viscosity and Rheological Properties of the Bulk Gels98					
6.3	Result	s and Discussion					
	6.3.1	Effect of ZnO Nanoparticles on TGA Analysis					
	6.3.2	Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) Analysis					
6.4	Rheolo	ogical and Viscoelastic Measurements of Gels					
	6.4.1	Rheological and Viscoelastic Measurements of PVP:RF,					
		PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gels					
	6.4.2	Effect of ZnO Nanoparticles on Rheological Properties of the Gels					
	6.4.3	Rheological and Viscoelastic Measurements of PVA:RF Gels 108					
6.5	Conclu	113 usions					
CHAI	PTER 7	: SANDPACK/CORE FLOODING STUDY 115-128					
7.1	Introdu	uction					
7.2	Procee	lure					
	7.2.1	Sandpack Flooding Study116					
	7.2.2	Core Flooding Procedure					
	7.2.3	Calculation of the Diameter of the Core and Particles Before and					
		After Gel Treatment					
7.3	Result	and Discussion					
	7.3.1	Gelation Performance Study of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF					
		Gels after Flowing Through Porous Media120					
	7.3.2	Sandpack Flooding Studies					
	7.3.3	Coreflood Studies					
	7.3.4	Particle Diameter Calculation of the Core Using the Ergun Equation					
		Before and After Gel Treatment					
7.4	Conclu	127 Isions					

CHA	CHAPTER 8: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK		
8.1	Summary and Conclusions		
8.2	Future Work		
REF	ERENCES		
LIST	<b>COF PUBLICATIONS</b>	167-169	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	No Title	Page No.
1.1	Disposal cost of produced water	4
4.1	Sydansk gel strength code	65
7.1	Water shut-off capacity of gel systems by sandpack experiments	121
7.2	Sandpack study results for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm)	123
7.3	Berea core data and experimental investigations result of the constudy	e flooding
7.4	Core parameters and fluid properties	126

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	e No. Title	Page No.
1.1	Produced water management in oil and gas reservoirs (Arnold et al.	, 2004)6
1.2	Types of water problems	7
1.3	(a) Casing, tubing and packer leak (b) Flow behind casing	9
1.4	(a) Fissures between injector and producer (b) Water coning in ve horizontal	ertical and
1.5	Flow of water (a) with crossflow and (b) without crossflow	13
1.6	Fractures or faults from a water layer surrounding (a) vertical horizontal well	well (b)
1.7	Flowchart for produced water problems categorized based on their difficulty	treatment
1.8	Classification of different types of gels	16
2.1	EOR/IOR flow chart showing different stages of oil recovery	25
2.2	Schematic diagram of water flooding in the reservoir and cro	ss-section
	shows the movement of oil towards producing well after water floor	ding26
2.3	Primary energy demand by (a) region (b) fuel of global growth energy consumption (Shih et al., 2018)	in global 27
2.4	EOR report based on 1507 projects around the world (Alva Manrique, 2010)	urado and
2.5	Five main reservoir issues	29
2.6	Three-dimensional solid-like structure of crosslinked polymer gel	31
2.7	Schematic of excessive water production problems and its ma mechanism by using gel systems (a) Excessive water production ( control from the injector (c) Water shut-off from the producer (2 2017)	nagement (b) Profile Zhu et al., 
2.8	Schematic of high surface area to volume ratio (Sun et al., 2017c)	

2.9	Effect of Zr(OH) <sub>4</sub> on thermal and rheological properties of gels (Michael et al., 2018)
2.10	Mechanism of polymer and nanoparticle interaction (Liu et al., 2017)45
2.11	Schematic of the experimental procedure including Placket-Burman and central composite design (Salehi et al., 2014)
3.1	Schematic representation of gelation mechanism of gel systems54
3.2	Schematic representation of gel formation of conventional (PVP:RF) and nanocomposite (PVP-ZnO:RF) gels
3.3	Schematic representation of PVA:RF gel formation
4.1	Schematic diagram of the breakthrough vacuum method64
4.2	Free flowing gel to ringing rigid gel (Karimi et al., 2014)65
4.3	Effect of different concentrations of (a) NaCl and (b) CaCl <sub>2</sub> on the PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems
4.4	Gel strengths of the fresh and effluent gel samples
4.5	Effect of polymer concentration on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C70
4.6	Effect of crosslinker concentration on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.
4.7	Effect of NaCl salt on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C72
4.8	Effect of CaCl <sub>2</sub> salt on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C72
4.9	Effect of temperature on gel strength and gelation time74
4.10	Arrhenius type graph of (a) PVP:RF and (b) PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm)75
4.11	Effect of polymer/crosslinker ratio on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C76
5.1	Reaction between resorcinol and formaldehyde (RF)
5.2	Condensation reaction of RF polymer
5.3	Hydrogen bonding and ZnO interaction with PVP:RF81
5.4	Structure of PVP-Zn
5.5	Hydrogen bonding of crosslinking reaction between PVA:RF gel
5.6	UV-Vis spectra of pure ZnO
5.7	XRD spectra of pure ZnO nanoparticles

5.8	FTIR spectra of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF85
5.9	FTIR spectrum of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF87
5.10	FTIR spectrum of PVA:RF with ratios (a) 1:1 (b) 1:0.5 (c) 1:0.25 (d) 1:0.1 
5.11	FESEM micrographs of (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP/PVA:RF and (c) PVA:RF (at 10,000×)
5.12	FESEM images of the fresh and effluent (flowing through porous media) gel samples (a, d) PVP:RF (b, e) PVP/PVA:RF (c, f) PVA:RF90
5.13	EDX spectra of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels respectively, before and after gel flooding (a-c) Fresh gel samples (d-f) Effluent gel samples91
5.14	SEM image of ZnO nanoparticles at x 40,000 and EDX data92
5.15	SEM micrographs of investigated gel systems at x 10,000 (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) (c) PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm)
5.16	FESEM images for different crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel at 30,000 magnifications and 100 nm scale (A) 1:1 (B) 1:0.5 (C) 1:0.25 (D) 1:0.1
6.1	Thermogravimetric analysis of different behavior for PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) and PVP-ZnO:RF with (5000 ppm)
6.2	Water bonding types in gel and representation of free and bound water (Michael et al., 2018)
6.3	DSC thermographs for all gel systems including free water evaporation and degradation peak (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP/PVA:RF (c) PVA:RF102
6.4	Shear thinning behavior graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels
6.5	Frequency dependent storage and loss modulus graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels
6.6	Complex viscosity versus frequency graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels
6.7	Shear thinning behavior of PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm)and PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm)

6.8	Frequency dependent storage and loss modulus graph for different behavior
	for PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) and PVP-ZnO:RF with (5000 ppm)

6.9	Amplitude	dependent	(a)	storage	modulus	(b)	loss	modulus	graph	for
	crosslinker	concentratio	ons o	of PVA:R	F gel at ro	om	tempe	erature		109

- 6.10 Temperature dependent viscosity graph for different crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel from a temperature range 30-80°C ...... 110

- 7.1 Schematic experimental setup for the sandpack or core flooding study ..... 116

## **SYMBOLS**

ATR	:	Attenuated total reflectance
сс	:	Cubic centimetre
cm	:	Centimetre
cm <sup>-1</sup>	:	Reciprocal wavelength
cP	:	Centipoise
CR	:	Controlled rate mode
DSC	:	Differential scanning calorimetry
$D_p$	:	Particle diameter before gel treatment
$\Delta D_p$	:	Particle diameter after gel treatment
Δ	:	Change of a value
EOR	:	Enhanced oil recovery
F <sub>rro</sub>	:	Residual resistance factor for oil
F <sub>rrw</sub>	:	Residual resistance factor for water
FESEM	:	Field emission scanning electron microscopy
FTIR	:	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
gm	:	Gram
g/mm <sup>3</sup>	:	Gram per millimetre cube
G'	:	Elastic modulus
G"	:	Loss modulus
Hz	:	Hertz (cycle per second)
IOR	:	Improved oil recovery
mL	:	Milliliter
mm	:	Millimeter
mm/s	:	Millimeter per second
$M_{\rm w}$	:	Wet weight of the polymer
$M_{d}$	:	Dry weight of the polymer
nm	:	Nanometre
NPs	:	Nanoparticles

OOIP	:	Original oil in place	
$\Delta P_{i}$	:	Pressure before gel treatment	
$\Delta P_{\rm f}$	:	Pressure after gel treatment	
P <sub>b</sub>	:	Bulk densities of core particles	
P <sub>m</sub>	:	Medium densities of core particles	
Pa	:	Pascal	
Pa.s	:	Pascal second	
PAM	:	Polyacrylamide	
PNPs	:	Polymer coated nanoparticles	
PPG	:	Pre-formed particle gels	
PPR	:	Percentage permeability reduction	
PSPMGs	:	pH-sensitive polymer microgels	
PAtBA	:	Polyacrylamide or polyacrylamide tert-butyl acrylate	
PV	:	Pore Volume	
PVA	:	Polyvinyl alcohol	
PVP	:	Polyvinylpyrrolidone	
Rad/s	:	Radian per unit second	
RF	:	Resorcinol formaldehyde	
RPM	:	Rotation per minute	
RRF	:	Residual resistance factor	
S	:	Second	
S <sub>oi</sub>	:	Initial oil saturation	
Sor	:	Residual oil saturation	
$\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{wi}}$	:	Initial water saturation	
Temp.	:	Temperature	
TSMGs	:	Temperature sensitive microgels	
TGA	:	Thermogravimetric analysis	
Vs	:	Flow velocity of brine	
$\mathbf{W}_{\mathrm{b}}$	:	Fraction of bound water	
$\mathbf{W}_{\mathrm{f}}$	:	Fraction of free water	

Wt	:	Weight		
w/v	:	Weight per unit volume		
ZnO	:	Zinc oxide		
Φ	:	Particle sphericity		
E	:	Porosity or void space before gel treatment		
$\Delta \epsilon$	:	Porosity or void space after gel treatment		
ω	:	Angular frequency		
μ	:	Viscosity of brine		
%	:	Percentage		
ρ	:	Density of brine		
$\lambda_{wi}$	:	Water mobility ratio before gel treatment		
$\lambda_{ m wa}$	:	Water mobility ratio after gel treatment		

#### PREFACE

Heterogeneity within the oil well causes the flow of injected fluid not to be uniform within the reservoir. It may consequence in very underprivileged sweep efficiency and accordingly, very high water to oil ratio in producing hydrocarbon reservoirs. Several reservoirs have practiced water flooding for extensive times subsequently their premature phases of progress. Due to the long time use of injected fluid, erosion takes place. It also helps in reservoir heterogeneity. Heterogeneity leads to water breakthrough within the producing wells along the high permeable zones or ruptures, then reduces oil production. To overcome excessive water problem and heterogeneity, the chemical methods including injection of gelling systems, preformed particle gels, in-situ gels, foams, etc. have been widely used for water control in hydrocarbon bearing reservoirs globally. In recent decades, excess water control or profile control was proposed to improve the efficiency of unswept zones, which has shown a clear effect on oil recovery. Among chemical methods, application of gels prepared using polymers and crosslinkers have been demonstrated to be a cost-effective technique and usually applied for enhancing oil recovery factor by controlling excessive water in reservoirs. Additionally, enhancement in the polymeric gel properties has been achieved with the use of nanoparticles within the hydrogel network. Presently, nanoparticles have presented favorable and good effects in resolving many issues of the oil and gas industry. Recently, nanotechnology has shown improved consequences in high permeable oil reservoirs for improving oil recovery. There are several nanoparticles (Zr(OH)<sub>4</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub>, SnO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, etc.), which are reported, have been widely used in the enhancement of oil recovery.

In this study, the first step was to identify and select suitable polymer and crosslinker for preparing gel. For the purpose, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) and polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) polymers were used as polymer and resorcinol-formaldehyde (RF) as a crosslinker. Further laboratory synthesized *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract and ZnO containing green nanoparticles were also used in preparing gel. The research was then conducted to determine the effect of various parameters such

as polymer, crosslinker and nanoparticle concentrations, salt, temperature, etc. on PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF, PVA:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel systems and on gelation time, gel strength, storage and loss modulus.

A spectroscopic tool, Infrared spectroscopy (IR) analysis was conducted to confirm the hydrogen bonding of the gel systems. Field emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM) was used for further observations of the microstructure of gels. The thermal stability of gels was checked using thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). To test the effectiveness related to sweep efficiency and water shut-off of gel systems, the sandpack/core flooding experiment was conducted at a high temperature of 90°C. This experiment showed a favorable reduction in permeability for all the gel systems. Ergun equation result exhibited that the diameter of core particles was increased by 10% after using polymeric gel systems.

#### Objective

The main objectives of this research work are:

- Identification of suitable polymers, crosslinkers and nanoparticles for preparing gels.
- Development of some blend, conventional and nanocomposite hydrogels using different polymers, nanoparticles and crosslinkers.
- FESEM and FTIR analysis of these newly developed gel systems to confirm new bond formations and morphological properties.
- Study of the thermal and rheological properties using TGA, DSC and rheometer.
- Study of the effect of the different polymer, crosslinker, salt's concentration and temperature.
- Study the variation in rheological properties of developed conventional and nanocomposite hydrogels.
- To test the effectiveness of the developed gel systems to minimize excessive water production in hydrocarbon reservoirs.

#### **Thesis Overview**

In this research work, conventional and nanocomposite both types of gel systems were prepared. Polymeric gels, blend gels and nanocomposite gels were prepared using polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and resorcinol formaldehyde (RF). PVA and PVP were used as polymer, however, RF as a crosslinker. The pH of the gel systems was adjusted approximately 9 to increase the gelation time.

To overcome the confines of conventional gels (polymeric and blend gels), nanocomposite gels were prepared. These developed gel systems were thoroughly evaluated by various techniques.

The thesis consists of eight chapters, which are as follows:

#### Chapter 1

The first chapter of the thesis is a general introduction. In this chapter, different types of water production within the reservoirs have been discussed. Problems related to excess water and their treatment difficulty are also mentioned. Techniques, different types of polymers and crosslinkers used for water shut-off treatments and their factors affecting are described. In the end, the highlights of the chapter are concluded.

#### Chapter 2

In chapter two, a literature review of various gel systems used for excessive water control has been given. A literature review of enhanced oil recovery (EOR) is also described. Different gel polymer technologies including nanotechnology used by the hydrocarbon industry worldwide are also given. An insight into the preparation of gel systems for the water shut-off job is described here. The outlines and objectives of the present research work are also included in this chapter.

#### Chapter 3

This chapter of the thesis consists of the synthesis and characterization of the conventional and nanocomposite hydrogels to enhance oil recovery factor from hydrocarbon reservoirs. Synthesized gels were further characterized by using various analytical techniques like UV-Vis, XRD, FESEM, FTIR, etc. Different technologies used to characterize the developed gel system are also explained in this chapter.

#### Chapter 4

This chapter deals with bulk gelation study of prepared gels. Gelant solutions of different concentrations were prepared and placed in scintillation vials. After that, scintillation vails were placed in the preheated oven at various desired temperatures. The gelation time was recorded by visual observation of vials and viscosity determination of the gelants at certain time intervals. Gel strength was measured using a breakthrough vacuum method. The main objective of the bulk study was to investigate the effect of polymer, crosslinker concentration, temperature, pH and salinity on gel strength and gelation time. These are included in the present chapter.

#### Chapter 5

Reaction mechanism, ultraviolet-visible (UV-Vis), x-ray diffraction (XRD), FTIR spectra of developed gel systems are discussed in this chapter. Morphological (FESEM) study along with energy-dispersive x-ray spectroscopy (EDS) of these gel systems has also been described and included in the chapter.

#### Chapter 6

In this chapter, the thermal and rheological study of conventional and nanocomposite gels has been given. Thermal and rheological properties of developed gels change when polymer or crosslinker or nanoparticle concentration varies. Conclusions obtained from these studies are well explained in this chapter.

#### Chapter 7

Core/sandpack flooding and Ergun equation results are discussed in this chapter. The objective of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of polymeric gel systems in the sandpack/core. Pre and post gelation permeability was determined. The residual resistance factor (RRF) and percentage permeability reduction (PPR) was calculated to determine the reduction in permeability. Change in particle diameter was measured using the Ergun equation.

#### Chapter 8

This chapter mainly consists of the summary and conclusions of the thesis work based on the thorough studies of the gels.

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

## CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Increasing demand for fuel and other petroleum products has forced the petroleum industry to exploit the newer as well as existing petroleum wells as much as possible. A newly discovered oil well has a natural drive to push the crude oil from deep down the surface to the top of the well which is termed as primary recovery. After this, an external drive is required to recover the oil from well exhausted of natural drive generally achieved with the help of pumps, which is called the secondary recovery of oil. After a certain stage (40-50% recovery of oil) producing the oil from a well with the help of pumps becomes uneconomical due to high pumping costs and other factors that make it highly difficult for pumps to recover the oil. Then, we need some chemical or physical treatment of the well, which results in the further economical production of oil that is termed as the tertiary or enhanced oil recovery (EOR).

The traditional primary recovery method can recover one-third of the original oil in place (OOIP); this method depends on the hydrocarbon and reservoir drive. Secondary recovery is generally water flooding, it recuperates 20-50% of the original oil in place (Gbadamosi et al., 2019). EOR is generally suggested after the secondary recovery. As a significance, EOR methods have grown attention from the research and development phases to the oilfield implementation stage. This interest has been also expanded by current high oil prices, maturation of oilfield and uncertainty about the future oil supply (Difiglio, 2014). EOR processes are generally applied in the case of heavy viscous oils and oilfields with no primary and secondary

productivity (Du et al., 2013). The efficiency of the EOR methods greatly depends on the reservoir characteristics and the nature of the displacing and displaced fluid (Pal et al., 2018). These reservoir characteristics include petrophysical properties like capillary pressure, relative permeability, wettability of the rock and degree of reservoir heterogeneity, etc. (Falode and Manuel, 2014; Habibi et al., 2019). In order to reduce the negative effect of some of these reservoir properties like relative permeability, surface and interfacial tension of the reservoir fluids, some new polymer flooding methods are available to reduce water production (Alfazazi et al., 2019; Mishra et al., 2014). These polymers reacted with the porous media of the reservoir and formed thick adsorbed layers to minimizing water production and maximizing oil production (Aramideh et al., 2019).

Oil production was introduced in the year 1950 as a major industrial activity worldwide, which is one of the most essential energy resources until now. During oil production, it was observed that after secondary recovery, oil production reduces and excess water production increases, which leads to corrosion, high disposal costs, negative environmental effects, etc. (Bailey et al., 2000; Yortsos et al., 1999; Holanda et al., 2018). Excess water production is a major problem in the oil industry. Produced water is a serious concern in maturing oil reservoirs that leads to some additional reservoir issues such as scale formation, emulsion bacteria and corrosion problems, which may arise because of the high water cut. Globally, the oil industries spend billions of US dollars every year to address the problem of excess water production (El-Karsani et al., 2015). Problems generated from excess water production can be categorized into two main categories: The first category (production of excessive water in production wells) is produced by the flow of fluid from a high permeable zone because of the heterogeneity of the reservoir. It leads to minimum oil production due to viscous fingering in the reservoir. The second category (leakage of water) mainly is because of casing leaks, water channeling behind pipes and water coning through the matrix. These all are the main reasons for the production of excess water (Hatzignatiou et al., 2016; Mohamed et al., 2018).

Due to excess water production, a lot of oil stays in the low permeable zones, because excess water flows from high permeable zones. Produced excess water not only hinders oil recovery but also significantly reduces the profitability of production (Chen et al., 2015; Seright et al., 2003; Sydansk and Seright, 2006). Water production along with oil production is one of the major concerns of the oil industries. Excess water reduces well productivity of the industries (Johnston et al., 2019). Excess water production has a negative impact on oil recovery, it consists of loss of profits as oil production decreases. Handling cost and other expenses related to treatment and disposal of excess water are very high (Kumar and Mandal, 2017). It is expected that an average of three barrels of water is produced to each barrel of oil during oil production, worldwide (with the ratio at 7:1 in United states and 55.5:1 in the North Sea) (Bailey et al., 2000; Halliburton report, 2013; Mohammadi, 2018). The total cost of treatment, disposal and separation of excess produced water has been estimated to be about 50 billion dollars annually in the oil industry (Halliburton report, 2013).

There are various thermal and non-thermal techniques which are used to reduce excess water production. These methods not only shut-off or slow down water production, but also considerably increases oil production and extend the life of the reservoir (Hill et al., 2012). It is estimated that about 210 million barrels of water are produced daily supplemented with 75 million barrels of oil production worldwide (Mohammadi, 2018).

Jackson and Myers, (2003) estimated the average cost of disposal methods for the produced water as presented in **Table 1.1** given below.

Sl. No.	Method	Estimated cost (dollar/billion)
1	Surface discharge	0.01-0.80
2	Secondary recovery	0.05-1.25
3	Shallow re-injection	0.10-1.33
4	Evaporation pits	0.01-0.80
5	Commercial water hauling	0.01-5.50
6	Disposal wells	0.05-2.65
7	Freeze thaw evaporation (FTE)	2.65-5.00
8	Evaporation pits + flowlines	1.00-1.75
9	Constructed wetland	0.001-2.00
10	Electro-dialysis	0.02-0.64
11	Induced air flotation for de-oiling	0.05
12	Anoxic/Aerobic granular activated carbon	0.083

Table 1.1 Disposal cost of produced water

#### **1.1** Types of Water Production

Produced excess water during oil recovery is responsible for the early maturation of the reservoirs. Produced water can be divided into following three different categories as good, bad and sweep water (Bailey et al., 2000):

#### 1.1.1 Good Water

Good water production takes place normally due to altering flow lines from the injector to the producer well. Water breakthrough occurs into high permeable zones, while oil is still being swept into many other low permeable zones. This produced water is extracted along with oil and gas production most of which is inoculated underground, either to enhance oil recovery or easily disposable (Al-Muntasheri et al., 2007; Nasiri et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2006).

#### 1.1.2 Bad Water

Bad water is the excess water produced from the wellbore during petroleum production. This water is responsible for the reduction in oil production. The cost of disposal of bad water is also very high. This bad water can cause corrosion, casing, packer leaks or tubing. Bad water is also the reason for channeling behind the casing. This produced bad water is much more than the economic limit of water to oil ratio and its management is also not easy. Worldwide, the disposal cost of this bad water is 50 billion dollars (Halliburton report, 2013).

#### 1.1.3 Sweep Water

Sweep water comes from either an active aquifer or an injection well. Management of this sweep water is very essential and it affects the major part of the reservoir. All reservoirs either from water flood or natural aquifer produce excess water during oil recovery. This co-production of sweep water leads to the early stage maturity of the reservoir (Nriagu et al., 2017).



Figure 1.1 Produced water management in oil and gas reservoirs (Arnold et al., 2004).

Inadequate management of produced water before its discharge is found to be harmful to the environment. Treated water again can be used as displacing fluid. Regulations regarding disposal of this produced water are also getting stricter, disposal options are also very limited. Water management in oil and gas reservoirs is shown in **Figure 1.1** (Arnold et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2017).

Oil productivity from oil wells can be increased by reducing excess water production from the reservoirs. Many chemical and mechanical methods have been developed to control excess water and to minimize the effects, which produce due to excess water. Before using any chemical or mechanical method, the water problem should be diagnosed properly (Alomari et al., 2013; Brice et al., 2014; Bybee, 2011). The techniques to minimize excess water control can be divided into two groups. These are excess water control and disposal techniques. It is well-known that produced water contains many serious contaminants. This water also contains some natural bodies such as microorganisms, these can have a negative impact on the environment. In many developing countries, contaminated water is a severe cause of thousands of deaths per day due to the toxification of consumable water and unfiltered sewage. Without any proper treatment, this produced water is discharged into sewage. Therefore, it is necessary that disposal techniques have to put on the standard strategies to minimize negative environmental impacts. But the disposal of produced water, according to standard guidelines, increases the discharging cost from 30-40 billion dollars globally (Ariaratnam et al., 2015).

#### **1.2** Problems Related to Water Control

Water control problems can be classified into one of two major categories:



Figure 1.2 Types of water problems.

#### 1.2.1 Problems Related to Near Wellbore

Mechanical and chemical are two main near wellbore problems. The production of oil and gas from an oil well involves chemical and mechanical methods, which have a negative impact on the wellbore. Many of these methods can eventually cause a problem with the well, resulting in either the failure of equipment or a decrease in oil production. Mechanical problems are due to casing (hole in the wellbore due to corrosion, perversion of formation or high pressure), poor mechanical integrity of the packers. Wellbore leakage occurs in production wells through the cement porosity or the cracks in the cement (Al-Ghanim and Al-Nufaili, 2010; Sun et al., 2019). Problems related to near wellbore have been listed below.

#### **1.2.1.1** Problems Related to Casing Leaks

A large diameter pipe is called casing. It is inserted and assembled into the newly drilled wellbore. Deep down in the wellbore, there is no cement to the surface. Due to casing leakage, there is an unexpected increase in produced water as demonstrated in **Figure 1.3a**. These leaks can be classified into two categories: The first one is casing leak with flow restriction and the second one is casing leak without flow restriction. Gel technology may be an effective solution for the treatment of casing leak with flow restriction (Seright et al., 2001).

#### **1.2.1.2 Problems Related to Flow behind the Pipe**

Same as casing leakage, also in this problem (flow behind the pipe) two situations contribute. These are flow behind the pipe with restriction and flow behind the pipe without restriction as shown in **Figure 1.3b**. During drilling, a lack of primary cement behind a casing generates a huge aperture, thus producing a highly permeable flow channel (Al-Dossary et al., 2017).



Figure 1.3 (a) Casing, tubing and packer leak (b) Flow behind casing.

Cement shrinkage during the oil well completion is the main reason for the flow behind the pipe with flow restriction. Flow behind the pipe without flow restriction can also be treated using cement. The flow channel is approximately greater than 1/16 inch (Seright et al., 2001).

#### **1.2.1.3 Barrier Breakdowns or Fractures**

A fracture can be formed near wellbore either by using acids to dissolve channels or by fracture breaking through a water resistant layer. Water migrates towards wellbore due to the pressure difference across the impermeable layer. Sometimes, this type of issue in the wellbore can be correlated to the stimulation process (Reynolds and Kiker, 2003).

#### 1.2.1.4 Channels behind the Casing

Bad connection between cement and the casing is the main reason for the water channels behind the casing. Cyclic stresses, post-stimulation methods and a bad cementing job may also be responsible for the channels behind the casing. Channeling occurs, when cement is in the annulus but does not completely surround or bonded to the casing. In this condition, there is not a proper blockage for fluid. It leads to a flow of oil, water and gas outside the casing (Jaripatke and Dalrymple, 2010). Space created by the sand may be another cause for the channeling behind the casing. This type of wellbore problem can be treated by using gel or high strength squeeze cement in the casing holes (Bailey et al., 2000).

#### **1.2.1.5 Inappropriate Completion**

Well completion is the process in which well (both injection and production) is prepared for production after drilling operations. If well completion is not done by an appropriate method, it can immediately lead to the production of unwanted water. Inappropriate completion of wells may result in coning and cresting at the early stage (Bailey et al., 2000).

#### 1.2.1.6 Scale, Debris and Bacterial Deposits

Scale, debris and bacterial deposits can block or modify the flow of injected water to undesired zone (Jaripatke and Dalrymple, 2010).

#### 1.2.2 Reservoir Related Problems

During oil production from the oilfields, the production of water is an expectable outcome. Control of produced water at the early stage of production is not possible. After secondary recovery, many thermal and non-thermal methods are used to control excess water production (Bailey et al., 2000). Six reservoir related problems have been listed below.

#### **1.2.2.1** Fissures between the Injection and Production Wells

When water or gas is injected into injection wells to maintain reservoir pressure, it breaks through one or more production wells, which is called water or gas breakthrough. It can cause excessive water production through production wells thus lowering the production of oil. Fissures present between injection and production wells are the main reason for early stage water breakthrough. It is demonstrated in **Figure 1.4a** (Bailey et al., 2000). Gel treatments are the best methods to treat these fissures because gelants can be easily penetrated into these fissure zones (Bailey et al., 2000).

#### 1.2.2.2 Coning and Cresting

Coning is a production well related problem that occurs when gas from cap gas or bottom water penetrates in the perforation zone of near wellbore. Water coning should not be mixed up with excess water production because excess water production is referred to as higher water to oil ratio. Vertical and horizontal wells show different types of shapes of coning, as shown in **Figure 1.4b**.



Figure 1.4 (a) Fissures between injector and producer (b) Water coning in vertical and horizontal.

The coning interface shape is like crest in the horizontal well. The horizontal wellbore produces a smaller amount of excess water in comparison to a vertical wellbore. The oil recovery will greatly be affected after coning into the production interval, which will also lead to a dramatic rise in the water and gas production rate (Bailey et al., 2000).
### **1.2.2.3 Channeling through High Permeability Zones**

A high permeable zone provides a path to injected water for easy flow towards the production well, that condition is called breakthrough. The low permeable channel will be bypassed by the injected fluid and it flows through the high permeable zones in between injected and production well. This activity leads to poor sweep efficiency and high water to oil ratio. The main reason for channeling in high permeable zones is reservoir heterogeneity (Bailey et al., 2000).

### 1.2.2.4 Fingering

In the oil reservoir, viscous fingering is the unstable movement of the injected fluid by the displaced fluid. This fingering of water into reserved oil can greatly influence the flow of water in high permeable zones and can lead to poor sweep efficiency during the recovery of oil. Sometimes fingering also occurs in the absence of a porous medium (Kargozarfard et al., 2019).

### 1.2.2.5 Watered-out Layer with and without Crossflow

Watered-out with and without crossflow is exposed in **Figures 1.5a and 1.5b.** During oil recovery in the multi-layered reservoirs, a different pressure gradient is produced through the surface of each permeable layer. This pressure gradient generates driving forces in the wellbore during well shut-in that leads to movement of displacing fluid from high to low pressure permeable layer. This phenomenon is known as crossflow. Crossflow behavior depends upon the initial pressure in the permeable layers or it may be addressed as natural crossflow. Crossflow may result in formation damage, filter cake build-up, permeability

reduction in low permeable zones and induction of sand liquefaction and production in high permeable zones (Jalali et al., 2016).



Figure 1.5 Flow of water (a) with crossflow and (b) without crossflow.

The water-out layer without crossflow is also a common problem. This type of problem is easily associated with multilayer production in a high permeability zone with impermeable barriers isolation. This problem is easy to treat; either a rigid shut-off fluid or a mechanical method can be applied in either injection wells or producing wells (Bailey et al., 2000; Bybee, 2009).

### 1.2.2.6 Fracture Zones

Fractures are the main reason for reservoir heterogeneity. These zones can extend over hundreds of meters to many kilometres and vary in width from just a few fractures close to each other up to many tens of meters. Fractures are of two types, which are natural and hydraulic fractures. It is shown in **Figures 1.6a and b.** 

Formation damage of a fractured reservoir due to drilling and completion fluid enters the fracture. Drilling and completion fluid can easily enter fractures in comparison to the pores of the matrix. Gel technology may be a successful tool for treating these reservoir problems (Bailey et al., 2000).



Figure 1.6 Fractures or faults from a water layer surrounding (a) vertical well (b) horizontal well.

### 1.3 Problems Based on Treatment Difficulty

Oil and gas production are growing and the demand for those fuels is increasing day by day. According to the water online report, oil production will increase to 100 million barrels per day by 2035 worldwide (Water online report, 2014). Different types of produced water are shown in the flowchart (**Figure 1.7**).



Figure 1.7 Flowchart for produced water problems categorized based on their treatment difficulty.

### **1.4 Produced Water Control Techniques**

There are several methods to control the excess water production problems associated with EOR methods (Kabir, 2001; Sun and Bai 2017a; Taha and Amani, 2019). This produced water is responsible for the early stage maturation of the oilfields. Mechanical and chemical methods are widely used for controlling excess water in the oil and gas industries.

### **1.4.1 Mechanical Methods**

Mechanical methods are generally used to control coning produced water using downhole separation and disposal, drawdown reduction and coproduction. The most commonly used mechanical methods are (i) straddle packers (ii) tubing patches (iii) bridge plugs (iv) sand plugs (v) expandable tubular and (vi) cementing. These methods are least used nowadays because of their expensive nature.

### 1.4.2 Chemical Methods

Presently, chemical methods are the best alternatives (Kabir, 2001). The use of polymer gels for water shut-off purpose is one of the best methods come under chemical methods. These gels are used for controlling excess water during oil recovery (Kabir, 2001; Taha and Amani, 2019). These gels can be injected into oil well using the rig, making these systems more suitable for the operation and these chemical methods are less expensive (Hayatullah et al., 2015; Soliman et al., 2000). When gel solutions are injected, they penetrate deep down in the reservoir. After allowing gel solutions sufficient time to stay in the reservoir, they form a threedimensional structure there. Present research is based on polymer and nanocomposite gels. Polyvinyl alcohol and polyvinylpyrrolidone polymers have been chosen for making gels due to their cost- effective nature and very low viscosity.

Polymer gels are water soluble polymers crosslinked with organic and inorganic crosslinkers. Gel systems have attracted wide attention due to their effectiveness in porous media. These are very helpful in blocking high permeable zones and diverting injected water into low permeable zones (Alghazal and Ertekin, 2018; Zhu et al., 2017). Three types of gels are used for water shut-off and enhancing oil recovering factor purposes. These gels are in-situ gels, preformed gels and foamed gels. The present work is on using in-situ gels. Different types of gels are summarized in the flow chart given below (**Figure 1.8**).



Figure 1.8 Classification of different types of gels.

### **1.5 Factors Affecting In-situ Gelation**

The process of forming gel from a gelling mixture in the porous media is called in-situ gelation. It is known that numerous variables contribute to influencing gels characteristics such as viscosity, gel time and gel strength. Other variables, which also affect gelation kinetics much include reservoir temperature, initial pH, the concentration of polymer and crosslinkers, salinity of the fluid, etc. (Al-Hajri et al., 2019; Baojun et al., 2004).

#### **1.5.1 Effect of Polymer Concentration**

Polymer concentration is an important factor in preparing gel. Polymer solution should be of low concentration because highly concentrated polymer solution cannot be easily injected in the oil well. Polymer properties such as viscosity, moisture content, etc. are important to measure during the preparation of the polymer solution. Gel strength of a gel system can be measured using the bottle testing method because it is a cheap and fast method. Free flowing to ringing rigid gel can be coded as A to J according to strength. Code A is for free-flowing gel and J for ringing rigid gel or alternatively, it can be described as an increase in strength of the gel is observed from A to J gels (Sydansk, 1990). From many studies, it has been concluded that increasing polymer concentration, gel strength increases and gelation time decreases (Al-Hajri et al., 2019; Baojun et al., 2004).

### 1.5.2 Effect of the Crosslinker Concentration

Crosslinker concentration also affects the gel strength. Crosslinker causes the bonding between polymer and crosslinker. Inorganic and organic both types of crosslinkers are used for crosslinking in gels. Inorganic crosslinker forms ionic bond while organic crosslinker forms a covalent bond. From many studies, it has been concluded that increasing crosslinker concentration gel strength increases and gelation time decreases (Mashhoor et al., 2011; Sengupta et al., 2012; Yadav and Mahto, 2014). On using a very high crosslinker concentration, polymer chains are assembled at a place that leads to gel shrinkage and syneresis occurs in the gel system (He et al., 2015; Xiong et al., 2018).

### **1.5.3** Effect of Temperature on Gelation and Gel Strength

Temperature is also a very important factor to consider during gel preparation. The temperature has a significant impact on the oil recovery. Gelation time is known as a function of polymer and crosslinker. On increasing temperature, gelation time decreases and gel strength increases. Increasing temperature, mobility of polymer chains increases, and the formation of new bonds takes place very easily, which leads to high gel strength of the gel. The gelation time is correlated to the temperature according to the Arrhenius equation:

$$K = K_0 e^{\frac{-E_a}{RT}} \qquad \dots \dots (i)$$

Where, k is the reaction rate constant,  $K_0$ , frequency factor,  $E_a$ , energy of activation (KJ/mol), R, the gas constant (KJ/mol.K) and T, the absolute temperature (K).

Equation (ii) given below is modified by introducing the gelation time (GT) instead of the reaction rate constant K and M as the frequency factor.

$$GT = Me^{\frac{E_a}{RT}} \qquad \dots \dots (ii)$$

Where, GT is gelation time (h) and M, the rate constant (h).

Equation (iii) can be altered as follows:

$$\ln GT = \frac{E_a}{RT} + \ln M \qquad \dots \dots (iii)$$

As we can see from equation (iii), there is a linear relationship between ln GT and the inverse of temperature (1/T) (Singh and Mahto, 2018a). According to the above equation, on increasing temperature, gelation time decreases (Liu et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2015).

#### **1.5.4 Effect of Salinity**

Salinity is one of the main influencing factors, which highly affects the gelation time and gel strength. Gels prepared in deionized water or distilled water show good gel strength. Mono and divalent ions are generally used to check the salinity effect on gels. On increasing concentration of mono and divalent ions, these are assembled around the functional groups of polymers, which cause the shrinkage of the polymer chains. It hinders the bond formation between polymer and crosslinker (Zhao et al., 2015; Llamedo et al., 2005). The high concentration of salt leads to a decrease in gel strength and increases gelation time.

The presence of calcium and magnesium ions has a more negative effect on gel strength than sodium and calcium. These are divalent ions, when these are assembled around polymer functional groups, due to the large size of ion crosslinking rate becomes very low as a result gel strength lowers much more than monovalent ions. (Jia et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2017).

#### **1.5.5** Effect of pH on Gel Strength and Gelation Time

Gu and co-workers have done a comprehensive study of the pH effect on gel strength and gel stability (Gu et al., 2015). During this study, it was observed that at

pH 4, viscosity of the system has no significant difference with the pure polymer solution when the crosslinker solution is not added. The main reason for low viscosity of gelling solution at lower pH may be due to the excess of hydrogen ions in the gelling solution. Since the more hydrogen ions are present in the gelling solution, hydrogen ion dissociating from the carboxylic group of the polymer is curbed. At lower pH value, the carboxyl group is protonated. It leads to less interaction of polymer chains with the crosslinker (Patzek, 1996).

It was observed that a favorable reaction may occur in the pH range of 8-9 because at high pH, carboxyl groups are deprotonated. The deprotonated carboxyl group (COO<sup>-</sup>) leads to more interaction with the crosslinker. Higher pH of the gelling solution gives more interactions between polymer and crosslinker. Therefore, when pH is alkaline, the viscosity of the gelling solution is higher than the viscosity of this solution under acidic conditions. pH also affects the speed of gelation (Xiaofen et al., 2009). So, there are lots of amide and carboxylic acid groups to react with the crosslinker. Many other researchers also studied the effect of pH on gel stability (Karimi et al., 2014; Mohammad et al., 2007; Sengupta et al., 2012; Singh and Mahto, 2018b).

### **1.5.6 Effect of Pressure**

Pressure does not have a substantial influence on the gelation kinetic (gelation time and gel strength). Sydansk has reported that the gelation rate is a weak function of pressure and increases slightly with pressure (Sydansk, 1987). Mohammad and co-workers studied the effect of pressure on the gelation kinetic and observed that gelation time was around 5 hours for all samples. It was noted that the final viscosity is unaffected to pressure. When the pressure was increased by a factor

of 10, the final viscosity was increased by a factor of only 1.25 (Mohammad et al., 2007).

### 1.6 In-situ Polymer Gels for Improving Sweep Efficiency and Water Control Treatments

As mentioned above, crosslinked polymers systems are used in reservoirs to increase volumetric sweep efficiency both for mobility control and in-depth conformance control. Employment of water soluble polymers for improving recovery of oil with the main functionality of expanding the viscosity of the displacing liquid, water was first recommended more than fifty years ago. After that, this work was further directed then trailed to recognize the profits using non-Newtonian displacing fluids in oil recovery applications (Zallaghi et al., 2018; Zeinijahromi et al., 2015). These gels are used for controlling water coming out from hydrocarbon reservoirs during production (Wei et al., 2014). The mechanism behind the enhancement of oil recovery using monomer or polymer gels is based on decreasing the mobility difference between displacing (water) and displaced (oil) fluids. Several gel systems have been developed using different polymers but a known synthetic polymer is polyacrylamide which played a vital role in making gel solutions and further gels for hydrocarbons industries, which comprise of a carboncarbon backbone hung with amide groups, possibly tens of thousands of them to provide molecular weights in millions (Almohsin et al., 2019). This polymer, in its pure state, is electrically neutral, seeming to preclude any crosslinking through ionic bonding. However, when mixed with a little alkaline solution such as sodium hydroxide, when subjected to elevated temperature, some of the amides are converted to carboxylate groups. Two commercially known polymers, hydrolyzed

polyacrylamide (HPAM) and xanthan gum (a polysaccharide) have also been found to be suitable for oilfield applications. As far as the polymer, HPAM is concerned, it is a water-soluble polyelectrolyte having negative charges on the polymer chains. However, xanthan gum is having remarkable thickening capability, good tolerance to saline atmosphere and temperature (Li et al., 2009; Kalyanarama et al., 2015). The flow of polymers through porous media and their importance in the performance differences of mobility control buffers is reported and claimed by Nogueira (Nogueiraet et al., 2013). While working on the application of polymer gel, the mobility of the displacing phase should be equal to or lower than the mobility of the oil phase. This concept has been extended by (Rashidi et al., 2010; Eoff et al., 2007).

### **1.7 Objectives**

The main objective of this research work is to develop polymeric and nanocomposite hydrogels for controlling the excess water production in the hydrocarbon reservoirs. However, the major objectives of the present investigations are:

- Development of polymeric and nanocomposite hydrogels using different polymers, nanoparticles and crosslinkers.
- Study on the variation in rheological properties of developed polymeric and nanocomposite hydrogels.
- Study on effects of temperature, salinity, polymer concentration and crosslinker concentration on the gelation time and gel strength of polymeric and nanocomposite hydrogels.
- The effectiveness of the developed polymeric and nanocomposite hydrogels under reservoir conditions to control excessive water production in hydrocarbon reservoirs.

22

# CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

### CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 Introduction

A thorough literature review of the development of polymer gel systems for water shut-off and enhancement of oil recovery in high or extremely high temperature reservoirs have been reported. Polymer gel systems considered as water control agents have become the most widely applied water management technology to address excessive water production problems and improve oil recovery of upstream hydrocarbon industries (Seright et al., 2002). Several polymer gel systems have been developed keeping the prevailing reservoir conditions of industries but most of the existing developed polymer gel systems are not able to withstand in high temperature and high salinity reservoirs. Karsani et al., 2014 reported a polymer gel for profile improvement and water shut-off jobs. Some detailed study of field application data and chemistry information on the gel treatment were also described, however, this review was not focused on polymer gel systems used for high temperature reservoirs. Those polymer gel systems that can handle high temperature excess water are reviewed. In production wells, where excessive water problems exist, polymer gel systems can be used to plug offended zones or areas (El-Karsani et al., 2014).

In most cases of EOR processes, the reservoir having less than 80°C temperature can be considered as a high temperature reservoir. If the reservoir temperature is higher than 120°C temperature, it can be regarded as an extremely high temperature reservoir (Bryant et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 2017). This is mainly

23

because conventional polymers such as polyacrylamide and xanthan are easily degraded or precipitated above 80°C (Samuelson and Constien, 1996; Caulfield et al., 2002). When the formation temperature is between 60 and 80°C, polymer gels crosslinked by an inorganic crosslinker viz., chromium and zirconium become limited because of pumping problems caused by the short gelation time (Zao et al., 2013). Polymer gels formulated by organic crosslinkers like phenol/formaldehyde and Polyethyleneamine have been broadly applied in high temperature reservoirs (above 80°C) because of the more thermally stable bonds (through dehydration condensation reactions) between polymer and crosslinker compared with that of the inorganic crosslinking polymer gel systems.

Abdulbaki et al., 2014 claimed various polymer microgel technologies for management of water. Polymer microgels are separated into four different types, which are colloidal dispersion gels (CDGs), preformed particle gels (PPGs), temperature sensitive microgels (TSMGs) and pH-sensitive polymer microgels (PSPMGs). There work is principally concerned with the various characteristics such as laboratory experiments, oilfield applications and advantages and disadvantages of the microgels (Abdulbaki et al., 2014).

The objectives of this review is to give an insight of available polymer gel systems used for high temperature reservoirs from the perspective of chemistry and petroleum engineering and to try to provide directions for future studies of high temperature polymer gel systems for water control.

24

### 2.2 Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR)

All recovery methods are described in this chapter. Thermal methods, nonthermal methods, different gel systems, nanotechnology techniques and criteria for polymeric gel treatment have been discussed and reviewed. Different stages in EOR/IOR are shown in **Figure 2.1**. Primary, secondary and tertiary recovery methods are fundamental stages during petroleum production. Primary recovery is the first stage in which crude oil is produced from the reservoir on the natural rise of oil due to pressure difference between the oil field and deep-down reservoir. Gas cap drive, solution gas drive, natural water drive and gravity drainage techniques come under primary recovery. Only 12-15% oil of OOIP is extracted in primary recovery (Gbadamosiet al., 2019; Patel et al., 2014). **Figure 2.2** shows the different oil recovery stages.



Figure 2.1 EOR/IOR flow chart showing different stages of oil recovery.



Figure 2.2 Schematic diagram of water flooding in the reservoir and cross-section shows the movement of oil towards producing well after water flooding.

During secondary recovery, an external fluid such as gas and water is injected into the oil wells. The main purpose of this recovery is to maintain reservoir pressure and to displace crude oil into the production well. Generally, water is injected towards the production zone to sweep hydrocarbons from the oil well and gas is injected into the gas cap. The pressure maintenance step can be started during primary recovery. This stage also reaches its limit when water or gas (external driving force) is produced in a considerable amount from the production well. Produced water is not economical for oil wells. After primary and secondary recovery, 20- 45% of oil of OOIP is recovered.

Tertiary recovery is the third phase of oil extraction from the reservoir. It is also known as EOR. In tertiary recovery, 30-60% more crude oil can be extracted

from the reservoir compared primary and second recovery (Maroufi et al., 2013; Shih et al., 2018). Energy demand in different regions is shown in **Figure 2.3**.



Figure 2.3 Primary energy demand by (a) region (b) fuel of global growth in global energy consumption (Shih et al., 2018).

The lack of energy demand can be compensated by development of certain new gels as well as improving the recovery methods (Alvarado and Manrique, 2010). EOR is the technique of recovery in which some external materials are used from both injection and production wells. These external fluids increase the viscosity of water and simultaneously reduces the viscosity of oil accordingly (Willhite and Green, 1998). In secondary recovery, water and gas are used to push oil from the reservoir. This method of oil production can leave up to 70-80% crude oil in the reservoir. This remaining oil can only be extracted by using tertiary recovery techniques. EOR strategies are influenced by marketing of oil in the petroleum industry. EOR techniques help in maximizing the oil recovery from reservoirs, extend the life of the reservoir and increasing the recovery factors. Therefore, it can be concluded that EOR proves to be an important technique for the oil industry to maintain oil production. As indicated by the information investigated by the department of energy, the United States still has 649 billion barrels of the total remaining oil in the reservoirs, however, only 22-24 billion barrels is recoverable by ordinary recovery methods. More than 90% of crude oil is still present in the reservoir for extraction (Babadagli, 2020). A report of EOR methods based on 1507 projects around the world is given in **Figure 2.4** (Alvarado and Manrique, 2010).

EOR techniques are categorized into two parts i.e., thermal and non-thermal techniques. Chemical and gas treatments are non-thermal methods. In non-thermal method, chemicals or gases are injected within the reservoir. After allowing enough time, these external forces interact with oil or excessive water accordingly (Henson et al., 2002; Taber et al., 1997). These methods are used to recover the remaining residual oil from the reservoir. Increment in remaining oil production can be increased by reducing interfacial tension, capillary force, oil viscosity and by increasing external fluid viscosity. By changing the mobility ratio, oil production can be increased. As the mobility ratio decreases oil recovery increases or vice versa. Before using EOR techniques there are five main reservoir issues to consider (Zheng et al., 2011). These issues are high residual oil, high oil viscosity, heterogeneity reservoir, reservoir fracture problems, and oil-wet rock. **Figure 2.5** illustrates five main reservoir issues.



Figure 2.4 EOR report based on 1507 projects around the world (Alvarado and Manrique, 2010).



Figure 2.5 Five main reservoir issues.

When the oil viscosity within the reservoir is higher than the displacing fluid, the fingering of that injected fluid takes place. Heterogeneity in reservoirs is the fundamental reason for less oil production because displacing fluid goes from high permeable zones rather than low permeable zone (Gbadamosi et al., 2019). Fractures in oil reservoirs is also a reason for low oil production. These fractures have naturally occurred in the reservoir. This phenomenon generally occurs in carbonate reservoirs. Oil-wet rock phenomena lead to more residual oil left in the oil wells (Zaeri et al., 2019). After identifying these reservoir problems, different EOR methods are applied (Willhite and Green, 1998).

Polymer flooding, micellar-polymer flooding, alkaline flooding, and gel treatments are the important techniques used for water shut-off jobs. Chemical treatment is the most useful EOR method according to the field database report (Al-Shakry et al., 2018; Das et al., 2017; Pei at al., 2012). In micellar- polymer flooding, an aqueous solution of the micelle is injected into the reservoir to minimize interfacial tension between oil and water. Micelle solution is used along with a polymer solution. This solution has an advantage of increasing both volumetric sweep efficiency and oil displacement (Dang et al., 2014). Alkaline flooding is an enhanced water flood method in which the pH of displacing flood is changed. It changes the mobility ratio and helps in more oil recovery. The pH of displacing water can be changed by adding sodium hydroxide (NaOH) or sodium orthosilicates. In alkaline surfactant flooding, petroleum acids and alkaline chemicals are used to form surfactants. This flooding helps in minimizing interfacial tension between oil/water, and wettability (in term of oil) of rock surfaces (Sadati et al., 2019; Willhite and Green, 1998).

Polymeric gels are used to block high permeable zones in the reservoir and alteration of displacing fluid in low permeable zones. Nowadays, a new type of polymer gels based on bright water and colloidal dispersion is used to effectively control the excess water production. Alkaline surfactant flooding has great prospects for enhancing oil recovery of heavy crude oil due to the synergistic effect between micelles and alkaline solution (Ge et al., 2012; Phukan et al., 2019).

# 2.3 Polymer Gel Technology for Controlling of Excessive Water Production

Hydrogels composed of polymers and crosslinkers are most commonly used in hydrocarbon industries. These are cost-effective and helpful in controlling excessive water production (El-Karsani et al., 2015; Hasankhani et al., 2018).

In polymer gel treatment, the aqueous solution of polymer and crosslinker is used. The solution of these two materials is made and injected into the injection and production wells to form gel. Thereafter, the well is shut-off for a certain time period. After allowing sufficient time, a three-dimensional gel network formation takes place. Subsequently, water is injected into the reservoir to determine permeability, which is an important parameter for water control and EOR. The reaction between polymer and crosslinker is shown in **Figure 2.6**.



Figure 2.6 Three-dimensional solid-like structure of crosslinked polymer gel.

The settled gel within the high permeable region of the reservoir could obstruct the flow of water in blocked or high permeable zones. The blocking of high permeable zones and alteration of displacing fluid in reservoir is shown in **Figure 2.7** (Zhu et al., 2017).



Figure 2.7 Schematic of excessive water production problems and its management mechanism by using gel systems (a) Excessive water production (b) Profile control from the injector (c) Water shut-off from the producer (Zhu et al., 2017).

# 2.4 Classification of In-situ Crosslinked Polymer Gels for Water Shut-off

Gel injection is one of the most important chemical methods for water shutoff operations. Gel treatments not only help in enhancing oil recovery but also decrease the operational costs associated with oil and water separation. Polyacrylamide (PAM) polymer is generally used in preparing gels for water shutoff purposes. Both inorganic and organic types of crosslinkers are used for the crosslinking of polymers (El-Karsani et al., 2015 Hasankhani et al., 2018; Sultan, 2019). Many other synthetic crosslinked polymer gels are also used for the same purpose using Polyacrylonitrile (PAN), polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polyvinyl amine (PAMs), etc. Apart from these, some natural polymers are also used for these purposes (Zhu et al., 2017). Reservoir conditions such as temperature, pressure, salinity and pH play a major role in selecting a suitable gel system for a particular oil well. Other than these parameters, the permeability of the heterogeneous reservoir, formation lithology and the salinity of the formation water also affects the formation of gel within the reservoirs (Al-Muntasheri et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2017). The different crosslinked polymer gel systems, which are employed for the above purpose, are as follows:

### 2.4.1 Gelation of PAM Polymers (Using Inorganic and Organic Crosslinker)

### 2.4.1.1 Inorganically Crosslinked PAM Gels

In 1993, Albonico and Lockhart studied the gelation and rheological properties of the polyacrylamide/Cr (III) gel system and found that the gel system has partial control over the gelation time (Albonico and Lockhart, 1993). As a result,

33

the gel deformation takes place at higher temperatures. Thus, the gel is not stable at high temperatures. Some additives such as glycolate, malonate, salicylate, acetate, lactate, etc. can help to resist these gels at high temperatures (Albonico et al., 1993; Lockhart et al., 1994; Salimi et al., 2014).

As far as the use of environment friendly crosslinker is concerned, aluminum based crosslinkers can be used to reduce the toxicity of chromium based crosslinked gels. The polyacrylamide/aluminum citrate gels are successfully used in the diverting flow of injected fluid. These inorganic gels are used for excessive water management in reservoirs with temperatures above 50°C. In many studies, it has been found that aluminum based crosslinkers are not able to crosslink cationic polymers because aluminum itself is cationic in nature (Amir et al., 2018; Bai et al., 2015; El-Karsani et al., 2014).

### 2.4.1.2 Polyacrylamide/Polyethyleneamine Gels

Polyethyleneimine, which is used as a crosslinker with polyacrylamide, is less toxic than other organic crosslinkers and it is also eco-friendly in nature. These are successfully used in many oilfields globally for the last many years. These gel systems are thermally stable up to a temperature of 135°C in oil reservoirs. Polyacrylamide/polyethyleneimine gels were used up to 130°C and 80°C in carbonate reservoirs and sandstone reservoirs respectively (Al-Muntasheri, 2007 and 2010; Sengupta et al., 2012).

### 2.4.1.3 Polyacrylamide or Polyacrylamide Tert-butyl Acrylate (PAtBA) /Polyethyleneimine Crosslinked Copolymer Gels

Polyacrylamide Polyacrylamide Tert-butyl Acrylate (PAtBA) or /Polyethyleneimine Crosslinked Copolymer gels are widely used to control produced water in the high temperature reservoirs. Polyethyleneimine crosslinker has been used for the crosslinking of PAM or PAtBA polymers. These gels are thermally stable up to 130°C. It was observed that the rate of crosslinking increases with increase in temperature. After the crosslinking reaction, it was found that the storage modulus was higher at low temperatures. Storage and loss modulus are highly affected by polymer concentration in comparison to crosslinker. Storage modulus decreases on increasing salinity (Al-Muntasheri et al., 2009). Al-Muntasheri and coworkers concluded that samples prepared at acidic and alkaline conditions formed stronger gels than gels formed at neutral conditions concentration (Al-Muntasheri et al., 2009).

#### 2.4.1.4 Polyacrylamide/Phenol-Formaldehyde Gels

A conventional organic crosslinked gel is the crosslinking of PAM, PAM derivatives, polyvinyl alcohol and Polyvinylpyrrolidone with phenol-formaldehyde resin. The gelation occurred through condensation reaction and C-N or C-OH bond formation took place. The reaction takes place between the amide group of PAM, alcoholic group of PVA and –OH group of resorcinol and formaldehyde. Gel systems are thermosets based on the crosslinking reaction between resorcinol-formaldehyde resin and polymers (Jia et al., 2011; Yadav and Mahto, 2013). These gels systems are of very low viscosity, which helps in gel placement within the reservoir. Gelation only appears at neutral or basic pH. At low pH, precipitation

formation takes place. Generally, the crosslinking reaction of these gels proceeds in the temperature range between 70-80°C (Albonico et al., 1995; Jia et al., 2016).

### 2.4.1.5 Polyacrylamide/Hydroquinone-Hexamethylenetetramine (HMTA) and Polyethyleneimine Gels

Polyacrylamide/hydroquinone-hexamine gels are used to overcome the toxicity of phenol-formaldehyde resin. Many derivatives of phenol-formaldehyde such as pyrogallol, phenylacetate resorcinol, catechol along formaldehyde derivatives such as hexamethylenetetramine (HMTA), glyoxal, paraformaldehyde, acetaldehyde, etc. have been used (Fang et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2016). In 1997, Dovan and co-workers developed a new type of less toxic crosslinked gels. These gels were applicable in the reservoirs. Required chemicals were mixed with seawater with 2.0 wt% of sodium bicarbonate. Sodium bicarbonate was used to soften water by precipitating the ions present in seawater and to maintain the pH of the reaction mixture (Dowan et al., 1997). Recently in 2017, Zhu et al., and Sun et al., reported the synthesis of an in-situ terpolymer gel system composed of a terpolymer, resorcinol and HMTA. The gelation and thermal properties of this system were thoroughly studied in literature (Sun et al., 2017b; Zhu et al., 2017). Initially, the hydrolysis of HMTA takes place in an acidic medium. Ammonia and Methyldiol are found as the products. Methyldiol is a very unstable product. Due to unitability, it produces formaldehyde as the final product. This produced formaldehyde reacts with resorcinol or hydroquinone and a condensation reaction takes place. Resin formed in this reaction reacts as a crosslinker for polymers.

### 2.4.2 Other Synthetic Polymeric Gels

Polyacrylonitrile, polyvinyl alcohol, polyvinyl amine (PVAm) and acrylamide based terpolymer are also used nowadays for water shut-off treatments (Shu, 1997; Zhu et al., 2017).

#### 2.4.3 Gelation of Natural Polymers

Biopolymers have also been used for water shut-off purpose in high temperature reservoirs. These polymers are very less sensitive towards salinity and also very stable at higher temperatures in comparison to synthetic polymers. These polymers can be used for excess water management because of their temperature resistivity and less sensitivity to salt in comparison to polyacrylamide polymer. However, these natural polymers are more vulnerable to microbial attacks. Chitosan, xanthan gum, starch and guar gum are generally used for these purposes (Alquraishi et al., 2012; Amir et al., 2019; Broseta et al., 2000; Yongqiang et al., 2013). These polymers can also be crosslinked with organic and inorganic crosslinkers. Xanthan gum has been widely used in comparison to other existing natural polymers. Xanthan/chromium gel system has been extensively used for water control and flow diversion of injected fluid. Rheological investigations of this system have exhibited shear-thinning behavior (Broseta et al., 2000; Sydansk, 1990). The reaction mechanism of the system exposed that the carboxylic group of xanthan gum and Cr (III) is bonded by the ionic bond (Zhu et al., 2017).

### 2.5 Nanotechnology

Nanomaterials have been found to be useful in improving polymeric gel properties for different applications. Further improvement in polymer gel properties has been achieved because of the incorporation of nanoparticles within the gel network. In oilfields, polymeric gels are used with metal oxide nanoparticles. These nanoparticles (NPs) enhance gel strength and alters gelation time. The use of nanocomposite gel is one such technology, which is being used to minimize water production from oil reservoirs (Matteo, 2012). The main focus of this part is the use of nanotechnology in EOR to increase oil production. Nanoparticles help in changing the properties of the injected fluid, reduce interfacial tension or oil viscosity, alter the wettability of the porous media. (Alomair et al., 2014; Odedele 2014; Yu et al., 2010).

In carbonate reservoirs, it has been found that more than 60% of crude oil is trapped. The main reason behind this trapped oil is the communication between matrix and reservoir fractures via gravity and capillary forces. It has been seen that the nanoparticles play a promising role due to their capability in altering oil recovery mechanisms and providing a path for trapped oil in the pores within the reservoir (Sun et al., 2017c). Nanotechnology is very helpful in altering specific parameters such as injecting fluid properties and rock properties in order to improve the oil recovery (Negin et al., 2016). Nanoparticles have different properties associated with large particles of the same materials. These nanoparticles have a much greater surface area per unit volume ratio compared to large particles.

Nanotechnology is used when conventional gel systems are unable to produce remaining oil. Various nanoparticles such as Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, MgO, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub> containing nanoparticles are widely used in EOR applications nowadays (Ali et al., 2018; Bayat et al., 2014; Moghaddam et al., 2015). Nanoparticle formation is also possible from surfactant because these surfactants show a high impact on the dispersion, nano-emulsions and non-equilibrium systems. These fluids with nanoparticles are called smart fluids for IOR/EOR. These smart fluids contain a very small fraction of nanoparticles. These nanoparticles enhance fluid properties. (Evdokimov et al., 2006). Prepared nano-fluids should be eco-friendly and companionable with reservoir rock. In literature, it has been observed that these nano-fluids showed highly enhanced properties such as drag reduction, helps in maintaining good gel strength, wettability alteration and anti-corrosive coating (Druetta et al., 2018).

### **2.6 Properties of Nanoparticles**

### 2.6.1 Structural Properties

High surface area per unit volume is one of the important features of nanoparticles. As we know that small particle size of nanoparticles in comparison to large particle size of the same material has more surface area. It is shown in **Figure 2.8**.



Figure 2.8 Schematic of high surface area to volume ratio (Sun et al., 2017c).

This property leads to a change in the interatomic spacing of the material (Esmaeili et al., 2011). The particle size of nanoparticle ranges between 1-100 nm with a surrounding interfacial layer. This interfacial layer is a part of the nanoscale material and it is responsible for affecting all its properties. This layer is formed by

organic, inorganic and ions. These nanoparticles are more stable and useful compared to large particles. Nanoparticles are used in porous media due to more reactivity of these particles owing to their high surface area (Khan et al., 2019; Wynblatt and Ku, 1977).

### 2.6.2 Chemical Properties

At nanoscale, particles behave very differently as compared to large particles. This change in the behavior of small particles is still very tough to understand. The main characteristics of nanoparticles are their shape, size, the inner arrangement of atoms and surface area (Li et al., 2013).

Nanocatalysis is another rapidly growing field. In nanocatalysis, nanoparticles are used as nanocatalyst in both homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis applications. The main aim of catalysis is to control chemical reactions by changing the chemical composition, morphological structure, strength of materials, size and dimensions. These particles help in changing the kinetics of the reaction. Nanoparticles allow the rapid, selective chemical transformation with a good product yield. Recovery of catalysts from the reacting system is an important characteristic of any reaction (Abdollahi and Rouhani, 2012; Li et al., 2013).

### 2.6.3 Mechanical Properties

Nanoparticles provide mechanical properties to materials such as hardness, elastic modulus, interfacial adhesion and friction. Mechanical properties of materials are strongly dependent on the defects present within the materials or the ease of formation. Fewer defects of nanoparticles are responsible for good gel strength of materials (An et al., 2019). Nanomaterials show predominant thermal, mechanical, optical and electrical properties as compared to bulk materials (Guo et al., 2014a). Single-walled carbon nanotubes have shown more mechanical strength than steel due to the presence of these nanoparticles. Nanomaterials are also responsible for changing the behavior of plastic materials. The plasticity of materials can be changed from low to high accordingly by using these small particles. Nanomaterials have properties to undergo deformation without tearing or fracture (Chen et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2014b).

## 2.7 Nanocomposite Polymeric Hydrogels or Nanohybrids Preparation

Nanocomposite polymeric hydrogels or nanohybrids can be prepared by organic and inorganic methods. The organic method may include the use of monomer, polymer, a linear polymer and a polymer network. The inorganic method can be presented as a nanoparticle precursor and nanoparticle structure (Adnan et al., 2018).

Nanoparticles have stronger affinity for polymers as compared to surfactants and therefore, can bind strongly with polymers. These nanoparticles can help in long time absorption of polymer in the reservoir. This absorbed solution reacts with oil and reduces its viscosity. The enhanced properties of the material can be attributed to good interaction between polymer and nanoparticles (Dannert et al., 2019; Hickey et al., 2015; Hood et al., 2014; Suk et al., 2016). The macroscopic properties of nanocomposites are also influenced by the intrinsic properties of polymers (chain length, linear or branched arrangement of chains, the molecular weight of polymer and elasticity, etc.). Nanoparticles intrinsic properties such as shapes, size, surface characteristics, and inner atomic arrangement highly affect the properties of nanohybrids (Baeza et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2016).

From the literature review of the chemical treatment of NPs in EOR, it has been shown that nanotechnology has the potential to minimize excess water problems and increase oil production. NPs are used with polymer gels within reservoirs due to their ability to alter properties of polymer into the well. The dispersion of nanoparticles with different polymers depends on the functionality of polymer and nanoparticles. NPs exhibit exceptional properties due to their small size and large surface area. Polymer gels of chemical EOR method are characterized using rheology, wettability alteration, interfacial tension and core flooding experiments (Lee and Yoo, 2016; Mullar et al., 2017).

Polymer coated nanoparticles (PNPs) are new materials that may be better to use due to their enhanced solubility in polymer solution and stability, good stabilization of emulsion and foams and long-time absorption in porous media. PNPs are being focused by many researchers for enhancing mobility control, change in surface wettability. PNPs suspensions are also newly developed agents to increase the mobility of oil for EOR in low permeable zones of the reservoir (Flejszar and Chmielarz, 2019; Koschevic et al., 2018).

### 2.8 Effect of Nanoparticles on EOR

### 2.8.1 Effect of Nanoparticles on Reservoir Properties

Formation damage is a situation generally produced by wellbore fluids and during several stages of oil production including drilling, well completion, EOR and hydraulic fracturing. During drilling, solid and liquid particles of the mud incline to decrease the volume of pores and effective permeability of the producible formation in the production well. Formation damage can occur near the wellbore or deep into the rock. Formation damage is caused by several reasons including physical plugging of the pore by drilling fluid, alteration in rock wettability, invasion of incompatible fluids, etc. (Agi et al., 2018; Alvarez-Berrios et al., 2018).

Many other parameters such as thermal interaction of rock and fluid, chemical, biological, physical processes are also accountable for formation damage. These above processes may include the formation of damage under stress and fluid shear, permeability damage, skin damage (Mahmoud et al., 2016; Rostami et al., 2019).

### 2.8.2 Effect of Nanoparticles on Viscoelasticity and Rheological Properties of Polymer Gels

In polymer gel solutions, nanoparticles can strongly alter the storage and loss moduli of the gels. Nanoparticles help in enhancing the viscoelastic properties of gels, which ultimately leads to EOR. Influences of nanoparticles on gelation behavior were thoroughly studied by several researchers earlier (El-Hoshoudy et al., 2017; Ghoumrassi-Barr and Aliouche, 2016). Some nanocomposite gels study is described below.

A starch grafted nanocomposite gel was synthesized, which has shown higher thermal and viscoelastic properties as compared to the conventional gel system (Singh and Mahto, 2017). Polymer, crosslinker and additive effects were also thoroughly studied. Sodium montmorillonite (Na-MMT) nanoparticles were used in this study. Storage modulus increases by two times due to these particles. These nanocomposite gels show higher thermal stability even after 90 days and displayed good salt tolerance as compared with the conventional gel. Coreflooding tests also show 29-38% effectiveness in porous media.

Another nanocomposite gel using nano fly ash and acrylamide was synthesized and reported in 2018 (Singh and Mahto, 2018a). Chromium acetate was used as a crosslinker in the system. The hydrogel was synthesized using free radical polymerization. Effect of various parameters like polymer, crosslinker, nano fly ash concentration, temperature, etc. was evaluated using a breakthrough vacuum method. It was reported that nanocomposite gel has good gel strength and gelation time as compared to the conventional gel system.

Michael and co-workers studied the effect of zirconium hydroxide  $(Zr(OH)_4)$  on the PAM/HQ-HMTA gel system (Michael et al., 2018). In their research, they have highlighted the effect of nanoparticles on thermal and rheological properties. The change in thermal and rheological properties due to nanoparticles is shown in **Figure 2.9**.

Recently in 2017, Liu and co-workers investigated the effect of silica nanoparticles (SiO<sub>2</sub>) on the polyacrylamide/hydroquinone-hexamethylenetetramine gel system. The crosslinking reaction is depicted in **Figure 2.10.** They evaluated the effect of SiO<sub>2</sub> on the gelation performance of gel. Finally, they observed that gel time decreases, and gel strength increases in case of nanocomposite gels in comparison to conventional gels (Liu et al., 2017).

Another investigation was conducted for observing the gelation behavior of sulfonated polyacrylamide nanocomposite hydrogel in the year 2014 (Salehi et al.,

44

2014). Plackett-Burman method was used for testing a large number of factors such as polymer concentration, crosslinker concentration, nanoparticle concentration, salinity, temperature, pH, etc. The two experimental procedures for the optimal hydrogel have been shown in **Figure 2.11**.



Figure 2.9 Effect of  $Zr(OH)_4$  on thermal and rheological properties of gels (Michael et al., 2018).



Figure 2.10 Mechanism of polymer and nanoparticle interaction (Liu et al., 2017).



Figure 2.11 Schematic of the experimental procedure including Placket-Burman and central composite design (Salehi et al., 2014).

### 2.9 Conclusions

The following conclusions were drawn from the literature review of polymeric gels:

- The flexibility of gels can be altered by changing the concentration of polymer and crosslinker.
- On using a high concentration of polymer and crosslinker, mechanical strength of gels decreases and rises the possibility of syneresis of gels.
- Both the types of gels i.e., conventional and nanocomposite, have engrossed a high consideration due to their excellent thermal properties, rheological properties and good effectiveness in porous media.
- The gelation time, mechanical properties, thermal properties and in-situ gelation study were the important parameters during the synthesis of these gels.
- Results from the polymer and nanocomposite gels are very promising and they can be successfully used for water shut-off treatments in the hydrocarbon reservoir.

# CHAPTER 3 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES AND TECHNIQUES USED FOR CHARACTERIZATION

## CHAPTER 3 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES AND TECHNIQUES USED FOR CHARACTERIZATION

## 3.1 Introduction

Oil and gas production are typically hindered by the formation water in the hydrocarbon bearing reservoirs. This formation water can enter the production zones through fractures already existing in the reservoirs, which causes problems such as corrosion of the reservoir facilities. This along with reduced oil and gas production ultimately ends up in damage and earlier shut-off the wells. Efforts are being directed to control water and billions of dollars are spent to minimize produced water because of environmental problems and provisions of environmental regulations. An approach to save on treatment costs of this produced water is to apply water shut-off treatments (Al-Muntasheri et al., 2007; Sharifpour et al., 2015). At the present time, produced water management has become an important concern for hydrocarbon industries. Several methods are considered to be used for controlling water. Among them, there are three common methods, which are helpful in improving water shut-off performance, which increase the viscosity of the flooding fluid, reduces the permeability of high permeable streaks present in the reservoir and increase the permeability of low-permeable zones (Zhu et al., 2017).

Among all water control processes, chemical water shut-off treatment is one that has shown potential feasibility and practicality in hydrocarbon reservoirs for decades. The polymer gel system, which is formed after the crosslinking reaction between polymer and crosslinker, is one of the most promising water shut-off agents because of its low price, easy method of preparation, pumping and effectiveness (Zhao et al., 2014).

Field applications have confirmed that polymer gel treatments can be applied successfully in heterogeneous reservoirs to minimize excess water production (Goudarzi et al., 2014). Field studies have also demonstrated that gel formulation, gelling fluid or gelant is supposed to form a three-dimensional molecular network within the porous media of the reservoir. The effectiveness of water shut-off treatment depends on the compatibility of the gel formulation with harsh reservoir conditions as well as the appropriate placement of the gelant in excessive water zones because the gel network blindly blocks any zone, which is treated by the gelant (Elewaut et al., 2005; Wassmuth et al., 2004). Polymer gel systems are usually composed of a water-soluble polymer or monomer crosslinked with an organic or inorganic crosslinker. Polymer gels, which are crosslinked by inorganic crosslinkers such as zirconium and chromium containing crosslinker, become unsuccessful when reservoir temperature reaches above 80°C temperature. To overcome this issue, polymer gel systems with organic crosslinkers are considered the best and preferred everywhere. Polyethyleneimine and phenol/formaldehyde have been largely used in high temperature reservoirs. This selection is contributed by the existence of thermally stable bonds within the organic crosslinked polymer gel system (Amir et al., 2019; El-Karsani et al., 2014; Moradi-Araghi, 2000; Zhu et al., 2017). Three different types of gels are used for water shut-off purposes in the reservoir. The first type of polymeric gel systems are in-situ gel systems, however, second and third types form particle gel and foamed gels respectively for the purpose (Ganguly et al., 2002; Imqam and Bai, 2015; Sydansk, 1990).

In 1989, PVA crosslinked with phenolic derivative and aldehyde gel system was developed and reported. This crosslinked PVA gel system was an effective permeability control agent, which was found to be stable even at high underground formation temperatures. PVA is a well-known commercially available polymer, which is prepared by substituting acetate groups of polyvinyl acetates with hydroxyl groups (Hoskin and Shu, 1989). Shu again, in the year 1997, developed a polymer gel system using derivative of PVA i.e., polyvinyl alcohol-co-vinyl amide copolymer (PVOH-VAM), the crosslinking agent maloaldehydebis (dimethyl acetal) and maloaldehydebis (diethyl acetal) along with a strong base for adjustment of the desired pH of the system (Shu, 1997). Another similar system, PVA crosslinked with methylated melamine-formaldehyde resin, has also been developed and reported for the same purpose (Victorius, 1991).

Polymer blending is one of the most important and recent methods for the development of new polymeric materials. The significant advantage of the polymer blend is that the properties of the final product sometimes can be more useful than that of an individual polymer (Abdelrazek et al., 2010). Polyvinylpyrrolidone has a good reputation due to its outstanding absorption and complex forming abilities, whereas polyvinyl alcohol presents important features such as high hydrophilicity and good capacity of film formation (Bernal et al., 2012).

Polyvinylpyrrolidone is a vinyl polymer possessing planer and polar side groups due to the peptide bond in the lactam ring (Mayo-Pedrosa, 2004). It is an amorphous polymer and possesses high glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) because of the presence of the rigid pyrrolidone group, which is strong in drawing the group and is known to form various complexes with other polymers. On the other hand, PVA is a semi-crystalline polymer studied extensively because of its numerous interesting physical properties, which arise from the presence of –OH group and the hydrogen bond formation. When these two polymers are mixed, the interaction between PVA and PVP are expected to occur through inter-chain hydrogen bonding between the carbonyl group of PVP and the hydroxyl group of PVA. Hence, these hydrogel blends are stable within the physiological environment because of physical crosslinks consisting of intermolecular hydrogen bonds (Queiroz et al., 2001). The crystallinity of PVA/PVP blend decreases with increasing the level of PVP (Zidan et al., 2016). PVA has analogous properties like PVP but it varies in some properties like good tensile strength and elasticity (Tian et al., 2017; Tian et al., 2018; Yan, 2015). Due to these special properties of PVA, it works well with another polymer as a blend (Divya et al., 2016). PVA/PVP blends have been reported for several uses (Archana et al., 2007; Baraker and Lobo, 2016; Hemalatha et al., 2016).

Generally, solution blending of different polymers is one of the methods used to get new material with a variety of properties. These properties mainly depend on the characteristics of the parent homopolymers and the blend composition (Persano et al., 2006). Hence, study of these systems is receiving increasing attention, since an adequate mixture of the polymers can be used to optimize the performance of polymer-based systems. In this case, whether the nature of the blend is intermediate between the properties of the components or is considerably different, it will be determined by the miscibility and phase behavior of the blend. Miscibility at the molecular level is possible only when the different polymers are capable of establishing specific interactions between their chains. Use and application of few nanoparticles in reservoir have been studied. During the EOR process, usually saline water is used. Chemical methods are the most common methods, which are used for excessive water control and profile modification. During oil recovery, seawater is used as a base fluid for injecting chemical/materials including nanomaterials, polymer, crosslinker within the reservoir (Zhang et al., 2014). Several nanoparticles are being used for research, among them silica dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>) is one, which has shown prominent results. The compatibility and strengthening properties of SiO<sub>2</sub> have been studied and reported (Michael et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2017). In recent times, the usage of surfactants with nanoparticles in oil recovery has been gaining vital significance by many researchers. Nanocomposite gel systems for EOR have been considered and resulted in improved thermal stability for heterogeneous reservoirs. Zirconium hydroxide nanoparticles along with gels have been used for water shut-off treatments (Michael et Al., 2018; Liu et al., 2017; Lashari et al., 2018; Jafarnezhad et al., 2016; Adewunmi, 2015).

This chapter consists of the synthesis and characterization of the conventional and nanocomposite hydrogels for enhancing the oil recovery factor from hydrocarbon reservoirs. Synthesized gels were characterized using various techniques like Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-Vis), X-ray diffraction (XRD), field emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM), Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), etc. The mechanism of bond formation (hydrogen bonding) between polymer and crosslinker and nanoparticle interaction is also well described in this chapter.

## **3.2 Experimental Procedure**

## 3.2.1 Materials

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) with an average molecular weight of 1,04,500 g/mol and hydrolysis degree of 99.0% and polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) with molecular weight 44,000 g/mol were provided by Central Drug House Private Limited (India). The crosslinker was prepared using resorcinol which was procured from Fisher Scientific with a purity of 99.0%. Sodium hydroxide and sodium chloride were obtained from Molychem, India. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution was made using water to adjust the pH of the system approximately. Leaves of a plant, *Moringa oleifera* were collected from the fields in Jais, India.

## **3.2.2** Methods of Gel Preparation

#### **3.2.2.1 Preparation of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Blend Gel Systems**

Bulk gels or polymer gelant formulations (before being gelled) contain different polymers such as PVA, PVP, etc. Initially, stock solutions of different polymers and crosslinkers were prepared using 0.5% (w/v) brine (NaCl) separately. Crosslinkers and polymer solutions were prepared as follows:

- (a) The bulk gel solutions were prepared by mixing 2.0% (w/v) of PVA polymer and 2.0% (w/v) of PVP polymer in 0.5% brine (NaCl). PVA and PVP used for making the solution were found to have 8.0% and 6.0% moisture content respectively. Brookfield viscosity of PVA and PVP was observed and found to be 0.86 cP and 0.67 cP respectively. It was mixed at room temperature and then aged for 24 hours.
- (b) 2.0% (w/v) Resorcinol solution was prepared in 0.5% (w/v) brine (NaCl) and 37% formaldehyde (Resorcinol formaldehyde = RF) was used to prepare

crosslinker. The resorcinol-formaldehyde solution was prepared at low temperatures to avoid crosslinking, which is possible at high temperatures. The solution of PVA was prepared using a magnetic stirrer with 800 rotation per minute (rpm) at room temperature, while resorcinol solution was prepared at a temperature of 30°C using 800 rpm because it was easily soluble at room temperature.

(c) A stock solution of PVA and PVP polymer was taken separately and was mixed with a pre-defined concentration of crosslinker. After mixing of solution, pH adjustment was done using sodium hydroxide solution to get the desired pH. Finally, after taking the pH of gelant and maintaining it as per requirement, about 25 mL of gel formulations were transferred into scintillation vials (30 mL, Riviera glass Pvt. Ltd.). The crosslinking reaction was started when the gelant formulation was placed in the oven at a preferred temperature of 90°C. The gel strength was expressed according to Sydansk's strength code (Sydansk, 1987). The schematic representation of gel formation is given in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of gelation mechanism of gel systems.

## 3.2.2.2 Synthesis of PVP:RF Conventional and PVP-ZnO:RF Nanocomposite Gels

## (a) Synthesis of Plant Extract and Bio-Synthesis of Pure ZnO:

The plant extract was prepared by using leaves of *Moringa oleifera* plant. The leaves were collected from the fields of Jais, India and were properly washed using tap water and then twice using double distilled water. They were then kept in sunlight, dried for 2-3 days and finally crushed into powdered form. Crushed leaves were further used to prepare plant extract by heating 10 gms of leaves powder with 200 mL of distilled water at 100°C for around 2 hours and then cooled at room temperature. After cooling, the solution was filtered using Whatman filter paper no. 1. The filtrate was then stored at 4°C in an amber bottle for further experimentation.

15 mL of Leaf extract was added to 35 mL of 200 mm zinc acetate dehydrate (prepared by dissolving 1.536 g of zinc acetate dehydrate in 35 mL of distilled water). The reaction mixture was thoroughly stirred using a magnetic stirrer for about 6 hours. The pH of the solution was adjusted at 12 and the reaction mixture was heated at 90°C temperature overnight with magnetic stirring. After heating the solution overnight, the white powder, dispersed in solution, was centrifuged at 13,500 rpm for 15 minutes. The obtained powder was washed with distilled water and then using ethanol. It was eventually dried overnight at 90°C and was crushed into a fine powder using mortar and pestle.

## (b) **PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gel Preparation:**

PVP-ZnO:RF (Nanocomposite )gelling solutions containing 2000 ppm and 5000 ppm ZnO were prepared at room temperature. Initially, 1wt% PVP solution

was prepared using 1 wt% NaCl. Resorcinol (2 wt% resorcinol)-formaldehyde (RF) was used as a crosslinker (R:F/1:0.1). After mixing of polymer and crosslinker in the brine solution, it was aged for 24 hours at room temperature. The nanocomposite gelling solutions filled with various ZnO amounts were developed by adding a weighed quantity of ZnO (in ppm) into a 20 mL polymer solution. Digital ultrasonic cleaning was immediately performed on the solution of PVP and ZnO for homogenization for 15 minutes. After homogenization, crosslinker was added to the solution and stirred for 30 minutes. The pH of the conventional and nanocomposite gelling solution was maintained at approximately 9. The ratio of polymer (with and without ZnO) and crosslinker solution was 1:0.25 (20 mL and 5 mL respectively). The procedure followed for the preparation of ZnO nanocomposite polymeric gel was reported elsewhere (Michael et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2017). Lastly, the gelant solution with and without ZnO was poured into the ampoules (30 mL) and ampoules were sealed at the neck using Teflon tape. Sealed ampoules were finally kept in an oven at 90°C temperature. The schematic representation of gel formation is given in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 Schematic representation of gel formation of conventional (PVP:RF) and nanocomposite (PVP-ZnO:RF) gels.

## 3.2.2.3 PVA:RF Gel Preparation

Polymeric gelant formulations (before being gelled) contain different concentrations of crosslinker. Initially, stock solutions of polymer and crosslinker were prepared using distilled water. These solutions were prepared as follows:

- (a) 2.0% PVA polymer (w/v) in 100 mL solution was mixed and stirred at the rate of 800 rpm for 8 hours and then aged for 24 hours. The base polymer used for making the solution was found to have 8 .0% moisture content . Brookfield viscosity of PVA was observed at 0.86 cP.
- (b) 5.0% Resorcinol (w/v) in a 100 mL distilled water for half an hour was stirred at the rate of 600 rpm.
- (c) Formaldehyde

After making all stock solutions, crosslinker using resorcinol and formaldehyde was prepared by stirring at 600 rpm using a magnetic stirrer at room

temperature for half an hour to produce its homogenous solution. RF solution (1:0.25) was prepared at low temperature to avoid crosslinking, which is possible at high temperatures. A solution of 2.0% PVA (w/v) was prepared in a beaker using a magnetic stirrer at 90°C and 800 rpm while 5.0% resorcinol (w/v) solution was prepared at 30°C and 800 rpm because it was easily soluble at room temperature. Now, the stock solution of PVA polymer was taken in a separate beaker and mixed with different concentrations of crosslinker separately. The gelation mechanism of gel formation is given in **Figure 3.3**.



Figure 3.3 Schematic representation of PVA:RF gel formation.

After mixing of solution, pH adjustment was done using sodium hydroxide solution to get the desired pH using Eutech Instruments. Finally, after taking the pH of gelant and maintaining it as per requirement, about 25 mL of gel formulations were transferred into scintillation vials (30 mL, Riviera glass, Pvt. Ltd.). The crosslinking reaction was started when the gelant formulation was placed in the hot air oven at a preferred temperature of 90°C.

## 3.3 Techniques Used for Characterization of Synthesized Gel Systems

## 3.3.1 Bulk Gelation Study

Gel strength and gelation time were determined using a breakthrough vacuum method and bottle testing method. For bulk gelation study, samples were poured in scintillation vials and these vials were kept in a preheated oven at a temperature of 90°C. Bulk gelation study was conducted at different polymer concentrations, crosslinker concentrations, salts concentrations and temperatures. Vials were checked using visual observation and viscosity determination at certain time intervals to confirm gel formation and get gelation time.

## 3.3.2 FTIR Measurements

FTIR spectrometry is a type of absorption spectrometry in the infrared region of the electromagnetic spectrum at which chemical bonds vibrate in either a stretching or bending mode. The tool was used to determine functional groups present in the samples. The spectra of gel samples were recorded in wavenumber range of  $250-4000 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ .

## 3.3.3 FESEM Analysis

Field emission scanning electron microscope (FESEM) analysis was conducted to visualize the internal morphological structure of gel samples. FESEM operates in reflection mode to generate an image of the sample surface. This technique utilizes the low energy secondary electrons that are reflected off the sample surface upon the bombardment of the gel samples with a high-energy electron beam. This tool requires a conductive sample surface; therefore, insulating sample surfaces are often coated with a thin layer of a conductive surface.

## 3.3.4 UV-Vis and XRD Analysis of Nanoparticles

The synthesis of nanoparticles (NPs) and the adsorption study was carried out using Lab India UV-Vis 3200 spectrophotometer. The spectrum was recorded in the range of 300-800 nm with a 10 mm path length quartz cuvette. The purity of the phase was studied by using the PAN analytical X'pertpro MPD diffractometer. X-ray diffraction spectrometry technique helps to investigate the formation and quality of synthesized nanoparticles. Scanning of the samples was done in the range of 20 from 20 to 80°C with monochromatic radiation (CuK**a**).

#### 3.3.5 Thermogravimetric Analysis

The thermogravimetric analysis technique was used to detect the response of the nanocomposite gel system and the conventional gel system against rising temperatures. The basic principle of the technique is to raise the temperature of the sample below its melting point, a reduction in the weight of the sample is observed due to the evaporation of water present in gel networks. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA, Linseis PT 1000) of the synthesized gels was carried out in the nitrogen atmosphere by maintaining the heating rate of 3°C/min from 40 to 120°C.

## 3.3.6 DSC Analysis

The differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) profiles of the samples were recorded on a DSC 4000 from Perkin Elmer under N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere (20mL/min). Preweighed (~10mg) polymeric blend samples were taken in an aluminum pan for the measurement. The samples were heated from -20 to 200°C at a rate of 3°C/minute with sample mass comprised of 10-20 mg in the crucible. An empty sample pan was used as a reference.

## 3.3.7 Rheological Characterization

Rheological experiments of gel samples were performed for viscosity and moduli (G' and G"). Rheological investigations are important and deal with the deformation and flow of the sample as a function of shear deformation. In viscoelastic materials, both viscous and elastic properties are present. These properties were evaluated using a cone plate sensing system using a compact rheometer (MCR-52, Anton Paar, Physica, Austria). Shear rate was varied from 1 to 100 s<sup>-1</sup> to perform viscosity measurements. Moduli for the samples were investigated in the range of 1 to 100 rad/s of frequency sweep (at constant amplitude). All the experiments were conducted at room temperature.

## 3.3.8 In-situ Gelation Study

Plugging ability of the conventional and nanocomposite gel was determined by the sandpack flooding experiment. These experiments were conducted at a high temperature of 90°C. A high pressure syringe pump (Teledyne ISCO Model 500D) was run at high pressure, which was used for injecting fluids in the core and sandpack. The injecting fluid was kept in the stainless steel cylinder. Diesel oil was used as pushing fluid for injection of fluid in the core and sandpack. The injection rate was kept constant. Change in pressure was recorded from the pressure gauge used in the flow study set up. After the experiment, a change in permeability of the porous media was calculated using the Darcy's equation.

In this chapter, all the techniques used to characterize the gels, are described in brief.

## 3.4 Conclusions

- Three polymeric gel systems (PVP:RF, PVA:RF and PVP/PVA:RF) were prepared and screened for water shut-off treatment using bulk gelation studies and sandpack flooding experiments. On increasing salt concentration, gel strength decreases but gelation time increases.
- In conventional and nanocomposite gels, it was seen that on addition of ZnO nanoparticles, gelation time decreases and gel strength increases. At high temperatures, gel strength decreases and at lower temperature, gel strength increases. It may be due to the availability of a more functional group for bonding.
- In PVA:RF gels, a proper combination of polymer and crosslinker not only contributes to a promising gelation mechanism but also improves gel stability. It was observed, on increasing crosslinker concentration, gel strength increases and gelation time decreases.

# CHAPTER 4 BULK GELATION STUDY

## CHAPTER 4 BULK GELATION STUDY

## 4.1 Introduction

Chemical treatments are cost-effective methods for water shut-off operations. Chemical treatments include the pumping of gelant solution into the reservoirs. Gelation time and gels strength are two important factors in gel preparation. Gel strength is related to viscosity. Viscosity or gel strength should be below in order to avoid difficulty during the injection of gelant. To avoid premature gelation of gels, gelation time should be long enough. Polymer, crosslinker concentration, temperature, pH and salinity factors affect the gel strength and gelation time of gels (Singh and Mahto, 2016). Gelation time should be long enough for effectively placing of gel within the reservoir. It has been seen that gelation time in reservoirs is longer than tested in the laboratory.

In the present work, gelant solutions were prepared and placed in scintillation vials. After that bottles were placed in the preheated oven at various desired temperatures. The gelation time was decided by visually checking of vials at certain time intervals and determining viscosity (Moghadam et al., 2014). Gel strength was measured using a breakthrough vacuum method. The main objective of the bulk gelation study was to investigate the effect of polymer concentration, crosslinker concentration, temperature, pH and salinity on gel strength and gelation time.

## 4.2 Experimental Procedure

## 4.2.1 Determination of Gelation Time and Gel Strength

To study the gelation time of nanocomposite gel and conventional gels, the bottle testing method was used. This method is referred to as a semi-quantitative and inexpensive method. The gelant solutions were visually checked after a certain time at a temperature of 90°C. The gel strength of gel systems can be controlled by varying the concentration of different components. The gel strength was determined by the breakthrough vacuum method (Zhao et al., 2013). The schematic diagram of the used experimental setup has been illustrated in **Figure 4.1** and Sydansk strength code was used to decide the strength of prepared gel samples (Sydansk, 1987). It is depicted in **Figure 4.2** and in **Table 4.1**.



Figure 4.1 Schematic diagram of the breakthrough vacuum method.

Code	Gel type	Gel behavior in bottle
А	No detectable gel	The gel solution appears to have almost the same viscosity as an initial solution.
В	Highly flowing gel	The gel is comparatively more viscous.
С	Flowing gel	The gel flows up to the cap upon inversion.
D	Moderately flowing gel	A small portion of gel does not flow upon inversion.
Е	Barely flowing gel	A small portion of gel slowly flows upon inversion.
F	Highly deformable non- flowing gel	No gel flow upon inversion.
G	Moderately deformable non- flowing gel	The gel flows approximately halfway upon inversion.
Н	Slightly deformable nonflowing gel	No gel surface deformation upon inversion.
Ι	Rigid gel	No gel surface deformation on inversion.
J	Ringing rigid gel	Strong gel upon inversion.

 Table 4.1 Sydansk gel strength code



Figure 4.2 Free flowing gel to ringing rigid gel (Karimi et al., 2014).

## 4.3 **Results and Discussion**

## 4.3.1 Bulk Gelation Study of PVP:RF, PVA:RF and PVP/PVA:RF Gels

## **4.3.1.1 Gelation Time and Gel Strength**

Gelation time and gel strength are two key factors for gel placement and plugging ability in the reservoir for any kind of gel. The gelation time should be sufficient to place the gel into the targeted zones of the reservoir (Karimi et al., 2014). To observe the gelation time, the gel solutions of different concentrations of polymer, crosslinker and salinity were prepared. The prepared samples were placed into ampoules and put in the pre-heated oven at a temperature of 90°C. These ampoules were observed after every 1 hour to determine the gelation time and gel strength of the samples. Polymer or blend and crosslinker ratio were fixed in the ratio 1:0.25 for all samples.

## 4.3.1.2 Effect of Salinity on Gel Time

One of the main influencing factors on the gel is the presence of salt in the reservoir. The salinity effect was checked using NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> (5000-25000 ppm) at 90°C. With the increase of the concentration of the monovalent ion (sodium), it is assumed that sodium is assembled around the functional groups of the polymers. Due to the presence of both anions and cations, double layer formation takes place around the functional group of the polymers. This generated double layer causes the shrinkage of the polymer chains. The presence of divalent ion (calcium) has negative effects on the gel strength. Divalent ion may even cause the polymer to be deposited. But the presence of these divalent ions leads to gelation time increment (Bai et al., 2015).

The effect of inorganic salts (NaCl and  $CaCl_2$ ) on the gel strength and gelation time of gels is shown in **Figures 4.3a and 4.3b**.

In 5000 ppm NaCl salt solution, gel strengths for PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems were observed to be 25000, 16000, and 12000 Pa respectively. In 25000 ppm NaCl salt solution, found gel strengths were 11, 9 and 7 kPa respectively. In 5000 ppm CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt solution, gel strengths for PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems were observed 23000, 14000 and 11000 Pa respectively. In 25000 ppm CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt solution, gel strengths were found to be 8, 6 and 6 kPa respectively. The very low gel strength of PVA:RF gel system was due to crystallinity (Nawar and Petch, 1987; Noguchi and Yang, 1964). It may be due to the precipitation in the presence of NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Therefore, the strength of PVA:RF gel system is highly affected by NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> ions.

The gel strength of fresh and effluent gel samples is shown in **Figure 4.4.** Results show that the PVP:RF gel system has a higher gel strength in comparison to PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems.



Figure 4.3 Effect of different concentrations of (a) NaCl and (b) CaCl<sub>2</sub> on the PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems.



Figure 4.4 Gel strengths of the fresh and effluent gel samples.

## 4.3.2 Bulk Gelation Study of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gel Systems

## 4.3.2.1 Effect of Polymer Concentration

Polymer concentration for making the gel is critical and should always obtain the minimum polymer concentration for preparing gel solution. The effect of polymer concentration can be observed as a Sydansk gel strength code. It is a cheap and fast method. The formation of the gel is determined by the codes between A to J. The code of A to J indicates gel nature from free flowing to hard ringing rigid gel (Sydansk, 1990). PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm) gel sample with different polymer concentrations (0.5 - 3 wt%) was used. With the study of conducted experiments at 90°C, it is observed that the increase of PVP polymer concentration decreases the gelation time and increases the gel strength. It is depicted in **Figure 4.5**.



Figure 4.5 Effect of polymer concentration on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.

## 4.3.2.2 Effect of Crosslinker Concentration

Crosslinker causes the bond between polymer chains and increases the strength of gel (Yadav and Mahto, 2014). Resorcinol is completely soluble in water and with formaldehyde, it is used as crosslinker. A high concentration of crosslinker leads to a decrease in gelation time and an increase in gel strength. PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm) gel sample with different crosslinker concentrations (0.5- 3.0%) was characterized at 90°C. On increasing more concentration than 3.0% (w/v) of crosslinker, crosslinking causes the polymer molecules to get closer to each other and then the gel shrinks. This causes the gel strength weaker thus the syneresis has occurred. It is depicted in **Figure 4.6**.



Figure 4.6 Effect of crosslinker concentration on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.

## **4.3.2.3 Effect of Salinity**

One of the main influencing factors on the gel is the presence of salt in the reservoir. The salinity effect was checked with NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> (0.25 - 1.0%) at 90°C. With the increase of the concentration of the single ion (sodium), it is assembled around the carbonyl group of polyvinyl pyrrolidone. Due to the presence of both anions and cations, double layer formation takes place. This generated double layer causes the shrinkage of the polymer chains. The presence of divalent cation (calcium) has negative effects on the gel strength. The divalent cation may even cause the polymer to be deposited. But the presence of divalent cation leads to gelation time increment (Bai et al., 2015). NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> effect on conventional and nanocomposite gel systems is depicted in **Figures 4.7 and 4.8**.



Figure 4.7 Effect of NaCl salt on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.



Figure 4.8 Effect of CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.

## **4.3.2.4 Effect of Temperature**

Gelation temperature plays a very important role in gel formation and its thermal stability. The increment in temperature decreases the gelation time. Conventional gel (PVP:RF) and nanocomposite gel PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm) were investigated from 50-90°C. **Figure 4.9** demonstrates that gelation decreased with an increase in temperature. Gelling time for the conventional gel system was noted to be 22 hours at 50°C, whereas the gelling time of nanocomposite gel was 18 hours at the same temperature. Gelling time sharply decreased to 10 hours and 8 hours at 90°C for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel respectively. The results indicated that temperature accelerates the thermal interactions between polymer molecules and crosslinker. Due to the interaction between polymer and crosslinker molecules, inner particle forces also increase, therefore, gel strength also increases at high temperatures. At 50°C, gel strength was 22.5 kPa and 25 kPa and at 90°C, it was 26 kPa and 29 kPa for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel system respectively. Result also indicates that nanocomposite gel has good gel strength but less gelation time than conventional gel.



Figure 4.9 Effect of temperature on gel strength and gelation time.

The gelation time was also correlated to the temperature according to the Arrhenius equation:

$$K = K_0 e^{\frac{-E_a}{RT}} \qquad \dots (iv)$$

Where, k is the reaction rate constant,  $K_0$  is frequency factor,  $E_a$ , the activation energy (KJ/mol), R, the gas constant (KJ/mol.K) and T is the absolute temperature (K). Equation (iv) was modified by introducing the gelation time (GT) instead of the reaction rate constant K and M as the frequency factor.

$$GT = Me^{\frac{E_a}{RT}} \qquad \dots (v)$$

Where, GT is gelation time (h) and M is the rate constant (h). Equation (v) can be modified as follows:

$$\ln GT = \frac{E_a}{RT} + \ln M \qquad \dots \dots \text{(vi)}$$



Figure 4.10 Arrhenius type graph of (a) PVP:RF and (b) PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm).

As we can see from equation (vi), there is a linear relationship between ln GT and the inverse of temperature (1/T) (Singh et al., 2018). It is depicted in **Figure 4.10**. Calculated from the slope of **Figure 4.10**, the activation energy was 19.786 and 19.098 KJ/mol for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm) gel systems respectively.

#### 4.3.3 Gelation Time and Gel Strength Measurement of PVA:RF Gel Systems

Gelation time and gel strength are two key factors for gel placement and plugging ability in the reservoir for any kind of gel. The gelation time should be sufficient to place the gel into the targeted zones of the reservoir. To observe the gelation time, the gel solutions of different concentration of crosslinker with a fixed concentration of polymer were prepared. Gel strength and gelation time for different Polymer/crosslinker ratio are shown in **Figure 4.11**.



Figure 4.11 Effect of polymer/crosslinker ratio on gel strength and gelation time at 90°C.

The prepared samples were injected into ampoules and put in the preheated oven at 90°C. These ampoules were observed after every 1 hour to determine the gelation time and gel strength of the samples. The gel strength can be controlled from the gelation code A to J by varying the concentration of polymer and crosslinker. The gel strength was highly stable for the polymer/crosslinker ratio 1/1 i.e., 53 kPa and low for 1/0.1 i.e. 8.6 kPa and gelation time was vice versa. It can be shown from the result that gelation time decreased with the increase in the concentration of crosslinker (Yadav and Mahto, 2014).

## 4.4 Conclusions

- In PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels, it was observed that on increasing salt concentration, gel time increases.
- In PVP:RF conventional and PVP-ZnO:RF nanocomposite gels, later one has a better gel strength.

- In PVP:RF conventional and PVP-ZnO:RF nanocomposite gels, on increasing temperature, gelation time decreases and gel strength increases.
- In PVA:RF gels, on increasing polymer or crosslinker concentration, gel strength increases.

# **CHAPTER 5**

# HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM ANALYSIS

# CHAPTER 5 HYDROGEN BONDING, UV-VIS, XRD, FTIR AND FESEM ANALYSIS

## 5.1 Introduction

The reaction mechanism is basically a microscopic path in which reactants are transformed into new products. The reaction may involve the interaction between functional groups of polymer and crosslinker. The reaction mechanism tells about the reaction between polymer and crosslinker (Nam et al., 2019). In our synthesized gels, the reaction takes place between carbonyl and alcoholic groups. The Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy states about the absorption of infrared radiation by the sample versus wavelength. Change in the wavenumber expresses about the formation of the product as an increase or decrease in wavelength (Mansur et al., 2008). Field emission scanning electron microscopic technique works with electrons instead of light. These electrons are liberated by a field emission source (Cascone et al., 2004). The sample is scanned by electrons in a zig-zag pattern. UV-Vis spectroscopy is used for the quantitative determination of analysts such as organic compounds, nanocomposite, etc. A UV-Vis beam is passed through a cuvette with a wavelength varying from 180-1100 nm. X-ray diffraction tool is used to identify and characterize unknown crystalline materials (Timaeva et al., 2020). Analysis of ZnO nanoparticles was done using this technique.

## 5.2 Techniques

## 5.2.1 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) Measurements

The Fourier transform infrared spectra of the samples were recorded by taking solid dried powder of gel samples. The Perkin Elmer Spectrum PIKE MIRacle single reflection horizontal attenuated total reflectance (ATR) accessory equipped with a ZnSe. ATR Crystal was used for recording the spectra. FTIR spectrum is obtained from performing a mathematical Fourier transform on the interferogram. FTIR spectrometry is a type of absorption spectrometry in the infrared region of the electromagnetic spectrum at which chemical bonds vibrate in either a stretching or bending mode. The tool is used to determine functional groups present in the samples. The spectra of prepared gel samples were recorded in the wavenumber range of 250-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

## 5.2.2 Surface Morphological Analysis by Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy (FESEM)

Field emission scanning electron microscopic analysis was conducted to visualize the internal morphological structure of gel samples. FESEM operates in reflection mode to generate an image of the sample surface. This technique utilizes the low energy secondary electrons that are reflected off the sample surface upon the bombardment of the gel samples with a high-energy electron beam. It requires a conductive sample surface; therefore, insulating sample surfaces are often coated with a thin layer of a conductive surface. Gold coating for 105 seconds was used for the samples. In general, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) resolution varies from 0.5µm to 20µm. The morphologies of samples were imaged by using FE-SEM Zeiss Supra 40 (accelerating voltage ranged 15 kV).
# 5.3 Hydrogen Bonding of Different Gel Systems

#### 5.3.1 Hydrogen Bonding in the Mixture of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gels

Crosslinker (Resorcinol-formaldehyde) formation reaction was adapted from Gaca et al., 2013 and 2017. Usually, crosslinkers are used as bridging agents that would bind polymer chains. **Figure 5.1** shows the chemical reaction between resorcinol-formaldehyde. The condensation reaction of crosslinker is given in **Figure 5.2** (Al-Muhtaseb and Ritter, 2003; Gupta and Kandasubramanian, 2015; Kakunuri and Sharma, 2018; Prostredny et al., 2019). Hydrogen bonding between PVP polymer and RF crosslinker can be seen from the FTIR graph (Taohong et al., 2017). ZnO reacts with the phenyl –OH group (Kashif et al., 2014; Michael et al., 2018). The interaction between the nanofiller (ZnO) and PVP:RF gel was investigated using the FTIR graph. It is given in **Figure 5.3**. Structure of PVP-Zn is given in **Figure 5.4**.



Figure 5.1 Reaction between resorcinol and formaldehyde (RF).



Figure 5.2 Condensation reaction of RF polymer.



Figure 5.3 Hydrogen bonding and ZnO interaction with PVP:RF.



Figure 5.4 Structure of PVP-Zn.

#### 5.3.2 Hydrogen Bonding in the Mixture of PVA:RF Crosslinked Gel

PVA-resorcinol-formaldehyde solutions were prepared with distilled water as described in the materials and methods section. pH was adjusted for different concentrations of gelant formulation to increase the gelation time and lower the corrosion rate while injecting the formulation into the well. The reaction mechanism of the prepared gel is as shown in **Figure 5.5** (Shiao Wei Huo, 2018).



Figure 5.5 Hydrogen bonding of crosslinking reaction between PVA:RF gel.

# 5.4 **Results and Discussion**

#### 5.4.1 UV-Vis Spectra and XRD Analysis of ZnO

The UV-Vis spectrum of synthesized nanoparticles reveals a characteristic absorption peak of ZnO nanoparticles at a wavelength of 358 nm. It is depicted in **Figure 5.6.** XRD data of synthesized nanoparticle reveals a series of characteristic peaks with 2θ values of 31.77457°, 34.42689°, 36.27826°, 47.59656°, 56.64333°, 62.93273° and 68.02726°. These peaks were indexed to (100), (002), (102), (110), (103) planes of ZnO hexagonal phase structure respectively. The peaks and obtained Miller Indices are related to the standard hexagonal Wurtzite crystal structure. The data is in accordance with the standard JCPDS card 36-1451. The data not only confirms the synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles but also the absence of other impurities. It is shown in **Figure 5.7**. The average size of the synthesized pure ZnO was calculated using Debye Scherrer's equation, which states

Where, D is the mean size of the particles; K, a constant having value 0.9;  $\lambda$ , X-ray wavelength; B, the full width at half maximum in radians; and  $\theta$ , the Bragg diffraction angle in radian.

The average particle size of the ZnO was found to be 10 nm.



Figure 5.6 UV-Vis spectra of pure ZnO.



Figure 5.7 XRD spectra of pure ZnO nanoparticles.

#### 5.4.2 Characterization of Gel Systems

#### 5.4.2.1 FTIR Analysis of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gel Systems

Functional groups of the polymeric gel systems and their chemical compositions could be checked using FTIR spectroscopy. Infrared spectra of these materials differ conferring to their composition and may be able to indicate their occurrence of complexation and interaction among various constituents. The FTIR spectra for pure PVA:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVP:RF gel samples are shown in **Figure 5.8.** The mutual interaction between them produces modifications in their vibrational mode of the atoms or molecules in the sample, which leads to a change in the physical and chemical properties of the constituents of the complex. The spectrum exhibits bands characteristics of stretching bending vibrations of O-H, C-H, C=O and CH<sub>2</sub>.



Figure 5.8 FTIR spectra of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF.

A strong band observed at 3500 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been assigned to bending mode vibration corresponding to the free –OH group. While another strong band observed around 1660 cm<sup>-1</sup> described the stretching vibration of C=O attributed to PVP. The band corresponding to CH<sub>2</sub> asymmetric stretching vibration occurs at about 2977 and 2968 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The peaks of –OH groups due to hydrogen bonding are attributed to 3265, 3285 and 3269 cm<sup>-1</sup>. A C-C stretching mode is observed at 946 cm<sup>-1</sup>. A characteristic alcohol band at 1152 cm<sup>-1</sup> was assigned to the stretching of C-O of PVA, which is affected by hydrogen bonding along with C-H and O-H bending. The band observed at 1390 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been attributed to combination frequencies of -CH and –OH groups. Characteristics C-N stretching vibration of PVP was observed at 1256 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 5.4.2.2 FTIR Analysis of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gels

To confirm the chemical functionalities for inducing hydrogen bonding, FTIR spectral analysis was carried out on the PVP:RF with and without ZnO. As shown in **Figure 5.9**, PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF, have characteristic peaks of -(C-N) 1284 cm<sup>-1</sup>, (C=O) 1639 cm<sup>-1</sup>, -(C-H) 3060 cm<sup>-1</sup> and -(O-H) 3321 cm<sup>-1</sup> due to hydrogen bonding of PVP with RF. In PVP-ZnO:RF, a strong absorption peak was observed at 2342 cm<sup>-1</sup>. This peak is assigned to be an asymmetrical stretch frequency of - (O-C=O) (as an impurity) (Haling and McCluskey, 2005). The origin of the band at 642 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to the metal-oxygen bond, which confirms the synthesis of ZnO (Kumar et al., 2013).



Figure 5.9 FTIR spectrum of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF.

#### 5.4.2.3 FTIR Analysis of PVA:RF Gels

FTIR spectrum of the gel samples were acquired in the range of 500-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Infrared spectra of gels show the occurrence of complexation and interaction between various constituents. The mutual interaction between the functional groups produces a change in their vibrational modes of the atoms or the molecules in the gel sample. The FTIR spectra of PVA:RF with different concentrations of crosslinker (RF) is given in Figure 5.10. The spectrum exhibits bands characteristics of stretching and bending vibrations of O-H, C-H, C=C, C-O-H groups. In **Figure 5.10**, a strong band observed at 1087 and 1024 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been assigned to C-OH bending mode corresponding to aliphatic alcohol. A band observed at 1250 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been attributed to the C-H bending of the methyl group. The FTIR absorption bands, that appeared at 1285 cm<sup>-1</sup> range, are attributed to the C-OH stretching frequency of the aromatic alcohol. A band observed at 1473 cm<sup>-1</sup> is attributed to C-H bending of CH<sub>2</sub>

saturated scissoring. Another band found at 1711 and 1635 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicates a C=C stretching mode. A band detected at 2939 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to the asymmetric stretching mode of the CH<sub>2</sub> group. Absorbance at 3349 and 3311 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to an O-H group, which could be explained on the basis of intermolecular hydrogen bonding with the adjacent –OH group.



Figure 5.10 FTIR spectrum of PVA:RF with ratios (a) 1:1 (b) 1:0.5 (c) 1:0.25 (d) 1:0.1.

#### 5.4.3 FESEM Analysis

### 5.4.3.1 FESEM Analysis of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gels

Field emission scanning electron microscope (FESEM) was used to investigate the morphological structures of synthesized PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF polymeric blend gels. It has been observed that PVP:RF (Figure 5.11a)

shows a rough surface of the gel system. PVP/PVA:RF (**Figure 5.11b**) confirms that the granular appearance of PVA:RF and rough appearance of PVP:RF disappeared and changed to a 3-D gel network system. This observation suggests the formation of a new type of gel network. PVA:RF (**Figure 5.11c**) gel system is having granular morphology. This polymeric gel system has a structure with several smaller agglomerates joining. In all **Figures**, the gel systems containing different polymers are having a special network structure because of crosslinker, which helps in connecting the polymeric chains more strongly.



Figure 5.11 FESEM micrographs of (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP/PVA:RF and (c) PVA:RF (at 10,000×).

# 5.4.3.2 FESEM Analysis of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gels Before and After Sandpack Flooding

In Figures 5.12 (a-c) gels show that the original gel samples (before in-situ study) have an obvious strong 3-dimensional structure. For original gel samples, it is demonstrated that the preliminary net structure of gels is formed. It was confirmed by SEM images Figures 5.12 (a-c). In contrast, the effluents of gel samples after flowing through porous media did not show an obvious network structure as observed in original samples. It is shown in Figures 5.12 (d-f).



Figure 5.12 FESEM images of the fresh and effluent (flowing through porous media) gel samples (a, d) PVP:RF (b, e) PVP/PVA:RF (c, f) PVA:RF.



Figure 5.13 EDX spectra of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels respectively, before and after gel flooding (a-c) Fresh gel samples (d-f) Effluent gel samples.

The presence of high amount of salt can be seen in SEM images of effluent gel samples in comparison to original gel samples. A comparison of all three gel samples before and after in-situ study confirms that the gel strength of gel samples apparently reduced after flowing through porous media. The addition of brine in the effluent of gel samples is the reason for the reduction in viscosity. The addition of brine in the effluent of gel samples may be the reason for the reduction viscosity. Energy dispersive x-ray (EDX) data is given in **Figures 5.13 (a-f)**.

#### 5.4.3.3 FESEM Analysis of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF Gels

The structure of the synthesized nanoparticles was analyzed using SEM. The image in **Figure 5.14a** shows individual ZnONPs as well as aggregates and exhibits that the synthesized ZnONPs are spherical in shape. This result is in accordance with the one reported (Hiremath et al., 2017) where the ZnONPs have been synthesized using *Calotropis* leaf extract. **Figures 5.15 (a-c)** exhibits the image of PVP:RF conventional and PVP-ZnO:RF nanocomposite gels. These gel systems were dried, and their surface morphologies were examined using FESEM. It can be observed from the surface morphology of PVP:RF conventional gel (**Figure 5.15a**) that it has a smooth surface. FESEM images of PVP-ZnO:RF nanocomposite gels (**Figures 5.15b and 5.15c**) reveals significant alterations in surface morphology due to the presence of ZnO.



Figure 5.14 SEM image of ZnO nanoparticles at x 40,000and EDX data.



Figure 5.15 SEM micrographs of investigated gel systems at x 10,000 (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) (c) PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm).

#### 5.4.3.4 FESEM Analysis of PVA:RF Gel Systems

The microscopic images of different concentrations of the crosslinker with the polymer of the prepared gel system at 100 nm scale were achieved using FESEM to examine the morphological features as shown in **Figure 5.16.** These were studied for the mechanism of gel formation with different crosslinkers ratio. As shown in **Figures 5.16A and 5.16B**, the polymeric gel systems are having a special network structure because of the high concentration of crosslinker. The high concentration of crosslinker helps in connecting the polymer chains more strongly. More homogeneous morphology was obtained with 1:0.25 and 1:0.1 ratio of PVA:RF as shown in **Figures 5.16C and 5.16D**, for which the RF can be presumed to be homogeneously dispersed in the PVA matrix and shows fewer crosslinks. However, at a higher composition, the surfaces become rougher suggesting that the RF is in oversupply leading to phase segregation.





# 5.5 Conclusions

- ZnO nanoparticles were successfully synthesized using *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract and its identity was characterized using UV-Vis and XRD techniques.
- Intermolecular and intramolecular hydrogen bonding effect was checked using FTIR. Polyvinyl alcohol, polyvinylpyrrolidone are resorcinolformaldehyde are hydrogen-bonded molecules. The result of the IR data shows intermolecular hydrogen bonding between polymer and crosslinker. Apart from it, nanoparticle interaction with gel was also observed.

- The formation of the gel network was confirmed by FESEM. The FESEM images clearly show the smooth and rough surfaces of the gels.
- A proper network formation was seen in PVP/PVA:RF blend. ZnO nanoparticle interaction was also seen in PVP:RF nanocomposite gels. From the FESEM images of gels, it was confirmed that gel strength increases due to ZnO.
- In PVA:RF gels, on increasing crosslinker concentration, a compact gel surface formation took place.

# CHAPTER 6 THERMAL AND RHEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS

# **CHAPTER 6**

# THERMAL AND RHEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS

## 6.1 Introduction

Rheology basically deals with the deformation and the flow behavior of materials. On applying different stress conditions, solid and liquid samples change their nature. Newtonian and non-Newtonian fluids are investigated by rheology (Lapasin, 2015). Newtonian fluids are those which obey Newton's law of flow. Samples, which fail to follow Newtonian's law, are referred to as non-Newtonian fluids. Rheology defines the correlation between stress and deformation of samples. Polymeric gels are prepared by hydrogen bonding of polymer and crosslinker. These gels range from free flowing to ringing rigid gel, therefore, they exhibit a wide range of rheological properties. Polymeric gels are widely used in the upstream oil industry to control excessive water production. These gels are viscoelastic fluids (Cuomo et al., 2019). Viscoelastic fluids have the properties between elastic solids and viscous liquids. In polymeric gels, viscous nature leads over lesser time and elastic nature leads to long time duration. The gel strength of the gel is measured by rheology experiments (Zhao et al., 2017). The concentration of polymer and crosslinker changes gel strength of gels. Change in the strength of gels on the basis of change of components is measured by rheological tests. High gel strength is related to the higher stability of gels. Rheology is a qualitative and quantitative study of gels that describes relationships between shear stresses and strains or some other derivatives (Sgambato et al., 2016).

The response of polymers to heat or thermal properties is being investigated by using differential scanning calorimetry and thermogravimetric analysis. DSC is used to study the thermal transitions of polymers (Rodriguez et al., 1996). Qualitative and quantitative information about chemical and physical changes in gel samples is measured by DSC technique. Glass transition temperature is missing in our study because of the high crosslinking of gels. The melting point of the gel samples is investigated in our study. In TGA, physical properties of the gel sample are measured as a function of temperature or temperature (Tang et al., 2017). It can also be described as weight loss of a sample in an environment heated or cooled at a controlled rate and is recorded as a function of time and temperature.

In this chapter, the thermal and rheological study of conventional and nanocomposite gels have been described. Thermal and rheological properties of developed gels change when polymer or crosslinker or nanoparticle concentration varies.

#### 6.2 Methods

#### 6.2.1 Thermogravimetric Analysis

The thermogravimetric analysis technique was used to detect the response of the nanocomposite gel system and the conventional gel system against rising temperatures. The basic principle of the technique is to raise the temperature of the sample below its melting point. A reduction in the weight of the sample is observed due to the evaporation of water present in gel networks. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA, Linseis PT 1000) of the synthesized gels was carried out in the nitrogen atmosphere by maintaining the heating rate of 3°C min<sup>-1</sup> from 40 to 120°C.

#### 6.2.2 DSC Analysis

The differential scanning calorimetry profiles of the samples were recorded on a DSC 4000 from Perkin Elmer under N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere (20mL/min). Pre-weighed (~10mg) polymeric blend samples were taken in an aluminum pan for the measurement. The samples were heated from -20 to 200°C at a rate of 3°C/min. with sample mass comprised of 10-20 mg in the crucible. An empty sample pan was used as a reference.

#### 6.2.3 Viscosity and Rheological Properties of the Bulk Gels

To analyze the strength of the prepared gel systems with different crosslinker concentrations, viscosity  $(\eta)$  and viscoelasticity (storage modulus G' and loss modulus G") were measured by the cone-plate sensing system using a compact rheometer (MCR-52, Anton Paar®, Physica, Austria). These measurements are essential and deal with the deformation and flow of matter as a function of shear deformation. All the rheological properties were acquired in a controlled rate mode (CR). The shear viscosity, elastic and viscous modulus (G' and G") were used to evaluate the structural recovery property of the gel after shear action. The elastic and loss modulus dependent on frequency and amplitude shows viscous and elastic part of the sample and it is measured when a stress is applied to the sample. The shear viscosity was measured as a function of temperature and shear rate. Shear rate was fixed to be 1 Hz during the temperature effect on shear viscosity. During the amplitude sweep, the frequency was fixed at 1 Hz and frequency sweep was carried out from 1 Hz to 100 Hz at fixed amplitude so as to remain in the linear viscoelastic regime. The temperature dependence of viscosity was studied in the temperature range of 30-80°C.

# 6.3 **Results and Discussion**

#### 6.3.1 Effect of ZnO Nanoparticles on TGA Analysis

The effect of ZnO particles inside the gel network was confirmed by the thermal analysis. **Figure 6.1** shows the TGA curves of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel systems. TGA was performed to determine the percentage weight loss of prepared gel systems. The TGA curves show a feature between 50-90°C, which indicates a large weight loss of all three samples. This mass loss was due to the characteristic thermal behavior of hydrogels. The remaining mass of all samples as measured by TGA was 2.58% (PVP:RF), 5.73% (PVP-ZnO:RF, 2000 ppm) and 9.64% (PVP-ZnO:RF, 5000 ppm) at 110°C. The result of different gel systems indicates the effect of ZnO on the strength of the gel. From the observations of the current study, it can be concluded that nanocomposite gel system show higher thermal stability in comparison to the conventional gel system (Heo et al., 2014).



Figure 6.1 Thermogravimetric analysis of different behavior for PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) and PVP-ZnO:RF with (5000 ppm).

#### 6.3.2 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) Analysis

An important factor in the development of the new materials based on polymeric blend is miscibility between the polymers in the mixture because the degree of miscibility is directly related to the final properties of polymeric blend gel. There are many studies related to the miscibility of PVA and PVP (Huang et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 1994). In the present study, the miscibility of PVP/PVA:RF blend was confirmed by DSC. Figures 6.3 (a-c) shows the DSC thermograms for the thermal behavior of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF polymeric gel systems. Polymer and the crosslinker ratio were the same in all samples i.e., 1:0.25. The scanning temperature ranges were from -20 to 200°C and the heating rate was 3°C/min. Gel samples were prepared at 90°C. The bond strength of the interaction between polymer and crosslinker can be determined by how much energy is required to break the bonds between polymer and crosslinker. This energy is referred to as degradation enthalpy. The stronger the interaction, the more endothermic energy is required to break down the bonds in gel systems. Conquering a higher degree of enthalpy would suggest the formation of a strong bond between polymer and crosslinker thus producing a gel with high gel strength. In addition, the temperature at which the crosslinked chains of the gel systems start to breakdown is known as the degradation temperature. At this temperature, the mobility of PVA and PVP chains increases. There are many possible direct and indirect interactions, which are responsible for strong and weak gel network. These both type interactions take place due to the hydrophilic nature of the polymer and crosslinker, which could form hydrogen bonds with water molecules. Indirect interactions take place as free or bound water. The free water is referred to as the absorbed water that is, water molecules attached to other water molecules via hydrogen bond. Meanwhile, the

bound water refers to water that is chemically bound to the surface as depicted in **Figure 6.2** (Liu et al., 2017).

In other words, the presence of bound water decreases the availability of direct interactions. It leads to a weak gel network. Therefore, in the presence of higher bound water, less endothermic energy is required to break the bond between polymer and crosslinker. The bound water and free water can be calculated from the endothermic peak from 0 to 7°C temperature through the following equation found in the literature (Asadizadeh et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2017; Michael et al., 2018):

$$W_b = (\Delta H/_{\Delta H^o}) \qquad \dots (viii)$$

$$W_f = 1 - W_b \qquad \dots (ix)$$

Where,  $W_b$  is the fraction of bound water,  $W_f$ , the fraction of free water,  $\Delta H$ , the enthalpy required for heating the free water in the gel and  $\Delta H^o$  is the 333.5 J/g standard degradation enthalpy for free water.



Figure 6.2 Water bonding types in gel and representation of free and bound water (Michael et al., 2018).

Two peaks were detected in the DSC curves of gel samples. The first peak is representing the presence of free water in the gel systems and the second peak represents the degradation temperature ( $T_{deg}$ ) of the gel systems. It was observed that PVP:RF gel system had higher free water, however, PVA:RF gel system had less free water.

From **Figures 6.3** (**a-c**) samples, it can be seen that when PVP concentration decreases, degradation temperature also decreases. From DSC results, it can also be observed that PVP:RF and PVP/PVA:RF samples show degradation at a higher temperature than PVA:RF. This could be due to the restriction of chain mobility of PVP and PVP/PVA (polymer and blend) due to strong hydrogen bonding (Abdelrazek et al., 2010; Nishio et al., 1990; Schindler et al., 2017; Yi et al., 2005).



Figure 6.3 DSC thermographs for all gel systems including free water evaporation and degradation peak (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP/PVA:RF (c) PVA:RF.

# 6.4 Rheological and Viscoelastic Measurements of Gels

# 6.4.1 Rheological and Viscoelastic Measurements of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gels

#### 6.4.1.1 Shear Rate Dependent Viscosity Test

**Figure 6.4** demonstrates the viscosity vs shear rate plot for all samples. The flow curves for PVP/PVA:RF blend was similar to that of the PVA:RF and PVP:RF gels. The results prove that the shear viscosity of all the blends decreases with increasing shear rate, which is typical of viscoelastic non-Newtonian or shear-thinning viscoelastic. Polymeric blend showed shear viscosity, which is lower than PVP:RF and higher than PVA:RF gel systems. However, PVP:RF showed higher viscosity than PVA:RF and PVP/PVA:RF gel (Chand et al., 2014).

The lower viscosity of the PVA:RF gel system could be attributed to a decrease in the semi-crystalline property of PVA due to the presence of salt. The decrease in the shear viscosity could be attributed to the alignment of chain segments of all the samples in the direction of applied stress. **Figure 6.4** again shows that the shear viscosity is constantly decreasing and it can be predicted that all the blends showed a Newtonian molten flow. It indicates the same behavior of polymer gels and polymeric blend gel. The dependence of shear viscosity on the shear rate at all shear rate regime is more pronounced as the amount of gel component varied. The increase in viscosity was probably due to increased interaction between hydroxyl groups or hydrogen bonding.



Figure 6.4 Shear thinning behavior graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels.

#### 6.4.1.2 Frequency Sweep Test

The frequency ( $\omega$ ) or rate of deformation dependence on elastic (G') and viscous (G") moduli of the gel samples were further tested by sweeping the frequency (1 Hz to 100 Hz) at a constant strain. To determine the mixing of two polymers on the stability of gels. As given in **Figure 6.5**, it can be seen that within the frequency range tested, the storage modulus (G') increased with increasing frequency. The curves of G' versus  $\omega$  followed almost a linear mixing rule (Arsad et al., 2013). It was found that the value of G' of the polymeric blend was in between PVP:RF gel and PVA:RF polymeric gel. That indicates the formation of a new structure in this blend. It was believed that the interaction has occurred among PVA, PVP, and RF. It can be attributed that new copolymer formations took place at the interface of the blend. The interaction can stabilize the interface by reducing the coalescence and interfacial adhesion and viscosity.



Figure 6.5 Frequency dependent storage and loss modulus graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels.

On the other hand, it should be emphasized that PVP:RF and PVA:RF gels have high viscosity and low viscosity respectively. However, the viscosity of PVP/PVA:RF blend gel is in between these two gel systems having desired viscosity. This phenomenon of blend could be attributed to set the desired relaxation time due to the decrease in semi-crystalline property of PVA due to the blending of PVP in gels.

The response of loss modulus G" against frequencies of different gel samples is represented in **Figure 6.5**. As far as G" is concerned, PVP:RF produced a higher loss modulus and PVA:RF produced a lower loss modulus. That indicates higher energy dissipation compared to PVA:RF with PVP:RF. This indicates that the viscous components of the blends could be changing the concentrations of PVA, PVP, and RF.

#### 6.4.1.3 Complex Viscosity Dependent Frequency Graph

The complex viscosity dependence on the frequency of gels and polymeric gel blend is shown in **Figure 6.6**. From the Figure, it is clear that PVP:RF shows higher complex viscosity than PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems. Therefore, the data indicated that the viscosities of different gel systems can be changed by changing polymers i.e., PVA, PVP and blend of these two. The blending of polymer gel resulted in significant changes in their rheological properties.



Figure 6.6 Complex viscosity versus frequency graph of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gels.

In general, the polymeric blend gel and pure polymeric gels presented a typical behavior, exhibiting a shear-thinning regime at all frequencies studied. The material exhibits solid-like nature if G' is more than G", or liquid-like behaviour, if G" is more than G'. Therefore, from results, it could be ascribed that gel systems showed a solid-like characteristic and can be categorized as viscoelastic materials.

#### 6.4.2 Effect of ZnO Nanoparticles on Rheological Properties of the Gels

#### 6.4.2.1 Shear Rate vs Viscosity Analysis

The viscosity vs shear rate graphs for all three samples are depicted in **Figure 6.7** given below. The deformation behavior of prepared gels can be described by plotting shear rate dependent viscosity graph. On increasing shear rate viscosity decreases. These trends indicate the shear thinning nature of gels (Chand et al., 2014).



Figure 6.7 Shear thinning behavior of PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm)and PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm).

#### 6.4.2.2 Frequency Sweep Analysis

To determine the rheological properties of conventional and nanocomposite gel systems, the frequency sweep test was conducted. The frequency range was 1Hz to 100Hz at a constant strain of 1.0% at room temperature. It was observed from the result that the elastic modulus (G') values are higher than loss modulus (G'') as shown in **Figure 6.8**. It indicates that the value of elastic modulus is dominating over the value of viscous modulus. These results indicate solid or rubber-like characteristic of gel systems and there is also no crossover or gel point although we go to very low frequency. At this point, we have reached a gel, solid-like behavior. The values of modulus show that interaction between particles of the formed network is very high and physical forces act as a bond. Nanocomposite gel showed higher elastic and loss modulus than conventional gel (Arsad et al., 2013).



Figure 6.8 Frequency dependent storage and loss modulus graph for different behavior for PVP:RF, PVP-ZnO:RF (2000 ppm) and PVP-ZnO:RF with (5000 ppm).

#### 6.4.3 Rheological and Viscoelastic Measurements of PVA:RF Gels

To carry out rheological experiments, 4 different gel systems (1:1, 1:0.5, 1:0.25 and 1:0.1) aged for 24, 48, 144 and 168 hours respectively at 90°C temperature were selected. Viscous properties dependent on temperature (this measurement was carried out at temperature range from 30-80°C) and shear rate and viscoelastic properties, storage and loss modulus (G' and G'') dependent on frequency and amplitude were determined at room temperature.

#### 6.4.3.1 Strain Sweep Test

The gel strength i.e., up to what extent, the polymeric gel deformation takes place without tearing of the gel network and the determination of the linear viscoelastic region of the gel system are the two most important points during the placement of the gel into the reservoir. This strain sweep test was carried out at a constant frequency of 1 H<sub>z</sub> for all four samples of PVA:RF as shown in **Figure 6.9**. The polymeric gel systems were prepared at room temperature and aged for different time intervals at a temperature of 90°C. It was found that for PVA:RF 1:1 gel system, elastic modulus is higher and for 1:0.1 is lower as shown in **Figure 6.9** given below. It shows that for all ratio of PVA:RF, the value of elastic modulus and loss modulus is almost constant until up to 0.01% values of strain. Consequently, it shows a similar response to Hookian behavior and that area is called the linear viscoelastic region. Also, we can see, that the values of G' are much higher than G" values, which show that the elastic nature is dominant over viscous nature.



Figure 6.9 Amplitude dependent (a) storage modulus (b) loss modulus graph for crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel at room temperature.

From 0.01% to 1.0%, the values of the elastic modulus as well as viscous modulus decrease for all PVA:RF ratio, which shows the non-linear viscoelastic region of gel systems. **Figures 6.9a and 6.9b** shows that the strength of the gel system increases when the concentration of crosslinker increases (Chand et al., 2014).

#### 6.4.3.2 Temperature Dependent Viscosity Test

Temperature dependent viscosity test was performed to examine the behavior of polymeric gel in the temperature range of 30-80°C and the graph leading to it is shown in **Figure 6.10.** The viscosity of all gel samples was found to be dependent on the temperature. As the temperature of these gels increases, viscosity decreases. Precise measurements of these gel samples are essential for using the gelant solution in coreflood studies. The time scale of the rheometer with temperature was around 15 minutes but that for the gelation kinetics is over 48 hours.



Figure 6.10 Temperature dependent viscosity graph for different crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel from a temperature range 30-80°C.

#### 6.4.3.3 Shear Rate Dependent Viscosity Test

Figure 6.11 shows the effect of different concentrations of crosslinker (RF) on PVA:RF gel at different shear rates. The results show that the shear viscosity of all the ratio of PVA:RF decreases with increasing shear rate, which is typical of viscoelastic non-Newtonian or shear thinning. The decrease in shear viscosity can be attributed to the alignment of chain segments of gels in the direction of applied stress. Figures 6.11a and 6.11b again show that the flow curves are different for 1:1, 1:0.5 and 1:0.25 and 1:0.1 combinations respectively. Figure 6.11a shows the variation in viscosity with shear rate (0.001 - 1 s<sup>-1</sup>). In 1:1and 1:0.5, PVA:RF gel system, shear viscosity linearly decreases and shear rate increases. That behavior of gel systems could be attributed to that this system shows non-Newtonian type characteristics at the low shear rate as well high shear rate or there is a drastic change in microstructure properties of gel from equilibrium even when the shear rate is low. In softer samples, the shear thinning effect is not as prevalent. Figure 6.11b shows the variation in viscosity with shear rate  $(1-100 \text{ s}^{-1})$ . It indicates that, at a lower shear rate, the viscosity change is very low, and it can be predicted that these gels showed a Newtonian molten flow. Thus, there is not much change in non-Newtonian behavior at a lower shear rate compared to 1:1 and 1:0.5, PVA:RF gel system. The viscosity increased with increasing the concentration of RF. The increase in viscosity was probably due to increased hydrogen bonding interaction between PVA and RF (Chand et al., 2014).



Figure 6.11 Shear thinning behavior of different crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel (a) 1:1 and 1:0.5 (b) 1:0.25 and 1:0.1.

#### 6.4.3.4 Frequency Sweep Test

**Figure 6.12** displays the relationship between modulus and frequency ( $\omega$ ) for the PVA:RF gels containing different concentrations of RF. In **Figure 6.12a**, it can be seen that within the frequency range tested, the storage modulus increased with an increase in frequency. The curve of elastic modulus and frequency almost followed a linear mixing rule, which is at a static frequency; the storage modulus increased with increasing the amount of crosslinker. It was found that the value of G' of the PVA:RF gel was higher as compared to other gel systems with the whole frequency (rad/s) region, indicating different kinds of structure of these gel systems. As shown in **Figure 6.12a** for PVA:RF system, it could be attributed that the interaction has occurred between PVA with RF and formed copolymers at the interface of the gels. The interaction can stabilize the interface by reducing the coalescence and interfacial tension, resulting in enhancement of the interfacial adhesion and viscosity.



Figure 6.12 Frequency dependent (a) storage modulus (b) loss modulus graph for crosslinker concentrations of PVA:RF gel at room temperature.

**Figure 6.12b** shows the response of loss modulus (G") vs frequency at different PVA:RF ratio. As far as G" is concerned, it can be seen that higher concentration of RF in the gel systems produce a higher viscous modulus, indicating higher energy dissipation compared to the gel systems with lower RF concentrations. These loss modulus responses of different PVA:RF concentrations appeared to deviate systematically from the behavior of all gel samples (Arsad et al., 2013).

## 6.5 Conclusions

- DSC data exhibited the thermal stability of all three gel systems and it may be confirmed that PVP:RF and PVP/PVA:RF gel systems showed good stability in comparison to PVA:RF.
- TGA analysis showed better thermal stability of nanocomposite gels (PVP-ZnO:RF) in comparison to conventional gel (PVP:RF).
- Viscosities of gel systems were determined as a function of shear rate and results demonstrated shear thinning behavior of gels. At a fixed frequency, the complex viscosity increased for PVP:RF system.

• The storage or elastic modulus(G') and loss and viscous modulus (G'') were determined as a function of frequency and the result illustrated that elastic modulus is higher than the viscous modulus. It indicates the viscoelastic nature of gel systems.
# CHAPTER 7 SANDPACK/CORE FLOODING STUDY

# CHAPTER 7 SANDPACK/CORE FLOODING STUDY

## 7.1 Introduction

Excess water production in hydrocarbon reservoirs is one of the major issues faced by the upstream hydrocarbon industries. Due to excess water production problem, the reservoir becomes mature early than actual. The cost of separation, lifting, handling and disposal of this water is another big issue (Ma et al., 2007). Corrosion, emulsion, scale formation and environment unease are among the issues faced by the industries because of produced excess water. Subsequently, there is a need to reduce produced water. The objective of hydrocarbon industries is to get more oil from the existing oilfields under current circumstances (Hua et al., 2015). The new techniques have been to recuperate more oil and less water from the oilfields through some new strategies. Many EOR techniques, for example, water flooding, polymer flooding and so forth are in progress in numerous oilfields around the globe for the last several years. However, heterogeneity in the reservoir reduces the effectiveness of these EOR techniques. Ergun equation was used to calculate change in particle diameter in the core after gelation (Abirov et al., 2020).

The objective of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of polymeric gel systems in sandpack and core in terms of permeability. Pre and post gelation permeability were determined. The RRF and PPR was calculated to determine the reduction in permeability.

## 7.2 Procedure

To test the effectiveness of the prepared gel systems for water shut-off purposes, a coreflood and sandpack study were conducted. In this study, the Berea core and sandpack was used. An experimental set up for this experiment is given in **Figure 7.1.** Ergun equation was used to change in the particle diameter.



Figure 7.1 Schematic experimental setup for the sandpack or core flooding study.

#### 7.2.1 Sandpack Flooding Study

For carrying out sandpack studies, sand used for the flooding experiments was collected from a commercial retail outlet, which was washed using toluene and dried in the oven for 48 hours at a temperature of 100°C. The Sandpack was prepared manually in a cylindrical pipe (diameter: 3.81 cm and length 61.3 cm) made of stainless steel supplied by D-CAM Engineering, Ahmedabad, India through the bashing of dry sand together with 2.0% NaCl (brine). Sandpack holder consists of an electrical thermal jacket with a temperature controller to create the desired

temperature during flooding experiments. The sandpack flooding setup consists of a horizontal sandpack holder, a syringe pump (100DX, Teledyne ISCO, USA), fluid accumulators and a flask to collect the effluent. A flow rate of 1mL/minute was used and kept constant in the process. Sandpack flooding experiments were started with the brine injection as preflush to ensure the water saturation (100%) in sandpacks. Absolute permeability to brine for each sandpack was determined using Darcy's law. Brine injection was followed by the injection of diesel oil in the sandpack until there was no more water produced as effluent. This is called the condition of irreducible water saturation (S<sub>wi</sub>). The original oil in place (OOIP) was calculated using material balance calculations from the brine produced. This produced brine is considered as original oil in place. Again, sandpack was flooded with brine. All the solutions were injected in the sandpacks at a constant flow rate of 1mL/minute using a syringe pump and pressure drop across the pack was recorded. After injection of brine, 3-4 pore volumes of gelant was injected in the sandpack and the pack was shut-in for desired time to ensure the gel formation in the pack. After gel formation, brine, diesel oil and again brine were injected one by one to see the variation in permeability. Toluene was used as a pushing fluid in the study and temperature was kept 90°C (Goswami et al., 2018; Chaturvedi et al., 2019). Darcy's law was used to calculate relative permeabilities of brine before and after gel treatments. After that, percentage permeability and a residual resistance factor (RRF) were calculated. The sandpack represents sandstone reservoirs of fair porosity and permeability. After calculating pre and post gelation relative permeability of gel, RRF and PPR were calculated using following formula:

$$k = \frac{Q\mu L}{0.78d^2 \Delta P} \qquad \dots \qquad (\mathbf{x})$$

Where, Q is the flow rate (cm<sup>3</sup>/s),  $\mu$ , the viscosity of the brine (cP), L, the length of the sandpack holder (in cm),  $\Delta P$ , the pressure drop (atm), d, diameter of sandpack (cm) and k, the permeability (Darcy).

$$RRF = \frac{\lambda_{wi}}{\lambda_{wa}} = \frac{K_{wi} \,\mu_{wa}}{K_{wa} \,\mu_{wi}} \qquad \dots \dots (xi)$$

$$PPR = 1 - \frac{K_{wa}}{K_{wi}} * 100$$
 ..... (xii)

Where,  $\lambda_{wi}$  and  $\lambda_{wa}$  are water mobility ratio before and after gel treatment, however,  $K_{wi}$  and  $K_{wa}$  are water absolute permeability before and after gel treatment.

#### 7.2.2 Core Flooding Procedure

To test the effectiveness of the prepared gel system for water shut-off, a coreflood study was carried out using core. In this study, the Berea core was used. Berea core was placed in the stainless steel core holder. There were two outlets on the body of the core holder apart from inlet and outlet and all these four outlets on core holders were connected to the pressure transducers and pressure recording system for recording pressure at these points during flow studies. The core with core holder assembly was preheated in hot air to a desired temperature of 90°C. A high-pressure syringe pump was used for pumping fluids in the core holder. The injection rate of the brine solution was 10 mL/hr. 3-4 Pore volumes of brine (2.0 % NaCl) and kerosene were passed through the core. Kerosene was also used as a pushing fluid for brine. Initially, the pressure was constant when the syringe pump was started. Darcy's permeability equation was used to calculate the value of pre and post gelation relative permeability to brine. Subsequently, after the brine and kerosene saturation, the gelant solution was injected in the core in a similar condition. Approximately 3-4 pore volumes of gelant was used to completely saturate the core.

A gelant sample from the same lot as used in the coreflood experiment was also kept separately in the same oven so as to ensure the formation of the gel inside the core. After the confirmation of gel formation, again brine and kerosene were injected through it at the same condition to find out the post gelation permeability to brine (Kumar et al., 2019; Singh and Mahto, 2015). The effluent of the brine sample was collected in a measuring cylinder with time and the relative permeability was calculated using the Darcy's equation.

$$K = \frac{Q\mu L}{A\Delta P} \qquad \dots (\text{xiii})$$

Where, k *is* permeability (Darcy), Q, the flow rate (mL/s),  $\mu$ , viscosity of the fluid (cP), L, the length of core (cm), A, the cross-section area of the core (cm<sup>2</sup>) and  $\Delta P$  is the pressure drop across core (atm). After calculating pre and post gelation permeability of gel, RRF and PPR were also calculated using given below formulae.

$$RRF = \frac{\text{permeability to oil and water before gel injection}}{\text{permeability to oil and water after gel injection}} \qquad \dots (xiv)$$

$$PPR = 1 - \frac{\text{post gelation permeability}}{\text{Pre gelation per meability}} * 100 \qquad \dots (xv)$$

# 7.2.3 Calculation of the Diameter of the Core and Particles Before and After Gel Treatment

Ergun equation and modified Ergun equation was used to calculate particle diameter within the core. All required parameters of core and fluid properties were calculated during coreflood study.

## 7.3 Result and Discussion

# 7.3.1 Gelation Performance Study of PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF Gels after Flowing Through Porous Media

Sandpack experiments were used to study the water shut-off capacity of the PVP, PVA based gel systems. The result indicated that the PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems have good effectiveness in porous media. Furthermore, the stronger the gel strength, the higher the effectiveness in terms of PPR and RRF were observed. It can be seen for PVP:RF gel system in comparison to PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems. The experimental results have been shown in **Table 7.1**.

The gelant solutions were injected into the sandpacks. After 24 hours, more than predefined gelation time, gels were crosslinked and there was retention in the sandpacks. Through retention in the large channels, bridging across the pore throats and adsorption on the sand surface, these gels systems reduced the permeability into the sandpacks. Porosities of the sandpacks were found between 28-30%. It can be seen that the PPR and a residual resistance factor at 90°C temperature are more than 90% and 14 respectively. All the gel samples have shown subsequent plugging effectiveness of the sandpack. PVA:RF gel system exhibits little low effectiveness than PVP/PVA:RF and PVP:RF systems. It may be due to the decrease in the crystalline properties of the PVA and salt effect. PVP/PVA:RF gel systems revealed moderate effectiveness, while PVP:RF system showed greater effectiveness than the former two gel systems. The gel system used in porous media showed the plugging ability and suitability of these gel systems for water shut-off treatments.

Gel systems	Gel strength (Pa)		Relative permeability (md)		PPR	RRF
	Fresh gel	Effluent gel	Before	After		
			Darcy	Darcy	(%)	
PVP:RF	26,000	22,500	0.594	.0271	95.44	21.88
PVP/PVA:RF	21,500	18,000	0.586	.0351	94.01	16.71
PVA:RF	18,000	15,000	0.575	.0410	92.86	14.01

TT. 1.1. PT 1 XX7. 4	1 4 66	• • • • • •	6 1	1		1 .	• • • • • • • • •
Ignie / I Water	chit-ott	canacity	οτ σει	CVCTAMC I	w cana	nack ev	neriments
Table 7.1 Match	shut-on	capacity	UL SU	by stems t	y sanu	раск сл	permento

The gel strength of fresh and effluent gel samples is shown in **Figure 7.2a**. Results show that PVP:RF gel system has higher gel strength in comparison to PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel systems. It can be seen in the depicted **Figure 7.2b** where residual resistance factor and percentage permeability reduction of blended polymer i.e., PVP/PVA:RF lies in between its parent's polymer system i.e., PVA:RF and PVP:RF. PVA:RF has a lower viscosity. The crosslinking mechanism of gel in bottles for fresh gel samples and effluent gel samples (after sandpack floodings) and in porous media is depicted in **Figures 7.2 (c-e)**. Original gel samples and effluent gel samples (PVP:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF) after sandpack flooding experiments were kept in a hot air oven at 90°C temperature and aged for 24, 36 and 48 hours respectively.



Figure 7.2 (a) Gel strengths of the fresh and effluent gel samples (b) Percentage permeability (c-e) Deformation of gel during sandpack flooding experiment.



Figure 7.3 Comparison diagrams of the gelation performance of the fresh and effluent (flowing through porous media) gel samples (a) PVP:RF (b) PVP/PVA:RF (c) PVA:RF.

In this study, the gelation performance of all three gel samples was continually observed through the bottle test to understand the difference of the gelation performance between the original gel samples and the samples after flowing through porous media. In **Figures 7.3** (**a-c**) left bottles of gels show that the original gel samples have an obvious strong 3-Dimensional structure. For original gel samples, it is demonstrated that the preliminary net structure of gels is formed.

#### 7.3.2 Sandpack Flooding Studies

For this experiment, the optimum solution of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF (polymer/ crosslinker ratio 1/0.25) was prepared. The porosity of the sandpack was found to be 28.30%. The experimental data of the sandpack study are shown in the **Table 7.2.** 

SI.	Dovometove	Observed values for gel systems			
No.	rarameters	PVP:RF	PVP-ZnO:RF with 5000 ppm ZnO		
1.	Initial permeability before gel injection (Darcy)	3.8245	4.2602		
2.	Post gelation permeability after gel injection (Darcy)	0.3009	0.1255		
3.	Percentage permeability reduction (PPR) (%)	92.1213	96.6256		
4.	Residual resistant factor (RRF)	12.7096	31.3094		

 Table 7.2 Sandpack study results for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF (5000 ppm)

Initially, the sandpack holder was kept in the preheated hot air oven at a temperature of 90°C. The initial absolute permeability for brine was found to be 3.8245 and 4.2602 Darcy for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel systems. After that, the gelant solution was injected into the sandpack and it was kept in an oven at 90°C for 3 days to ensure gelation. The schematic of the water shut-off mechanism is shown in **Figure 7.4**.

After gelation, the absolute permeability for brine was measured as 0.3009 and 0.1255 Darcy for PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF gel systems. Percentage permeability reduction was 96.6256% and 92.1213% and residual resistance factor were 31.3094 and 12.7096 respectively for nanocomposite and conventional gels. It is shown in **Figure 7.5.** The result of both gel systems shows that the nanocomposite gel system showed more effectiveness than the conventional gel system into the reservoirs up to 90°C.



Figure 7.4 Schematic of produced water and management of excessive water (a) High permeable zone (b) Gel treatment in production well (c) Diversion of water in low permeable zones.



Figure 7.5 Percentage permeability reduction and residual resistance factor results of PVP:RF and PVP-ZnO:RF.

### 7.3.3 Coreflood Studies

For this experiment, the optimum solution of PVA:RF crosslinked gelant (polymer/crosslinker ratio 1/0.5) was prepared. The experimental data of the sandpack study is shown in **Table 7.3.** The initial relative permeability of brine was found to be 0.0025 Darcy. After that, the gelant solution was injected into the Berea core and the gelant containing core was kept in the preheated hot air oven for 3 days. After in-situ gelation, 2.0% NaCl solution (brine) was injected again into the core at 90°C temperature to determine the effectiveness of the gel system. After gelation, the permeability of brine measured as 0.0001 Darcy. Percentage permeability reduction was 96% and the calculated residual resistance factor was found to be 25. The result showed that PVA:RF gel system can be effectively used in reservoirs up to a high temperature of 90°C.

Parameters	Results
Core specifications	
Sample	Berea core
Length (cm)	3.834
Diameter (cm)	7.108
The dry weight of the core (gm)	191.551
Pore volume (cc)	11.5
Porosity	14.06%
Water recovered by displacing with (cc) oil	8
Initial oil saturation (S <sub>oi</sub> )	69.46%
Initial water saturation (S <sub>wi</sub> )	30.54%
Oil recovered by water flooding (cc)	6
% recovery of oil	75%
Residual oil saturation	17.36%
Pre relative permeability to brine (Darcy)	0.0025
Post relative permeability to brine (Darcy)	0.0001
Residual resistance factor for brine (RRF)	25
Percentage permeability reduction (PPR)	96%

 Table 7.3 Berea core data and experimental investigation results of

 the core flooding study

# 7.3.4 Particle Diameter Calculation of the Core Using the Ergun Equation Before and After Gel Treatment

Using this equation diameter of core particles  $(D_p)$  before gel injection and increment in particle diameter  $(\Delta D_p)$  after gel injection of the core can be calculated for Berea core. Pressure drop, before and after gel injection, flow rate and porosity of core were calculated during the core flood experiment (Ozahi et al., 2008). Core parameters, fluid properties, the diameter of core particles and change in diameter of core particles are given in **Table 7.4**.

Core specifications and fluid properties	
Sample	Berea core
Length (mm)	71.08
Diameter (mm)	38.34
Flow rate (mL/min)	0.00277
void space or porosity ( $\epsilon$ )	14.06%
Viscosity of 2% NaCl (µ) (Pa.s)	0.001036
Density of 2% NaCl (ρ) (g/mm <sup>3</sup> )	0.001011
Initial pressure $(\Delta P_i)$ (Pa)	45000
Final pressure $(\Delta P_f)$ (Pa)	345000
particle diameter before gel injection (D <sub>p</sub> ) (mm)	39.84 x 10 <sup>-5</sup>
Particle diameter after gel injection ( $\Delta D_p$ ) (mm)	4.26 x 10 <sup>-5</sup>

 Table 7.4 Core parameters and fluid properties

Particle sphericity ( $\Phi$ ) was assumed 1 in this equation. The well-known equation was developed by Ergun, which is as follows:

$$\frac{\Delta P_i}{L} \frac{D_p}{\rho V_s^2} \frac{(\epsilon^3)}{(1-\epsilon)} = 150 \frac{(1-\epsilon)\mu}{\rho V_s D_p} + 1.75 \qquad \dots (xvi)$$

$$V_{S=} \frac{Flow \ rate}{\Pi r^2} \qquad \dots \dots (xvii)$$

where,  $\Delta P_i$  (Pascal) is the pressure drop, which was calculated during the coreflood experiment as a function of brine flow rate (flow rate was 10 mL/s), V<sub>s</sub>, the flow velocity of brine at core surface (mm/s), L, the length of core (mm),  $\epsilon$ , the void space or porosity of the core (dimensionless unit),  $\rho$ , density of brine (g/mm<sup>3</sup>),  $\mu$ , viscosity of brine (Pa.s) and D<sub>p</sub>, particle diameter (mm).

After calculating the value of  $D_p$ , using eq. (xvi), modified Ergun equation was used to calculate  $\Delta D_p$ .

$$\frac{\Delta P_f}{L} \frac{(D_p + \Delta D_p)}{\rho V_s^2} \frac{(\epsilon + \Delta \epsilon)^3}{1 - \epsilon - \Delta \epsilon} = 150 \frac{(1 - \epsilon - \Delta \epsilon)\mu}{\rho V_s (D_p + \Delta D_p)} + 1.75 \qquad \dots (xviii)$$

Where,  $\Delta P_f$  is pressure in Pa after gel treatment and  $\Delta \epsilon$  is modified void space.  $\Delta \epsilon$  can be calculated as below

$$\Delta \epsilon = \frac{P_m}{(P_{b-P_m})} \frac{3.\epsilon \, \Delta D_p}{D_p} \qquad \dots \dots \text{(xix)}$$

Where,  $P_b$  and  $P_m$  are bulk and medium densities (g/mm<sup>3</sup>) of core particles respectively.

From the results, it can be concluded that particle diameter increases 10% after the gelation.

## 7.4 Conclusions

- All gel samples show good effectiveness in porous media.
- Remarkable permeability reduction was found in case of all the gels systems i.e., PVA:RF, PVP/PVP:RF and PVP:RF but PVP:RF gel systems which show highest- profile control performance.

- Compared with the result obtained from fresh and effluent gel sample, the gel strength of effluent obviously found to be decreased and the gelation time of effluent gel increased.
- The sandpack studies (at 75°C temperature) revealed that the relative permeability of the sandpack decreased by 97% using nanocomposite gel as compared to conventional gel, which could reduce the relative permeability by 92%. Therefore, it can be concluded that PVP-ZnO:RF is more effective than PVP:RF.
- In PVA:RF gel system, core flood study was carried out to test effectiveness of gel system. The study showed impressive results of permeability reduction and residual resistance factor with no observance of infectivity problem. The gel system was thermally stable over a long period of time.
- Particle diameter increases 10% after the gelation.

# CHAPTER 8 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

# CHAPTER 8 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

### 8.1 Summary and Conclusions

To overcome excessive water problem and heterogeneity, the chemical methods including injection gelling systems, preformed particle gels, in-situ gels, foams, etc. have been widely used for excessive water control in oilfields globally. In recent decades, excessive water control or profile control was purposed to improve the efficiency of unwept zones, which has shown a clear effect on oil recovery. Among them, gels prepared by polymers crosslinked with crosslinkers have been demonstrated to be a cost-effective technique and usually applied for enhancing oil recovery factors by controlling excessive water. Even though soft materials are widely used in reservoirs, they need some enhancement in their gel strength, thermal stability and elastic properties under harsh reservoir conditions. While developing a new polymer hydrogel system for harsh reservoirs, some environmental conditions such as pH level, salinity and temperature are important to consider. In this research work we have synthesized hydrogels, blends gels and nanocomposite gels. Gelation study, thermal study, rheological study and in-situ gelation study of these gels was thoroughly studied.

The following conclusions were drawn from the present research work.

1. All the gel systems were prepared and screened for water shut-off treatment using bulk gelation studies and sandpack flooding experiments. During the gelation study of prepared gels, it was observed that on increasing polymer or crosslinker concentration, gel strength increased and gelation time

129

decreased. The temperature and salt effect was also checked of prepared gel systems. It was observed that at higher temperature gel strength increased and gelation time decreased and it was found that on increasing salt concentration gel strength decreased.

- 2. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) analysis manifested the conclusion about the specific hydrogen bonding interaction between polymer and crosslinker and the results showed that due to hydrogen bonding, the frequency of –OH stretching mode decreased. Nanocomposite gel (PVP-ZnO:RF) showed a metal-oxygen bond that was absent in the conventional gel system (PVP:RF).
- 3. Field emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM) results revealed the formation of 3D molecular structures in all gel systems. In PVA:RF gel systems it was observed that higher hydrogen bonding leads to the rough surface. Three-dimensional structure of PVP/PVA:RF gels showed a network structure in comparison to PVP:RF and PVA:RF gel systems.
- 4. Thermal studied was carried out using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). This data confirmed the thermal stability of all three gel systems but PVP:RF gel system revealed higher thermal stability due to the presence of less bound water than PVP/PVA:RF and PVA:RF gel system. Thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) analysis showed better thermal stability of nanocomposite gels (PVP:RF with ZnO) in comparison to conventional gel (PVP:RF).
- 5. Shear thinning and viscoelastic behavior of gels were confirmed by using a rheometer. Viscosities of gel systems were determined as a function of shear

rate and results demonstrated shear thinning behaviour of gels. At a fixed frequency, the complex viscosity increased for PVP:RF system. In PVA:RF gel systems, higher crosslinker concentration and nanocomposite gels (PVP-ZnO:RF) showed higher viscosity of gel. In all gel samples, the storage or elastic modulus(G') and loss and viscous modulus (G'') were determined as a function of frequency and the result illustrated that elastic modulus is higher than the viscous modulus. It indicates the viscoelastic nature of gel systems.

- 6. Remarkable permeability reduction was found in the case of all the gels systems i.e., PVA:RF, PVP/PVA:RF and PVP:RF but PVP:RF gel systems which show highest-profile control performance. Sandpack study result concluded that the nanocomposite gel system shows more permeability reduction than the conventional gel system. Core flood experimental data of PVA:RF gel system confirmed the effectiveness of gel at 90°C as the percentage permeability reduction result was 96%.
- 7. Using the Ergun equation it is confirmed that the diameter of core particles or particle size of Berea core increases almost 10% after gel injection. This result also confirms that PVA:RF gel system can be successfully used for water shut-off treatments at 90°C.

## 8.2 Future Work

Although the provided results for hydrogels are quite good but some improvements can still be made. There are numerous lines of research arising from this work which should be pursued as well as identifying future topics to expand and further develop the reported research. The future recommendations and suggestions in the area of polymeric gels for water shut-off jobs in hydrocarbon reservoirs under reservoir conditions are the following.

- Firstly, the improvement in rheological (viscosity and elastic behaviour) and thermal (stability of polymers at high temperatures) properties of conventional and nanocomposite hydrogels.
- Secondly, the effect of different salt concentrations on hydrogels will be studied in detail to improve salt resistance capability of hydrogels.
- Finally, we would extend our core flood study of gels at different flow rates, pressure and salts.



- Al-Dossary, A.F., Al-warthan, A., Al-Badran, M., Al-Ghamdi, I.S., Mutawaa, W., 2017. The ideal approach for casing leak repairs in old wells. Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition & Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 188478-ms.
- Al-Ghanim, J., Al-Nufaili, S., 2010. Middle East field water production mechanisms. SPE 127934/SPE Oil and Gas India Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/127934-MS.
- Al-Hajri, S., Mahmood, S.M., Akbari, S., Abdulelah, H., 2019. Gelation behavior as a function of concentration of sodium thiosulfate for PAM gels cross-linked with chromium. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 1539-1546. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13202-018-0566-9.
- Al-Muhtaseb, S.A., Ritter, J.A., 2003. Preparation and properties of resorcinolformaldehyde organic and carbon gels. Adv. Mater. 15, 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200390020.
- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Hussein, I.A., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Amin, M.B., 2007. Viscoelastic properties of a high temperature cross-linked water shut-off polymeric gel. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 55, 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol. 2006.04.004.
- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Hussein, I.A., 2007. A rheological investigation of a high temperature organic gel used for water shut-off treatments. J. Pet. Engi. Sci. 59, 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol. 2007.02.010.

- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Hussein, I.A., 2007. A rheological investigation of a high temperature organic gel used for water shut-off treatments. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 59, 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol. 2007.02.010.
- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Al-Noaimi, K., Zitha, P.L.J., 2009. A study of polyacrylamide-based gels crosslinked with polyethyleneimine. SPE J. 14, 245-251. https://doi.org/10.2523/105925-ms.
- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Sierra, L., Garzon, F., Lynn, J., Izquierdo, G., 2010. Water shut-off with polymer gels in a high temperature horizontal gas well: A success story. SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. https://doi.org/ 10.2523/129848-ms.
- Al-Muntasheri, G.A., 2012. Conformance control with polymer gels: what it takes to be successful. Arab. J. Sci. Engi. 37, 1131-1141. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13369-012-0234-1.
- Al-Shakry, B., Shiran, B.S., Skauge, T., Skauge, A., 2018. Enhanced oil recovery by polymer flooding: optimizing polymer injectivity. SPE Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Annual Technical Symposium and Exhibition. https://doi.org/ 10.2118/192437-ms.
- Abdelrazek, E.M., Elashmawi, I.S., Labeeb, S., 2010. Chitosan filler effects on the experimental characterization, spectroscopic investigation and thermal studies of PVA/PVP blend films. Physica B 405, 2021–2027. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physb.2010.01.095.
- Abdollahi, M., Rouhani, M., 2012. Hydrophilic polymer/fumed silica hybrid nanoparticles synthesized via surface-initiated redox polymerization. J. Polym. Reser. 19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10965-012-0005-4.

- Abdulbaki, M., Huh, C., Sepehrnoori, K., Delshad, M., Varavei, A., 2014. A critical review on use of polymer microgels for conformance control purposes. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 122, 741-753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2014.06.034.
- Abirov, R., Ivakhnenko, A.P., Abirov, Z., Eremin, N.A., 2020. The associative polymer flooding: an experimental study. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 10, 447-454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-019-0696-8.
- Adewunmi, A.A., Ismail, S., Sultan, A.S., 2015. Study on strength and gelation time of polyacrylamide/polyethyleneimine composite gels reinforced with coal fly ash for water shut-off treatment. J .Appl. Polym. Sci. 132. https://:doi.org / 10.1002/app.41392.
- Adnan, M., Dalod, A., Balci, M., Glaum, J., Einarsrud, M.A., 2018. In situ synthesis of hybrid inorganic polymer nanocomposites. Polymers 10, 1129. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym10101129.
- Agi, A., Junin, R., Gbadamosi, A., 2018. Mechanism governing nanoparticle flow behaviour in porous media: insight for enhanced oil recovery applications. Inter. Nano Let. 8, 49-77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40089-018-0237-3.
- Albonico, P., Lockhart, T.P., 1993. Divalent ion-resistant polymer gels for hightemperature applications: syneresis inhibiting additives. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.2118/25220-ms.
- Albonico, P., Burrafato, G., Lullo, A.D., Lockhart, T.P., 1993. Effective gelationdelaying additives for Cr<sup>+3</sup>/polymer gels. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.2118/25221-ms.
- Albonico, P., Bartosek, M., Malandrino, A., Bryant, S., Lockhart, T.P., 1995. Studies on phenol-formaldehyde crosslinked polymer gels in bulk and in porous

media. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. https://doi.org/ 10.2523/28983-ms.

- Alfazazi, U., Al-Ameri, W., Hashmet, M.R., 2019. Experimental investigation of polymer flooding with low-salinity preconditioning of high temperature– high-salinity carbonate reservoir. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 1517-1530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-018-0563-z.
- Alghazal, M., Ertekin, T., 2018. Assisted design of polymer-gel floods in naturally fractured reservoirs using neuro-simulation based models. Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition & Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 192602-ms.
- Ali, J.A., Kolo, K., Manshad, A.K., Mohammadi, A.H., 2018. Recent advances in application of nanotechnology in chemical enhanced oil recovery: Effects of nanoparticles on wettability alteration, interfacial tension reduction, and flooding. Egypt. J. Pet. 27, 1371-1383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2018. 09.006.
- Almohsin, A., Michal, F., Alsharaeh, E., Bataweel, M., Krishnan, M., 2019. Selfhealing PAM composite hydrogel for water shutoff at high temperatures: thermal and rheological investigations. SPE Gas & Oil Technology Showcase and Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/198664-ms.
- Alomari, A.K., Anakira, N.R., Bataineh, A.S., Hashim, I., 2013. Approximate solution of nonlinear system of BVP arising in fluid flow problem. Maths Prob. Engi. 2013, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/136043.
- Alomair, O.A., Matar, K.M., Alsaeed, Y.H., 2014. Nanofluids application for heavy oil recovery. SPE Asia Pacific Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/171539-ms.

- Alquraishi, A.A., Alsewailem, F.D., 2012. Xanthan and guar polymer solutions for water shut off in high salinity reservoirs. Carbohydrate polym. 88, 859-863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.01.022.
- Alvarez-Berrios, M.P., Aponte-Reyes, L.M., Aponte-Cruz, L.M., Loman-Cortes, P., Vivero-Escoto, J.L., 2018. Effect of the surface charge of silica nanoparticles on oil recovery: wettability alteration of sandstone cores and imbibition experiments. Inter. Nano Let. 8, 181-188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40089-018-0243-5.
- Alvarado, V., Manrique, E., 2010. Enhanced oil recovery: an update review. Energies 3, 1529-1575. https://doi.org/10.3390/en3091529.
- Amir, Z., Said, I.M., Jan, B.M., 2019. In situ organically cross-linked polymer gel for high-temperature reservoir conformance control: A review. Polym. Adv. Technol. 30, 13-39. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.4455.
- An, L., Zhang, D., Zhang, L., Feng, G., 2019. Effect of nanoparticle size on the mechanical properties of nanoparticle assemblies. Nanoscale 11, 9563-9573. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr01082c.
- Aramideh, S., Vlachos, P.P., Ardekani, A.M., 2019. Nanoparticle dispersion in porous media in viscoelastic polymer solutions. J. Non-newtonian Flu. Mech. 268, 75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnnfm.2019.05.003.
- Archana, I.M., Bundjali, B., Yudistira, I., Jariah, B., Sukria, L., 2007. Study on Properties of Polymer Blends from Polypropylene with Polycaprolactone and Their Biodegradability. Polym. J. 39, 1337–1344. https://doi.org/10.1295/ polymj.pj2006250.

- Ariaratnam, G., Bhola, N., Roth, N., 2015. Produced water management: the challenges faced. Proceedings Article in OTC Brasil. https://doi.org/10.4043/ 26075-ms.
- Arnold, R., Burnett, D.B., Elphick, J., Feeley, T.J., Galbrun, M., Hightower, M., Jiang, Z., Khan, M., Lavery, M., Luffey, F., Verbeek. P., 2004. Managing water from waste to resources. Oilfield review. 16, 26-41.
- Arsad, A., Rahmat, A.R., Hassan, A., Mokhtar, M., Dali, S.N.M., 2013. Flow characteristics and dynamic behavior of Polyamide 6/Acrylonitile Butadiene Styrene (PA6/ABS) blend. Int. J. Polym. Mater. 62, 209-214. https://doi.org/10.1080/00914037.2011.641638.
- Asadizadeh, S., Ayatollahi, S., ZareNezhad, B., 2019. Performance evaluation of a new nanocomposite polymer gel for water shutoff in petroleum reservoirs. J. Disper. Sci. Technol. 40, 1479-1487. https://doi.org/10.1080/01932691.2018. 1518145.
- Babadagli, T., 2020. Philosophy of EOR. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 188, 106930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.106930.
- Baeza, G.P., Dessi, C., Costanzo, S., Zhao, D., Gong, S., Alegria, A., Colby, R.H., Rubinstein, M., Vlassopoulos, D., Kumar, S.K., 2016. Network dynamics in nanofilled polymers. Nature Communi.7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms 11368.
- Bai, Y., Xiong, C., Wei, F., Li, J., Shu, Y., Dexin Liu, D., 2015. Gelation study on a hydrophobically associating polymer/polyethylenimine gel system for water shut-off treatment. Energy Fuels, 29, 447-458. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ef502505k.

- Bai, B., Zhou, J., Yin, M., 2015. A comprehensive review of polyacrylamide polymer gels for conformance control. Pet. Explor. Devel. 42, 525-532. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1876-3804(15)30045-8.
- Bailey, B., Elphick, J., Kuchuk, F., Romano, C., Roodhart, L., 2000. Water control. Oilfield review, Schlumberger, 12, 30-51.
- Baraker, B., Lobo, B., 2016. Experimental study of PVA PVP blend films doped with cadmium chloride monohydrate. Ind. J. Pure Appl. Phy. 54, 634-640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2018.01.104.
- Bayat, A.E., Junin, R., Samsuri, A., Piroozian, A., Hokmabadi, M., 2014. Impact of metal oxide nanoparticles on enhanced oil recovery from limestone media at several temperatures. Energy Fuels 28, 6255-6266. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ef5013616.
- Bernal, A., Kuritka, I., Saha, P., 2012. Preparation and characterization of poly (vinyl alcohol) - poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) blend: A biomaterial with latent medical applications. J Appl. Polym. Sci. 127, 3560-3568. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/app.37723.
- Brice, B., Ning, S., Wood, A., Renouf, G., 2014. Optimum voidage replacement ratio and operational practice for heavy oil waterfloods. SPE Heavy Oil Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/170099-ms.
- Baojun, B., Liangxiong, L., Yuzhang, L., Zhongguo, W., He, L., 2004. Preformed particle gel for conformance control: factors affecting its properties and applications. Proceedings of SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. https://doi.org/10.2523/89389-ms.

- Broseta, D., Marquer, O., Alain, Z., Baylocq, P., Fery, J.J., 2000. Shear effects on polyacrylamide/chromium (III) acetate gelation. SPE Reser. Evalu. Engi. 3, 204-208. https://doi.org/10.2118/64500-pa.
- Bryant, S.L., Bartosek, M., Lockhart, T.P., Giacca, D., 1997. Polymer gelants for high temperature water shutoff applications. SPE J. 2, 44-454. https://doi.org/10.2118/36911-pa.
- Bybee, K., 2009. Solving excessive water production in a long horizontal open hole.J. Pet. Technol. 61, 63-65. https://doi.org/10.2118/0609-0063-jpt .
- Bybee, K., 2011. Evaluation of aquifer diversion after large polymer gel water shutoff treatments. J. Pet. Technol, 63, 81-82. https://doi.org/10.2118/0311-0081-JPT.
- Cascone, M.G., Lazzeri, J., Sparvoli, E., Scatena, M., Serino, L.P., Danti, S., 2004. Morphological evaluation of bioartificial hydrogels as potential tissue engineering scaffolds. J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Medi. 15, 1309-1313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-004-5739-z.
- Caulfield, M.J., Qiao, G.G., Solomon, D.H., 2002. Some aspects of the properties and degradation of polyacrylamides. Chem. Reviews. 102, 3067-3084. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr010439p.
- Chand, M., Shankar, A., Ali, N., Jain, K., Pant, R.P., 2014. An improved property of magneto-rheological fluids. RSC Adv. 4, 53960-53966. https://doi.org/10. 1039/c4ra07431a.
- Chaturvedi, K.R., Trivedi, J., Sharma, T., 2019. Evaluation of polymer-assisted carbonated water injection in sandstone reservoir: absorption kinetics,

rheology, and oil recovery results. Energy Fuels 33, 5438-5451. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b00894.

- Chen, L., Zhang, G., Ge, J., Jiang, P., Zhu, X., Ran, Y., Han, S., 2015. Ultrastable hydrogel for enhanced oil recovery based on double groups cross-linking. Energy Fuels, 29, 7196-7203. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels. 5b02124.
- Chen, Y., Li, Z., Miao, N., 2015. Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA)/CeO<sub>2</sub> hybrid particles for enhanced chemical mechanical polishing performance. Tribology Inter. 82, 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.triboint.2014.10.013.
- Cuomo, F., Cofelice, M., Lopez, F., 2019. Rheological characterization of hydrogels from alginate-based nanodispersion. Polymers. 11, 259. https://doi.org/10. 3390/polym11020259.
- Dang, T.Q.C., Chen, Z., Nguyen, T.B.N., Bae, W., 2014. The potential of enhanced oil recovery by micellar/polymer flooding in heterogeneous reservoirs. Energy Sources, Part A: Recov. Utiliz. Environ. 36, 1540-1554. https://doi.org/10.1080/15567036.2010.549912.
- Dannert, C., Stokke, B.T., Dias, R.S., 2019. Nanoparticle-hydrogel composites: from molecular interactions to macroscopic behaviour. Polymers 11, 275. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11020275.
- Das, B.M., Gogoi, S.B., Mech, D., 2017. Micellar polymer for enhanced oil recovery for Upper Assam Basin. Res. Effic. Technol. 3, 82-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reffit.2017.01.003.
- Difiglio, C., 2014. Oil, economic growth and strategic petroleum stocks. Energy Strategy Reviews. 5, 48-58.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2014.10.004.

- Divya, S., Saipriya, G., Hemalatha, J., 2016. Preparation and characterization of PVP-PVA– ZnO blend polymer nanocomposite films. Proceedings Article 1731, 050089. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4947743.
- Dovan, H.T., Hutchins, R.D., Sandiford, B.B., 1997. Delaying gelation of aqueous polymers at elevated temperatures using novel organic crosslinkers.
  Proceedings Article International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.2118/37246-ms.
- Druetta, P., Raffa, P., Picchioni, F., 2018. Plenty of room at the bottom: nanotechnology as solution to an old issue in enhanced oil recovery. Appl. Sci. 8, 2596. https://doi.org/10.3390/app8122596.
- Du, Y., Zhang, G., Ge, J., Li, G., Feng, A., 2013. Influence of oil viscosity on alkaline flooding for enhanced heavy oil recovery. J. Chem. 2013, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/938237.
- El-Hoshoudy, A.N., Desouky, S.E.M., Al-Sabagh, A.M., Betiha, M.A., El-kady M.Y., Mahmoud, S., 2017. Evaluation of solution and rheological properties for hydrophobically associated polyacrylamide copolymer as a promised enhanced oil recovery candidate. Egy. J. Pet. Pet. 26, 779-785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2016.10.012.
- El-Karsani, K.S.M., Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Hussein, I.A., 2014. Polymer systems for water shutoff and profile modification: a review over the last decade. SPE J. 19, 135-149. https://doi.org/10.2118/163100-pa.
- El-Karsani, K.S.M., Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Sultan, A.S., Hussein, I.A., 2015. Gelation of a water-shutoff gel at high pressure and high temperature: rheological investigation. SPE J. 20, 1103-1112. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 173185-PA.

- El-Karsani, K.S.M., Al-Muntasheri, G.A., Sultan, A.S., Hussein, I.A., 2015. Performance of PAM/PEI gel system for water shut-off in high temperature reservoirs: Laboratory study. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 132, 41869. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/app.41869.
- Elewaut, K., Stavland, A., Zaitoun, A., Krilov, Z., Zitha, P.L.J., 2005. Investigation of a novel chemical for bullhead water shutoff treatments. SPE European Formation Damage Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/94660-ms.
- Eoff, L.S., Dalrymple, E.D., Everett, D.M., Vasquez, J.E., 2007. Worldwide field applications of a polymeric gel system for conformance applications. SPE Prod. Oper. 22, 231-235. https://doi.org/10.2118/98119-PA.
- Esmaeili, A., Patel, R.B., Singh, B.P., 2011. Applications of nanotechnology in oil and gas industry. Proceedings Article, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3669944.
- Evdokimov, I.N., Eliseev, N.Y., Losev, A.P., Novikov, M.A., 2006. Emerging petroleum-oriented nanotechnologies for reservoir engineering. SPE Russian Oil and Gas Technical Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 102060-ms.

Excessive water production: Causes and diagnostics: Halliburton report 2013.

- Falode, O., Manuel, E., 2014. Wettability effects on capillary pressure, relative permeability, and irreducible saturation using a porous plate. J. Pet. Engi. 2014, 1-12 https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/465418.
- Fang, J., Zhang, X., He, L., Zhao, G., Dai, C., 2017. Experimental research of hydroquinone (HQ)/hexamethylenetetramine (HMTA) gel for water plugging treatments in high-temperature and high-salinity reservoirs. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 135. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.44359.

- Fiedot, M., Rac, O., Wozniak, S.P., Karbownik, I., Teterycz, H., 2014. Polymer surfactant interactions and their influence on zinc oxide nanoparticles morphology. Book Chapter: Manufacring nanostructures 2014.
- Flejszar, M., Chmielarz, P., 2019. Surface-initiated atom transfers radical polymerization for the preparation of well-defined organic–inorganic hybrid nanomaterials. Materials 12, 3030. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12183030.
- Ganguly, S., Willhite, G.P., Green, D.W., McCool, C.S., 2002. The effect of fluid leakoff on gel placement and gel stability in fractures. SPE J. 7, 309-315. https://doi.org/10.2118/79402-pa.
- Gbadamosi, A.O., Junin, R., Manan, M.A., Agi, A., Yusuff, A.S., 2019. An overview of chemical enhanced oil recovery: recent advances and prospects. Inter. Nano. Arti. 9, 171-202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40089-019-0272-8.
- Ge, J., Feng, A., Zhang, G., Jiang, P., Pei, H., Li, R., Fu, X., 2012. Study of the factors influencing alkaline flooding in heavy-oil reservoirs. Energy Fuels 26, 2875-2882. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef3000906.
- Ghoumrassi-Barr, S., Aliouche, D., 2016. A rheological study of xanthan polymer for enhanced oil recovery. J. Macromol. Sci. Part B, 55, 793-809. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222348.2016.1207544.
- Goswami, R., Chaturvedi, K.R., Kumar, R.S., Chon, B.H., Sharma, T., 2018. Effect of ionic strength on crude emulsification and EOR potential of micellar flood for oil recovery applications in high saline environment. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 170, 49-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2018.06.040.
- Goudarzi, A., Almohsin, A., Varavei, A., Delshad, M., Bai, B., Sepehrnoori, K., 2014. New experiments and models for conformance control microgels. In

SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. https://doi.org/10.2118/169159ms.

- Gu, X., Sang, H., Pu, C., Zhang, L., Zhao, Q., 2015. Effect of pH on gelling performance and stability of HPAM/cr<sup>3+</sup> weak gel. International Forum on Energy, Environment Science and Materials. https://doi.org/10.2991/ifeesm-15.2015.76.
- Guo, D., Xie, G., Luo, J., 2014a. Mechanical properties of nanoparticles: basics and applications. J. Phy. D: Appl. Phy. 47, 013001. https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3727/47/1/013001.
- Guo, D., Li, J., Xie, G., Wang, Y., Luo, J., 2014b. Elastic properties of polystyrene nanospheres evaluated with atomic force microscopy: size effect and error analysis. Langmuir, 30, 7206-7212. https://doi.org/10.1021/la501485e.
- Gupta, R., Kandasubramanian, B., 2015. Hybrid caged nanostructure ablative composites of octaphenyl-POSS/RF as heat shields. RSC Adv. 5, 8757–8769. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ra10905h.
- Habibi, A., Javaheri, A., Dehghanpour, H., 2019. Tight rock wettability and its relationship with petrophysical properties. Petrophysical Characterization and Fluids Transport in Unconventional Reservoirs, 155-171. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/b978-0-12-816698-7.00008-5.
- Hatzignatiou, D.G., Askarinezhad, R., Giske, N.H., Stavland, A., 2016. Laboratory testing of environmentally friendly sodium silicate systems for water management through conformance control. SPE Prod. Oper. 31, 337-350. https://doi.org/10.2118/173853-PA.
- Hayatullah, M.S., Ridwan, R., Raihan, R., Meifresia, L., Kurniawan, H., Napitupulu,B.H., 2015. Relative permeability modifier (RPM) as chemical diverter in

bullhead matrix acidizing treatment. SPE/IATMI Asia Pacific Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/176100-ms.

- Hasankhani, G.M., Madani, M., Esmaeilzadeh, F., Mowla, D., Daryasafar, A., 2018.
  An experimental investigation of polyacrylamide and sulfonated polyacrylamides based gels crosslinked with Cr (III)-acetate for water shutoff in fractured oil reservoirs. J. Disper. Sci. Technol. 39, 1780-1789. https://doi.org/10.1080/01932691.2018.1462712.
- He, H., Wang, Y., Sun, X., Zhang, P., Li, D., 2015. Development and evaluation of organic/inorganic combined gel for conformance control in high temperature and high salinity reservoirs. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 5, 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-014-0127-9.
- Hemalatha, K., Mahadevaiah, G.K., Urs, G.T., Somashekarappa, H., Somashekar, R., 2016. Microstructural and electrical properties of PVA/PVP polymer blend films doped with cupric sulphate. Proceedings Article 1731, 070007. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4947839.
- Henson, R., Todd, A., Corbett, P., 2002. Geologically based screening criteria for improved oil recovery projects. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. https://doi.org/10.2118/75148-ms.
- Heo, D.N., Ko, W.K., Bae, M.S., Lee, J.B., Lee, D.W., Byun, W., Lee, C.H., Kim, E.C., Jung, B.Y., Kwon, K., 2014. Enhanced bone regeneration with a gold nanoparticle–hydrogel complex. J.Mater. Chem. B 2, 1584-1593. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3tb21246g.
- Hickey, J.W., Santos, J.L., Williford, J.M., Mao, H.Q., 2015. Control of polymeric nanoparticle size to improve therapeutic delivery. J. Controlled Release, 219, 536-547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.10.006.

- Hill, F.L., Monroe, S., Mohanan, R., 2012. Water management-an increasing trend in the oil and gas industry. SPE/EAGE European Unconventional Resources Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/154720-ms.
- Hiremath, S., Vidya, C., Antonyraj, M.A.L., Chandraprabha, M.N., Seemashri, S., Shetty, B., Belamkar, A., Nair, R., 2017. Photocatalytic degradation study of rhodamine-b by green synthesized nano TiO<sub>2</sub>. Asian J. Chem. 29, 221-225. https://doi.org/10.14233/ajchem.2017.20381.
- Hlaing Oo, W.M., McCluskey, M.D., 2005. Infrared spectroscopy of impurities in ZnO nanoparticles. MRS Proceedings, 864. https://doi.org/10.1557/proc-864-e4.40.
- Hoskin, D.H., Shu, P., 1989. Cross-linked polyvinyl alcohols and oil reservoir permeability control therewith. U.S. Patent 4,896,723.
- Holanda, R., Gildin, E., Jensen, J., Lake, L., Kabir, C., 2018. A state of the art literature review on capacitance resistance models for reservoir characterization and performance forecasting. Energies, 11, 3368. https://doi.org/10.3390/ en11123368.
- Hood, M., Mari, M., Munoz-Espi, R., 2014. Synthetic strategies in the preparation of polymer/inorganic hybrid nanoparticles. Materials 7, 4057-4087. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma7054057.
- Hua, S., Liu, Y., Di, Q., Chen, Y., Ye, F., 2015. Experimental study of air foam flow in sand pack core for enhanced oil recovery. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 135, 141-145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2015.08.021.
- Huang, M., Hou, Y., Li, Y., Wang, D., Zhang, L., 2017. High performances of dual network PVA hydrogel modified by PVP using borax as the structure-
forming accelerator. Designed Monom. Polym. 20, 505-513. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15685551.2017.1382433.

- Imqam, A., Bai, B., 2015. Optimizing the strength and size of preformed particle gels for better conformance control treatment. Fuel 148, 178-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2015.01.022.
- Sydansk, R.D., 1990. Foam for improving sweep efficiency in subterranean oilbearing formations. U.S. Patent 5,105,884.
- Jackson, L.M., Myers, J.E., 2003. Design and construction of pilot wetlands for produced water treatment. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/84587-MS.
- Jafarnezhad, M., Giri, M.S., Alizadeh, M., 2017. Impact of SnO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles on enhanced oil recovery from carbonate media, Energy Sources Part A: Rec. utili. Environ. Eff. 39, 121-128. https://:doi.org/10.1080/ 15567036.2016 .1163439.
- Jalali, M., Embry, J.M., Sanfilippo, F., Santarelli, F.J., Dusseault, M.B., 2016. Crossflow analysis of injection wells in a multi-layered reservoir. Pet. 2, 273-281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petlm.2016.05.005.
- Jaripatke, O.A., Dalrymple, E.D., 2010. Water control management technologies: a review of successful chemical technologies in the last two decades. SPE International Symposium and Exhibition on Formation Damage Control. https://doi.org/10.2118/127806-ms.
- Jia, Hu., Pu, W.F., Zhao, J.Z., Liao, R., 2011. Experimental investigation of the novel Phenol–Formaldehyde cross-linking HPAM gel system: based on the secondary cross-linking method of organic cross-linkers and its gelation

performance study after flowing through porous media. Energy Fuels 25, 727-736. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef101334y.

- Jia, Hu., Ren, Q., Li, Y.M., Ma, X.P., 2016. Evaluation of polyacrylamide gels with accelerator ammonium salts for water shutoff in ultralow temperature reservoirs: Gelation performance and application recommendations. Pet. 2, 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petlm.2015.12.003.
- Johnston, J.E., Lim, E., Roh, H., 2019. Impact of upstream oil extraction and environmental public health: A review of the evidence. Sci. Total Environ. 657, 187-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.483.
- Kabir, A.H., 2001. Chemical water & gas shutoff technology an overview. SPE
  Asia Pacific Improved Oil Recovery Conference. https://doi.org/10.2523/
  72119-ms.
- Kakunuri, M., Sharma, C.S., 2018. Resorcinol-formaldehyde derived carbon xerogels: A promising anode material for lithium-ion battery. J. Mater. Res. 33, 1074–1087. https://doi.org/10.1557/jmr.2017.461. https://doi.org/10.1557/jmr.2017.461.
- Kalyanaraman, N., Arnold, C., Gupta, A., Tsau, J.S., Barati, R., 2015. Stability improvement of co<sub>2</sub> foam for enhanced oil recovery applications using polyelectrolytes and polyelectrolyte complex nanoparticles.Proceedings Article in SPE Asia Pacific Enhanced Oil Recovery Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/174650-ms.
- Kargozarfard, Z., Riazi, M., Ayatollahi, S., 2019. Viscous fingering and its effect on areal sweep efficiency during water flooding: an experimental study. Pet. Sci. 16, 105-116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12182-018-0258-6.

- Karimi, S., Esmaeilzadeh, F., Mowla, D., 2014. Identification and selection of a stable gel polymer to control or reduce water production in gas condensate fields. J. Nat. Gas Sci. Engi. 21, 940-950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jngse. 2014.10.026.
- Kashif, S., Khan, I.U., Shahzad, Y., Hussain, Y., Ranjha, N.M., 2014. pH-sensitive polyvinylpyrrolidone-acrylic acid hydrogels: Impact of material parameters on swelling and drug release. Brazilian J. Pharma. Sci. 50, 173-184. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1984-82502011000100018.
- Khan, I., Saeed, K., Khan, I., 2019. Nanoparticles: properties, applications and toxicities. Arabian J. Chem. 7, 908-931. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc. 2017.05.011.
- Koschevic, M.T., Santos, M.D., Faria, R.C.D., Fakhouri, F.M., Martelli, S.M., 2018.
  Cellulose nanocrystals functionalization by grafting. Book Chapter:
  Biopolymer Grafting: Synthesis and Properties. 409-439. https://doi.org/10.
  1016/b978-0-323-48104-5.00009-3.
- Kumar, R., Kumar, G., Umar, A., 2013. ZnO nano-mushrooms for photocatalytic degradation of methyl orange. Mat. Let. 97, 100-103. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.matlet.2013.01.044.
- Kumar, S., Mandal, A., 2017. A comprehensive review on chemically enhanced water alternating gas/CO<sub>2</sub> (CEWAG) injection for enhanced oil recovery. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 157, 696-715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.07.066.
- Lapasin, R., 2015. Rheological characterization of hydrogels. Book Chapter: Polysaccharide Hydrogels. 83-137. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19751-4.

- Lashari, Z.A., Yang, H., Zhu, Z., Tang, X., Cao, C., Iqbal, M.W., Kang, W., 2018. Experimental research of high strength thermally stable organic composite polymer gel. 263, 118-124. https://:doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2018.04.146.
- Lee, D.W., Yoo, B.R., 2016. Advanced silica/polymer composites: Materials and applications. J. Indus. Engi. Chem. 38, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jiec.2016.04.016.
- Li, S., Hendraningrat, L., Torsaeter, O., 2013. Improved oil recovery by hydrophilic silica nanoparticles suspension: 2-phase flow experimental studies. International Petroleum Technology Conference. https://doi.org/10.2523/ iptc-16707-ms.
- Li, Z., Song, X., Wang, Q., Zhang, L., Guo, p., Li, X., 2009. Enhance foam flooding pilot test in chengdong of shengli oilfield: laboratory experiment and field performance. In International Petroleum Technology Conference. https://doi. org/10.2523/iptc-13575-ms.
- Lin, C.C., Parrish, E., Composto, R.J., 2016. Macromolecule and particle dynamics in confined media. Macromol. 49, 5755-5772. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. macromol.6b00471.
- Liu, X., Yao, Z., Xue, W., Li, X., 2019. Effect of temperature and accelerator on gel time and compressive strength of resin anchoring agent. Adv. Polym. Technol. 2019, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3546153.
- Liu, Y., Dai, C., Wang, K., Zhao, M., Zhao, G., Yang, S., Yan, Z., You, Q., 2016.
  New insights into the hydroquinone (HQ)–Hexamethylenetetramine (HMTA) gel system for water shut-off treatment in high temperature reservoirs. J. Indus. Engi. Chem. 35, 20-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec. 2015.09.032.

- Liu, Y., Dai, C., Wang, K., Zou, C., Gao, M., Fang, Y., Zhao, M., Wu, Y., You, Q., 2017. Study on a novel cross-linked polymer gel strengthened with silica nanoparticles, Energy fuels 31, 9152-9161. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. energyfuels.7b01432.
- Llamedo, M.A., Fernandez, I.J., Perez, D.L., Rauseo, O., Valero, E., Espinoza, J., 2005. Evaluation of the effect of the water formation salinity in the performance of gels for water shutoff. Proceedings of SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.2523/93005-ms.
- Lockhart, T.P., Albonico, P., 1994. A new gelation technology for in-depth placement of Cr<sup>+3</sup>/polymer gels in high-temperature reservoirs. SPE Prod. Faci. 9, 273-279. https://doi.org/10.2118/24194-pa.
- Ma, S., Dong, M., Li, Z., Shirif, E., 2007. Evaluation of the effectiveness of chemical flooding using heterogeneous sandpack flood test. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 55, 294-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2006.05.002.
- Mahmoud, O., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Vryzas, Z., Kelessidis, V.C., 2016. Nanoparticle based drilling fluids for minimizing formation damage in HP/HT applications. SPE International Conference and Exhibition on Formation Damage Control. https://doi.org/10.2118/178949-ms.
- Mansur, H.S., Sadahira, C.M., Souza, A.N., Alexandra A.P. Mansur A.A.P., 2008.
  FTIR spectroscopy characterization of poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogel with different hydrolysis degree and chemically crosslinked with glutaraldehyde.
  Mat. Sci. Engi.: C. 28, 539-548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2007.10.088.
- Maroufi, P., Ayatollahi, S., Rahmanifard, H., Jahanmiri, A., Riazi, M., 2013. Experimental investigation of secondary and tertiary oil recovery from

fractured porous media. J. Pet. Explo. Prod. Technol. 3, 179-188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-013-0054-1.

- Mashhoor, S., Al-Anazi, S.H., Al-Khaldi, M., Al-Zahrani, A.A., Al-Yami, S.I., Gurmen, M.N., 2011. Laboratory evaluation of organic water shut-off gelling system for carbonate formations. SPE European Formation Damage Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/144082-MS.
- Matteo, 2012. Current and future nanotech applications in the oil industry. American J. Appl Sci. 9, 784-793. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajassp.2012.784.793.
- Mayo-Pedrosa, M., Alvarez-Lorenzo, C., Concheiro, A., 2004. Thermorheological and glass transition properties of PNIPA/PVP and PNIPA/Carbopol blends. J. Therm. Analy. Calorym. 77, 681-693. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:jtan. 0000039003.07525.f0.
- Michael, F.M., Fathima, A., AlYemni, E., Jin, H., Almohsin, A., Alsharaeh, E.H., 2018. Enhanced polyacrylamide polymer gels using zirconium hydroxide nanoparticles for water shutoff at high temperatures: thermal and rheological investigations, Energy Fuels 57, 16347-16357. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. iecr.8b04126.
- Mishra, S., Bera, A., Mandal, A., 2014. Effect of Polymer Adsorption on Permeability Reduction in Enhanced Oil Recovery. J. Pet. Engi. 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/395857.
- Moghadam, A.M., Sefti, M.V., Salehi, M.B., Naderi, H., 2014. Bulk and rheological properties of polyacrylamide hydrogels for water shutoff treatment. Korean J. Chem. Engi. 31, 532-539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-013-0242-1.

- Moghaddam, R.N., Bahramian, A., Fakhroueian, Z., Karimi, A., Arya, S., 2015. Comparative study of using nanoparticles for enhanced oil recovery: wettability alteration of carbonate rocks. Energy Fuels 29, 2111-2119. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef5024719.
- Mohammadi, H.A., 2018. Diagnosing and attaching excessive water production. Article published on Linkedin.
- Mohamed, A.I.A., Hussein, I.A., Sultan, A.S., Al-Muntasheri, G.A., 2018. Gelation of emulsified polyacrylamide/ polyethyleneimine under high-temperature, high-salinity conditions: rheological investigation. Ind. Engi. Chem. Res. 57, 12278-12287. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.8b02571.
- Mohammad, S., Mohsen, V.S., Ahmad, D.K., Reza, H., 2007. Polyacrylamide gel polymer as water shut-off system: preparation and investigation of physical and chemical properties in one of the Iranian oil reservoirs conditions. Iran. J. Chemi. Chem. Engi. 26, 2007.
- Moradi, A., 2000. A review of thermally stable gels for fluid diversion in petroleum production. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 26, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0920-4105(00)00015-2.
- Muller, K., Bugnicourt, E., Latorre, M., Jorda, M., 2017. Review on the processing and properties of polymer nanocomposites and nanocoatings and their applications in the packaging, automotive and solar energy fields. Nanomaterials 7, 74. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano7040074.
- Nam, H.G., Nam, M.G., Yoo, P.J., Kim, J.H., 2019. Hydrogen bonding-based strongly adhesive coacervate hydrogels synthesized using poly(Nvinylpyrrolidone) and tannic acid. Soft Matter, 15, 785-791. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c8sm02144a.

- Nasiri, M., Jafari, I., Parniankhoy, B., 2017. Oil and gas produced water management: A review of treatment technologies, challenges, and opportunities. Chem. Engi. Commu. 204, 990-1005. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00986445.2017.1330747.
- Nawar, N.K., Petch, J.R., 1987. Salt conditions and the effectiveness of poly (vinyl alcohol) in reclamation of saline-sodic soils. J. Sci. Food Agri. 39, 207-219. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2740390304.
- Negin, C., Ali, S., Xie, Q., 2016. Application of nanotechnology for enhancing oil recovery – A review. Pet. 2, 324-333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petlm.2016. 10.002.
- Nguyen, Q.T., Ping, Z., Neel, J., 1994. High-performances membranes for pervaporation I. Poly (vinyl alcohol)–and poly (N-vinyl pyrrolidone) blends. Polym. Adv. Technol. 5, 313-319. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.1994. 220050603.
- Nishio, Y., Haratani, T., Takahashi, T., 1990. Miscibility and orientation behavior of poly (vinyl alcohol) / poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) blends. J. Polym, Sci. Part B: Polym. Phy. 28, 355-376. https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.1990.090280308.
- Noguchi, H., Yang, J.T., 1964. The Contraction of polyvinyl alcohol films in aqueous media. J. Phy. Chem. 68, 1609-1611. https://doi.org/10.1021/j100788a526.
- Nogueira, G.L., Carvalho, M.S., Alvarado, V., 2013. Dynamic network model of mobility control in emulsion flow through porous media. Transport in Porous Media, 98, 427-441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11242-013-0151-0.

- Nriagu, J., Udofia, E., Ekong, I., Ebuk, G., 2016. Health risks associated with oil pollution in the Niger delta. Nigeria. Inter. J. Environ. Reser. Pub. Health 13, 346. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13030346.
- Odedele, T.O., 2014. Synthesis and applications of nanomaterials in enhanced oil recovery. SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/172448-ms.
- Ozahi, E., Gundogdu, M.Y., Carpinlioglu, M.O., 2008. A modification on Ergun's correlation for use in cylindrical packed beds with non-spherical particles. Adv. Powder 19, 369-381. https://doi.org/10.1163/156855208x314985.
- Pal, S., Mushtaq, M., Banat, F., Al-Sumaiti, A.M., 2018. Review of surfactantassisted chemical enhanced oil recovery for carbonate reservoirs: challenges and future perspectives. Pet. Sci. 15, 77-102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12182-017-0198-6.
- Patel, K.K., Mehta, M.N., Singh, T.R., 2014. Application of homotopic analysis method in one dimensional instability phenomenon arising in inclined porous media. American J. Appl. Math. Stati. 2, 106-114. https://doi.org/10.12691/ ajams-2-3-4.
- Patzek, T.W., 1996. Field applications of steam foam for mobility improvement and profile control. SPE Reser. Engi. 11, 79-86. https://doi.org/10.2118/29612pa.
- Pei, H., Zhang, G., Ge, J., Tang, M., Zheng, Y., 2012. Comparative effectiveness of alkaline flooding and alkaline–surfactant flooding for improved heavy-oil recovery. Energy Fuels 26, 2911-2919. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef300206u.

- Persano, L., Camposeo, A., Carro, P.D., Mele, E., Cingolani, R., Pisignano, D., 2006. Low-threshold blue-emitting monolithic polymer vertical-cavity surfaceemitting lasers. Appl. Phys. Lett. 89, 121111. https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 2353822.
- Phukan, R., Gogoi, S.B., Tiwari, P., 2019. Enhanced oil recovery by alkalinesurfactant-alternated-gas/CO<sub>2</sub> flooding. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 247-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-018-0465-0.
- Prostredny, M., Ballantine, J., Sefcik, J., Fletcher, A.J., 2019. The impact of deuterium oxide on the properties of resorcinol-formaldehyde gels. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 89, 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10971-018-4595-0.
- Queiroz, A.A.A.D., Soares, D.T.A.W., Trzesniak, P., Abraham, G.A., 2001.
  Resistive-type humidity sensors based on PVP–Co and PVP–I2 complexes.
  J. Polym. Sci. Part B: Polym. Phy. 39, 459–469. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 1099-0488(20010215)39:4%3C459::aid-polb1019%3E3.0.co;2-t.
- Rashidi, M., Blokhus, A.M., Skauge, A., 2010. Viscosity study of salt tolerant polymers, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 117, 1551-1557. https://doi.org/10.1002/ app.32011.
- Renolds, R.R., Kiker, R.D., 2003. Produced water and associated issues. Oklahoma Geological Report.
- Rodriguez, J.V.C., Deb, S., Smith, R., 1996. Characterization of hydrogel blends of poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) and poly (vinyl alcohol-vinyl acetate). J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Medi. 7, 269-272. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00058565.
- Rostami, P., Sharifi, M., Aminshahidy, B., Fahimpour, J., 2019. The effect of nanoparticles on wettability alteration for enhanced oil recovery: micromodel

experimental studies and CFD simulation. Pet. Sci. 16, 859-873. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12182-019-0312-z.

- Sadati, E.Y., Sahraei, E., 2019. An experimental investigation on enhancing water flooding performance using oil-in-water emulsions in an Iranian oil reservoir.J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 2613-2624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-019-0679-9.
- Salehi, M.B., Sefti, M.V., Farahani, E.V., Moghadam, A.M., 2014. Effect of process variable on the gelation time of sulfonated polyacrylamide nanocomposite hydrogel. J. Disper. Sci. Technol. 35, 663-671. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01932691.2013.803929.
- Salimi, F., Sefti, M.V., Jarrahian, K., Rafipoor, M., Ghorashi, S.S., 2014. Preparation and investigation of the physical and chemical properties of clay-based polyacrylamide/Cr (III) hydrogels as a water shut-off agent in oil reservoirs. Korean J. Chem. Engi. 31, 986-993. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-014-0023-5.
- Samuelson, M.L., Constien, V.G., 1996. Effects of high temperature on polymer degradation and cleanup. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/36495-ms.
- Schindler, A., Doedt, M., Gezgin, S., Menzel, J., Schmelzer, S., 2017. Identification of polymers by means of DSC, TG, STA, and computer-assisted database search. J. Thermal Analysis Calorimetry 129, 833-842. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10973-017-6208-5.
- Sengupta, B., Sharma, V.P., Udayabhanu, G., 2012. Gelation studies of organically cross linked polyacrylamide water shut off gel system at different

temperatures and pH. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 81,145-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.petrol.2011.12.016.

- Seright, R.S., Lane, R.H., Sydansk, R.D., 2001. A strategy for attacking excess water production. SPE Permian Basin Oil and Gas Recovery Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/70067-ms.
- Seright, R.S., Schrader, R., Hagstrom, J., Wang, Y., Al-Dahfeeri, A., Gary, R., Lindquist, B., 2002. Conformance improvement using gels. Published Report. https://doi.org/10.2172/801460.
- Seright, R.S., Lane, R.H., Sydansk, R.D., 2003. A strategy for attacking excess water production. SPE Prod. Faci. 18, 158-169. https://doi.org/10.2118/84966-PA.
- Sgambato, A., Cipolla, L., Russo, L., 2016. Bioresponsive hydrogels: chemical strategies and perspectives in tissue engineering. Gels, 2, 28. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/gels2040028.
- Sharifpour, E., Riazi, M., Ayatollah, S., 2015. Smart technique in water shutoff treatment for a layered reservoir through an engineered injection/production scheme. Indus. Engi. Chem. Res. 54, 11236-11246. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.iecr.5b02191.
- Shiao Wei Huo, 2018. Hydrogen bonding in polymer blends. Book Chapter: Hydrogen bonding in polymeric materials. 9–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9783527804276.ch2.
- Shih, C. F., Zhang, T., Li, J., Bai, C., 2018. Powering the future with liquid sunshine. Joule. 2, 1925-1249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2018.08.016.
- Shu, P., 1997. High temperature profile gel for control of oil reservoir permeability. U.S. Patent 5,609,209.

- Singh, R., Mahto, V., 2016. Study of the polymer concentration and polymer/crosslinker ratio effect on gelation time of a novel grafted polymer gel for water shutoff using a central composite design method. Polym. Adv. Technol. 27, 204-212. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.3622.
- Singh, R., Mahto, V., Vuthaluru, H., 2018a. Development of a novel fly ashpolyacrylamide nanocomposite gel system for improved recovery of oil from heterogeneous reservoir. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 165, 325-331. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2018.02.038.
- Singh, R., Mahto, V., 2018b. Synthesis, characterization and evaluation of polyacrylamide graft starch/clay nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery. Pet. Sci. 14, 765-779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12182-017-0185-y.
- Smith, A.P., Cole J.C., Ven, V.D., Richardson, S.D., 2017. Current water management practices, challenges, and innovations for us unconventional oil and gas development. Sustanable/Renewable Energy Reports. 4, 209-218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40518-017-0090-4.
- Soliman, M.Y., Rester, S., Sigal, R., Everett, D., Johnson, M.H., 2000. Integration of technology supports preventive conformance reservoir techniques. SPE 62553/AAPG Western Regional Meeting. https://doi.org/10.1306/a9673a04-1738-11d7-8645000102c1865d.
- Suk, J.S., Xu, Q., Kim, N., Hanes, J., Laura M. Ensign, L.M., 2016. PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery. Adv. Drug. Deli. Reviews. 99, 28-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.09.012.

- Sultan, A.S., 2019. Stability of PAM/PEI emulsified gels under HTHS conditions for water shut-off treatment. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 2027-2037. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-018-0597-2.
- Sun, L., Li, Y., Zhao, H., Yang, J., Li, B., 2019. Water-out performance and pattern of horizontal well for a thin carbonate reservoir with bottom water in the Middle East. Offshore Technology Conference. https://doi.org/10.4043/ 29709-ms.
- Sun, X., Bai, B., 2017a. Comprehensive review of water shutoff methods for horizontal wells. Pet. Explor. Dev. 44, 1022-1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1876-3804(17)30115-5.
- Sun, Y., Fang, Y., Chen, A., You, Q., Dai, C., Cheng, R., Liu, Y., 2017b. Gelation behavior study of a resorcinol–hexamethylenetetramine crosslinked polymer gel for water shut-off treatment in low temperature and high salinity reservoirs. Energies 10, 913. https://doi.org/10.3390/en10070913.
- Sun, X., Zhang, Y., Chen, G., Gai, Z., 2017c. Application of nanoparticles in enhanced oil recovery: a critical review of recent progress. Energies 10, 345. https://doi.org/10.3390/en10030345.
- Sydansk, R.D., 1990. A newly developed chromium (III) gel technology. SPE Reser. Engi. 5, 346-352. https://doi.org/10.2118/19308-pa.
- Sydansk, R.S., 1987. Conformance improvement in a subterranean hydrocarbonbearing formation using a polymer gel, US Patent, No 4683949.
- Sydansk, R.D., Seright, R.S., 2006. When and where relative permeability modification water-shutoff treatments can be successfully applied. SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. https://doi.org/10.2118/99371-MS.

- Taber, J.J., Martin, F.D., Seright, R.S., 1997. EOR screening criteria revisited part
  1: introduction to screening criteria and enhanced recovery field projects.
  SPE Reser. Engi. 12, 189-198. https://doi.org/10.2118/35385-pa.
- Taha, A., Amani, M., 2019. Overview of water shutoff operations in oil and gas wells; chemical and mechanical solutions. Chem. Engi. 3, 51. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/chemengineering3020051.
- Tang, N., Peng, Z., Guo, R., An, M., Chen, X., Li, X., Yang, N., Zang, J., 2017. Thermal transport in soft PAAm hydrogels. Polymers. 9, 688. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/polym9120688.
- Taohong Li, Cao, M., Liang, J., Xie, X., Guanben Du, G., 2017. Mechanism of basecatalyzed resorcinol-formaldehyde and phenol-resorcinol-formaldehyde condensation reactions: a theoretical study. Polymers 9, 426. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/polym9090426.
- Tian, H., Liu, D., Yao, Y., Ma, S., Zhang, X., A. Xiang, A., 2017. Effect of sorbitol plasticizer on the structure and properties of melt-processed polyvinyl alcohol films. J. Food Sci., 82, 2926-2932. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13950.
- Tian, H., Yuan, L., Zhou, D., Niu, J., Cong, H., Xiang, A., 2018. Improved mechanical properties of poly (vinyl alcohol) films with glycerol plasticizer by uniaxial drawing. Polym. Adv. Technol. 29, 2612-2618. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pat.4374.
- Timaeva, O., Pashkin, I., Mulakov, S., Kuzmicheva, G., Konarev, P., Terekhova, R., Sadovskaya, N., Czakkel, O., Prevost, S., 2020. Synthesis and physicochemical properties of poly (N-vinyl pyrrolidone)-based hydrogels with

titania nanoparticles. J. Mater. Sci. 55, 3005-3021. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10853-019-04230-z.

- Victorius, C., 1991. Aqueous gel system of partially methylated melamineformaldehyde resin and polyvinyl alcohol. U.S. Patent 5, 061, 387.
- Wassmuth, F. R., Green, K., Hodgins, L., 2004. Water shutoff in gas wells: proper gel placement is the key to success. SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. https://doi.org/10.2118/89403-ms.
- Wei, B., Zeron, L.R., Rodrigue, D., 2014. Oil displacement mechanisms of viscoelastic polymers in enhanced oil recovery (EOR): A review. J. Pet. Exp. Prod. Technol. 4, 113-121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-013-0087-5.
- Willhite, G.P., Green, D.W., 1998. Enhanced oil recovery. SPE textbook series, SPE.Vol. 6. ISBN: 978-1-55563-077-5.
- Wu, B., Tan, C.P., Lu, N., 2006. Effect of water-cut on sand production an experimental study. SPE Prod. Oper. 21, 349-356. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 92715-PA.
- Wynblatt, P., Ku, R.C., 1977. Surface energy and solute strain energy effects in surface segregation. Surface Sci. 65, 511-531. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-6028(77)90462-9.
- Xiaofen, T., Yuzhang, L., Limin, Y., Falin, W., Tao, M., Hongwei, Ma., 2009. Laboratory researches on deep fluid diversion agent with high strength and retarding swelling characteristics. Pet. Explor. Dev. 36, 494-497. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1876-3804(09)60141-5.
- Xiong, C., Wei, F., Li, W., Liu, P., Wu, Y., Dai, Chen, J., 2018. Mechanism of polyacrylamide hydrogel instability on high-temperature conditions. ACS Omega. 3, 10716-10724. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.8b01205.

- Yadav, U.P., Mahto, V., 2013. Modelling of partially hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide-Hexamine-Hydroquinone gel system used for profile modification jobs in the oil field. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 2013, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.2523/105925-ms.
- Yadav, U.S., Mahto, V., 2014. In situ gelation study of organically crosslinked polymer gel system for profile modification jobs. Arab. J. Sci. Engi. 39, 5229-5235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-014-1014-x.
- Yan, J., Tian, H., Zhang, Y., Xiang, A., 2015. Effect of urea and formamide plasticizers on starch/PVA bioblend sheets. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 132. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.42311.
- Yi, J.Z., Goh, S.H., 2005. Miscibility and interactions in poly (n-propyl methacrylate)/poly (vinyl alcohol) blends. Polym. 46, 9170-9175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2005.07.011.
- Yongqiang, T., Jirui, H., Chenghui, Li., 2013. Water shut off in a horizontal well: Lab experiments with starch graft copolymer agent. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 108, 230-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2013.04.007.
- Yortsos, Y.C., Choi, Y., Yang, Z., Shah, P.C., 1999. Analysis and interpretation of the water/oil ratio in waterfloods. SPE J. 4, 413-424. https://doi.org/10.2118/ 59477-PA.
- Yu, J., Berlin, J.M., Lu,W., Zhang, L., Kan, A.T., Zhang, P., Walsh, E.E., Work, S., Chen,W., Tour, J., Wong, M., Tomson, M.B., 2010. Transport study of nanoparticles for oilfield application. SPE International Conference on Oilfield Scale. https://doi.org/10.2118/131158-ms.
- Zaeri, M.R., Shahverdi, H., Hashemi, R., Mohammadi, M., 2019. Impact of water saturation and cation concentrations on wettability alteration and oil recovery

of carbonate rocks using low-salinity water. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 9, 1185-1196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-018-0552-2.

- Zallaghi, M., Kharrat, R., Hashemi, A., 2018. Improving the microscopic sweep efficiency of water flooding using silica nanoparticles. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 8, 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13202-017-0347-x.
- Zeinijahromi, A., Al-Jassasi, H., Begg, S., Bedrikovetski, P., 2015. Improving sweep efficiency of edge-water drive reservoirs using induced formation damage. J. Pet. Sci. Technol. 130, 123-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2015.04.008.
- Zhang H., Nikolov A., Wasan, D., 2014. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) using nanoparticle dispersions :underlying mechanism and imbibition experiments. Energy Fuels 28, 3002-3009. https://:doi.org/10.1021/ef500272r.
- Zhang, C., Qu, G., Song, G., 2017. Formulation development of high strength gel system and evaluation on profile control performance for high salinity and low permeability fractured reservoir. International Chem. 2017, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2319457.
- Zhao, G., Dai, C., You, Q., Zhao, M., Zhao, J., 2013. Study on formation of gels formed by polymer and zirconium acetate. J. Sol Gel Sci. Technol. 65, 392-398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10971-012-2951-z.
- Zhao, G., Dai, C., Zhao, M., You, Q., 2014. The use of environmental scanning electron microscopy for imaging the microstructure of gels for profile control and water shutoff treatments. J. Appl. Polym. Sci.131. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/app.39946.
- Zhao, G., Dai, C., Chen, A., Yan, Z., Zhao, M., 2015. Experimental study and application of gels formed by nonionic polyacrylamide and phenolic resin for

in-depth profile control. J. Pet. Sci. Engi. 135, 552-560. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.petrol.2015.10.020.

- Zhao, J., Mayumi, K., Creton, C., Narita, T., 2017. Rheological properties of tough hydrogels based on an associating polymer with permanent and transient crosslinks: Effects of crosslinking density. J. of Rheology. 61, 1371-1383. https://doi.org/10.1122/1.4997589.
- Zheng, F.F., Quiroga, P., Sams, G., 2011. Challenges in processing produced emulsion from chemical enhanced oil recovery - polymer flood using polyacrylamide. Proceedings Article in SPE Enhanced Oil Recovery Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/144322-ms.
- Zhu, D., Bai, B., Hou, J., 2017. Polymer gel systems for water management in hightemperature petroleum reservoirs: A chemical review. Energy Fuels 31, 13063-13087. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.7b02897.
- Zhu, D., Hou, J., Wei, Q., Wu, X., Bai, B., 2017. Terpolymer gel system formed by resorcinol-hexamethylenetetramine for water management in extremely high-temperature reservoirs. Energy Fuels 31, 1519-1528. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b03188.
- Zidan, H.M., El-Ghamaz, N.A., Abdelghany, A.M., Lotfy, A., 2016. Structural and electrical properties of PVA/PVP blend doped with methylene blue dye. Int.
  J. Electrochem. Sci. 11, 9041 9056. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4917901.



## Published

- Reena, Kumar, A., Mahto, V., Choubey, A.K., 2020. Synthesis and characterization of cross-linked hydrogels using polyvinyl alcohol and polyvinyl pyrrolidone and their blend for water shut-off treatments. J. Mole. Liq. 112472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2020.112472.
- Reena, Choubey, A.K. Polymers gels for water control in oil reservoirs: A review, Lap Lambert academic publication. https://www.morebooks.shop/store/gb/book/polymer-gels-for-water-control-in-oil-reservoirs:-a-review/isbn/978-613-8-84100-5.

## Communicated

• **Reena**, Srivastava, V., Mahto, V., Choubey A.K. Experimental investigation of the gelation performance and sandpack study of laboratory synthesized ZnO reinforced PVP:RF gels for water shut-off treatment, Oil & Gas Science and Technology, 2021 (**Under review**).

## Manuscript to be Submitted

- **Reena**, Choubey, A.K. Experimental investigation of the gelation performance of a novel polyvinyl alcohol-resorcinol-formaldehyde cross-linked gel system in porous media.
- **Reena**, Pandey, A., Choubey, A.K. Thermal and Rheological Investigations of a Polymer Nanocomposite SiO<sub>2</sub> based Gel System for Water Shutoff Applications.

## **Papers in International Conferences**

- Reena, Choubey A.K., 2018. Gelation study of polymer gel for water control in petroleum reservoirs. Presented a paper in the "International Conference on Frontiers at the Chemistry Allied Sciences", December 21st – 22nd 2018, Rajasthan University, Jaipur, Rajasthan.
- Reena, Choubey A.K., 2018. PVA crosslinked gel for improving sweep efficiency and water shut-off jobs in hydrocarbon bearing reservoirs. Presented a paper in the "International Conference on Advances in Polymer Science and Technology", November 1<sup>st</sup> 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2018, Kathmandu, Nepal.



